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The Hon TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM
PR 45 W S5 4 GBM GBS SBS AF AL

Dear Shareholders,

The Group grew steadily amid the pandemic in the year under review.
While the global economy was hit hard by COVID-19, Hong Kong
also faced unprecedented market challenges. The Group overcame all
adversities with its solid foundation, far-sighted strategies, flexible
business policies and effective marketing plans.

During the review period, the Group’s interest in Miyata Holding Co.,
Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Miyata”) increased from 15% to 70% which
led to the incorporation of a wide range of its food and snack items
into the Group’s product portfolio, which gave the Group a head start
in the market. With the distribution of the renowned Japanese fruit
liqueur CHOYA Umeshu and various well-known Japanese ice-cream
brands that have become very popular with consumers, the Group
fuelled its growth and introduced Hong Kong to novel food items
while maintaining its leading status in the local and mainland food
market.

The Group is celebrating its 50th anniversary this year. Its dedication
to its clients and innovative approach have helped it become a
household food brand in the city and secure the unwavering support of
local and mainland consumers. Aiming to cater to diverse consumer
palates and market demand cutting across age groups, the Group will
spare no effort in continuing to develop a multifaceted food business,
bolstering its own brands as well as expanding local and overseas
markets.
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Chairman’s Statement
ENNE &

RESULTS

In the annual results for the year ended 31 March 2021, the
Group’s consolidated revenue was HK$4,579,837,000 (2020:
HK$2,928,037,000). The Profit for the year attributable to equity
holders of the Company stood at HK$30,127,000 (2020: loss
HK$19,808,000). Sales derived from the Hong Kong segment
amounted to HK$1,729,182,000 (2020: HK$1,993,865,000),
accounting for 38% of the Group’s total sales. Sales in Mainland
China amounted to HK$863,114,000 (2020: HK$934,172,000),
accounting for 19% of the Group’s total sales. Sales in Japan
amounted to HK$1,987,541,000 (2020: Nil), accounting for 43% of the
Group’s total sales.

In the year under review, with the Group’s interest in Miyata increased
from 15% to 70%, the results of Miyata were accounted for in the
consolidated financial statements of the Group in accordance with the
requirements of applicable accounting standards. The acquisition will
help the business growth of the Group in the medium to long term.
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With various promotional events, the Group continued to introduce a
diverse range of Japanese foods and explored more opportunities in the
food distribution segment. Japanese ice cream has been a particularly
big success, with brands such as Meiji, Lotte, Glico, Imuraya, SEIKA
from Kagoshima, SEIHYO from Niigata, TAKESHITA, and BLUE
SEAL from Okinawa, receiving hearty support from local consumers.
Not only has the Group set up special counters at supermarket chains,
it has also opened specialty stores called “Japan Ice-cream House” for
direct sale. In addition, thanks to the wide range of food items from
the celebrated Japanese confectionery distributor Miyata, the Group
has instantly gained market share. Distributing Japanese eggs and the
famed Japanese plum liqueur CHOYA, both at reasonable prices, has

also helped it make rapid gains in the market.

Distribution Business

Food distribution, an integral part of the Group’s business, has been
developing steadily over the years. The lockdown restrictions that
forced consumers to stay indoors has offered a market opportunity for
the food distribution business. The Group has a comprehensive sales
strategy and an extensive distribution network comprising department
stores, supermarkets, convenience stores, fast-food restaurants,
wholesalers, retailers, restaurants, bars, hotels, and airlines. It also
operates food specialty stores, such as the “Okashi Land” Japanese
snack stores, “YOKU MOKU” cookie stores, and “Japan Ice-cream

House”. Distribution network of the Group has become multi-faceted.

The Group is always on the lookout for crave-satisfying food products
around the world from Mainland China, Japan, Korea, Thailand,
Indonesia, Malaysia, Singapore, the United Kingdom, France,
Germany, the Netherlands, the United States and many other countries.
The products it distributes include ice cream, snacks, milk powder,
health food, plum liqueur, sauce, ham and sausage. The Group aims to

continue to tickle consumers’ taste buds with exceptional products.
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Aiming to further explore
the Japanese market
and strengthen its food
distribution business, the
Group has completed
its acquisition of certain
interest in Miyata.
Miyata is an established
brand in Japan with
a vast customer base
of supermarket chains
and convenient stores
including national retail
leaders AEON, Daiso and
Muji, along with regional
retailers, wholesalers,
exporters and overseas
clients. It also sources a
wide range of quality confectionery products from overseas suppliers in
Mainland China, United States, Malaysia and South Korea.

Manufacturing Business

Products of the Group’s manufacturing business had a good demand
in the period under review as citizens often cooked at home during
the pandemic, forcing them to focus on food safety. Food hygiene,
safety and quality have always been the first priority of the Group,
whose motto is: “Eating Safely, Eating Happily”. The Group has set
up a sound monitoring system to ensure its products are safe, high-
quality and delicious. Through stringent quality control and advanced
production monitoring systems, the Group takes great pride in the
quality of its products. It has received numerous accreditations such as
the “HACCP”, “ISO 90017, “ISO 22000” and “GMP” certifications,
the Hong Kong Q-Mark License given to participants of the “Hong
Kong Q-Mark Scheme for over 30 years”, and the Hong Kong
Cooking Oil Registration Scheme Companion Certification, awarded
by the Hong Kong Quality Assurance Agency. The certifications
are a testimony to the quality of the Group’s food products and the
standards it demands of itself.

The Group has 18 plants in Hong Kong and Mainland China, where
it manufactures a wide range of unique food products. With its one-
stop production and targeted sales strategies, it is capable of meeting
market demand and bolstering its leading status in the industry.
Located in Tseung Kwan O Industrial Estate, Calbee Four Seas factory
produces snack such as potato chips which are hot selling items in
Hong Kong. Market demand for its products is high.

Retailing and Catering Business

The Group’s catering business weathered the storm of the lockdown
policies in the wake of the global outbreak of COVID-19. Its
subsidiary Chinese and Japanese restaurants are known and loved for
their appetizing dishes, efficient management and remarkable services.
These include Japanese restaurant “Shiki ¢ Etsu”, Shanghai vegetarian
restaurant “Kung Tak Lam”, “Sushiyoshi” and “QJIKI” in Hong Kong,
as well as “Panxi Restaurant” and “Sushi Oh” in the mainland. Many
customers still like to visit Sushiyoshi of the Group even during the
pandemic period.
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The Group’s Japanese snacks store “Okashi Land” has been dedicated
to bringing Japanese on-trend refreshments to consumers in the local
market and has recently added special counters for Japanese ice cream.
To keep pace with rapidly advancing technology, the Group partnered
with Zen-Noh International Hong Kong Limited to present alluring
Japanese lunchboxes “Nagomi Bento”. To serve consumers better,
the Group has set up an ordering spot at Kowloon Bay and joined
hands with the online food and grocery delivery platform foodpanda,
broadening its business into the virtual world and allowing a wider
base of consumers with instant and wider access to its products
irrespective of their geographical location.

BRAND DEVELOPMENT

Now celebrating its golden jubilee, the Group is a household brand
in the industry with a wide following among local, mainland and
foreign consumers. Founded in 1971 and listed on the Hong Kong
Stock Exchange in 1993, it has grown with the city itself and takes
great pride in its products. During its early days, the Group focused
on the distribution of Japanese snacks. It then expanded into food
manufacturing, retailing and catering, laying the foundation to scale up
its business. A leader in the local confectionery and food market, it has
marched into Mainland China and foreign markets, serving as a “snack
diplomat” that bridges the gastronomic gap between countries by
introducing overseas delicacies to Mainland China and taking unique
Chinese food products to foreign markets. Thus fostering cultural
exchange, the Group is confident of even greater success going
forward.

Mr. Tai Tak Fung, chairman of the Group, was conferred the 2020
Hong Kong Distinguished Brand Leader Award by the Hong Kong
Brand Development Council in recognition of his efforts in promoting
“Four Seas” to become a household brand in Hong Kong. This shows
the penetration of “Four Seas” brand which has been well received by
the consumers.
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Chairman’s Statement
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CORPORATE SOCIAL RESPONSIBILITY

The Group upholds the spirit of giving back to society by promoting
and participating in social and community services in the city. Its
emphasis on community building and youth development has brought
it numerous awards. Last year, as the community struggled in the
pandemic, the Group engaged in a charity event called “City Food
Drive” to raise food for vulnerable families. It has also sponsored
activities organised by bodies such as Junior Police Call, schools,
elderly and women’s organisations, and Kaifong welfare organisations,
among others, to take Four Seas products to different segments of the
community and contribute to public welfare. In doing so, the Group
hopes to spread its spirit of “Eating Happily” to society and to cheer
people up in these hard times.

Its efforts have been highly appreciated both within and outside the
industry. Four Seas Group has been awarded “Manpower Developer
2013-2021 of Manpower Developer Award Scheme” by Employees
Retraining Board; Calbee Four Seas Company Limited has been
awarded for six consecutive years “Good MPF Employer 6 Years”
and “Best All-round MPF Employer” by the Mandatory Provident
Fund Schemes Authority; Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine
has awarded “The Plate MICHELIN” by “The MICHELIN Guide
Hong Kong Macau 2020”; Four Seas Group has been recognised as
“Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprise” and the “Hong Kong Excellent
Enterprise Award” by the Economic Digest; and Okashi Land has
been awarded “Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark)” by Hong
Kong Brand Development Council and The Chinese Manufacturers’
Association of Hong Kong. All these show the recognition of the
Group by the general public.

PROSPECTS AND GROWTH

With decades of experience in operating a multifaceted business, the
Group is confident of a bright future. In the coming year, it will stick
to the development strategy of “Based in Hong Kong, Yearning for
Mainland and Looking around the World”. Taking Hong Kong as its
base, the Group will foster business development by maintaining its
leading role in the local market while continuing to try preserve its
competitive edge in the mainland, and exploring all opportunities in
Japan and other regions.

Business in Hong Kong

Rooted in Hong Kong, the Group will endeavour to make progress
while ensuring stability. The priority will be to maintain its leading
position in the local retailing and distribution industry. It will also
scour savoury snacks around the world to add to its portfolio and
satisfy the market’s appetite for overseas delicacies, increasing its
market share. The Group will leverage its capital, resources, factories
in the mainland, as well as its distribution network, together with its
strength in the Japanese confectionery distribution and the product
development business of Miyata, to create cross-branding and sales
synergy. It plans to tap into the markets of Hong Kong and the
mainland with exclusive Japanese confectionery products while
introducing Four Seas to the Japanese market, increasing its presence
in the global food distribution industry and creating a food retailing
platform that covers Mainland China, Hong Kong and Japan.
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The Group has put much effort in promoting the business of selling
Japanese eggs which has received a good response. This business is
expected to bring an additional stream of steady income to the Group.
The business of selling CHOYA plum liqueur had been commenced
smoothly. The Group will promote this business in full force.

Business in Mainland China

Though impacted by COVID-19, the Group’s business in Mainland
China benefited from the swift recovery of China’s economy. With the
mainland market as the future focus of development, the Group will
put all its advantages to use in order to expand in conjunction with
the Guangdong, Hong Kong and Macao development plan under the
Greater Bay Area. As one of the first pioneer enterprises in Nansha
New District, the Group’s products have become popular products
with an extensive sales network covering the whole country. Apart
from traditional retail channels, it is also diligently boosting exports
and e-commerce of international food products. It has joined online
trading platforms, such as Taobao, Tmall, Tmall Global and Jingdong,
inviting key opinion leaders for product promotions. These steps have
helped the sales and created promising opportunities. The Group will
also take advantage of self-owned factories to promote its products

through various channels and foster its own brand.
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On behalf of the board of directors, I express our most sincere
gratitude to the management team and staff for their efforts and
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TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP
Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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Continuous recognition & awards received during this year
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M WHATEASEAARME A FERREY  ERARHSEN
BERM-

Four Seas Group is one of the leading food enterprises in Hong Kong,
distributing various kinds of renowned food brands from around the world.

The Group has been developing its own premium brand successfully, and
has been highly recognised and accredited with various awards this year.

AEETFFEEHEEHELRBUTRIA:
The following awards are granted to our Group’s Chairman, Dr. Stephen Tai:

RE/ B BRKE
Award/Recognition Organiser
KEHBE ERRATREHA
Grand Bauhinia Medal (GBM) The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
TEHNEER BRRANTREHR
Gold Bauhinia Star (GBS) The Government of the Hong Kong Special Administrative Region
JBREXE BERR
Order of the Rising Sun, Gold and Silver Rays The Government of Japan
RETERR EEIfle
Industrialist of the Year Award Federation of Hong Kong Industries
2020 BBA I R EHR EBRERRR
2020 Hong Kong Distinguished Brand Leader Award Hong Kong Brand Development Council
ERRERENSE
The Chinese Manufacturers' Association of Hong Kong
(FRAM  FEANAR BRAMATINZBNFR
RmZR2ERRAEBARELE hEERREFE
Honorary Certificate of “Distinguished Management Entrepreneur” China Food Safety Annual Conference
EREMEA Y EFER BIREME A S R E R RA
01 o EALSRALE AYE EREARBFGBERAZREREHERA
fmEtT AEREH DHmEEE  (RRER)H P ABEAREGHE  DNEERSH  BX
Top 10 Business Leader of Asia Brand BRZPELEEHREY EFRNERBOEERERY  REERRK
SERS HEE S SEd
2012-20132 AL HI B H N1FRTHBELESE
Wolrdwide Prominent Chiu Chow Business Leader Award 2012-2013 TXCS Economic Conference 2013
PERSFERAR [ REFEN LR ATERE] ERALNBBRAARETAFAGE  LETRALAABRGERFEPERS
“Most Influential Listed Company Leader” of EReENHRERRSHBALSEERLREH
The China Securities Golden Bauhinia Awards
DREXREHER (BB -TRAMRR] DftxEE
Special Achievement Award of “Asia Pacific Entrepreneurship Awards” Enterprise Asia & the Organising Committee of the APEA
(teBELFHE) 2[DNHEBEANR] HELEMEAH

“Asian Social Caring Leadership Award” of Social Caring Pledge Scheme  Social Enterprise Research Institute

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



%5 /55

Award/Recognition

15EPsEREER

15 Years Plus Caring Company

HegEtesis

Qutstanding Social Caring Organisation Award

M EEE AT R E0132001 B
“Manpower Developer 2013-2021" of Manpower Developer Award Scheme
ERALLZAN

Hong Kong Outstanding Enterprises 2020
SHREEERBAZA

Asia’s Most Valuable Senvice Providers Awards 2020
[FEEEERIRE 2SS

Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand
IS00001EEERRZ TS

1509001 Quality Management System Certificate
15020008 % 2 EBRAAE

15022000 Food Safety Management System Certificate
15EPHREER

15 Years Plus Caring Company

M EEEREZI AT £ 20112021 [ER
“Manpower Developer 2011-2021" of Manpower Developer Award Scheme
GUPR R &R R

GMP Certficate
HACCPRE AR BREHER SR

HACCP Certiicate

1S020008 R %2 EBRADE

1022000 Food Safsty Management System Certificate
BEfEI0E

Good MPF Employer 6 Years

NUEEEEHFAR

Quality Merchant Awards 2014

W REARN5ZAE AR

“Best-Ever Japanese Cuisine” of Best-Ever Dining Awards 2015
[BEHBREIZTER

QTS Merchant”of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme
KEREERE

The Michelin Plate

100 Top Tables 2020

10EPISERER

10 Years Plus Caring Company

BagRmE

The Most Popular Hong Kong and Macau Brand
[BEHERR2THF

“QTS Merchant" of the Quality Tourism Services Scheme
[EEEERS 580548

Authenticated Member of Hong Kong Quality Brand

019 FEEFAREAR

2019 Top Brands Campaign Award

9B AR [T AET LR

“Top Ten Favourie Brands'” of Favourite Brands Awards 2019

AEBEREARN102[2EER R
“Supreme Supermarket Brand” of PARKnSHOP Super Brands Award 2019
BERSREAEN10Z[208TRE(3R)]
“Star Supermarket Brand (Snack)" of PARKnSHOP Super Brands Award 2019
BERSRRAENN[ERETREEY)
“Star Supermarket Brand (Ice Cream)" of PARKnSHOP Super Brands Award
2020

B £RER (T0E)
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark)

i 2R (T0PE)
Hong Kong Top Brand Mark (Top Mark)

ERQEH 0EN 2R
HK Q-Mark Product Scheme for over 30 years - Q-Mark Licence

MOEF/REARRMESTPXERE -

Certain recognmon/awards are only provided with official Chinese name.

BRE( /B8

Awardees

H]

Four Seas Group

)

Four Seas Group

mji8

Four Seas Group

)

Four Seas Group

mji8

Four Seas Group

L)

Four Seas Group
BAKEEROIEERLT

CFSS Company Limited

B RRROIEERAT
CFSS Company Limited
FEBRIERLA

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FRBNERAT

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FEBRIERLA

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FRBNNERAA

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FEBRIERLA

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited
FRBNNERA

Calbee Four Seas Company Limited

RE HATEE

Shiki - Etsu Japanese Restaurant
LEL LS

Shiki - Etsu Japanese Restaurant
HENLEER

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Veegetarian Cuisine
HERLEZR

Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Vegetarian Cuisine
£33

Sushiyoshi

2802

Okashi Land

g81E

Okashi Land

2802

Okashi Land

gR0E

Okashi Land

48

Calbee

48

Calbee

48

Calbee

48

Calbee

BHAZER

Four Seas Japan lce Cream

1
Maid Brand

ERUE
Okashi Land

SRR
Maid Ham

Major Awards of the Year
A AR I

1

Organiser

ERLERAEE

Hong Kong Counci of Social Service
HELERRA

Social Enterprise Research Institute
E2EEIR

Employees Retraining Board
fn-8

Economic Digest

Mediazone Publishing

BiBEERLS

Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand
PEERZIY)

China Quality Certification Centre
REEETEN

China Quality Certfication Centre
ERNERIEE

Hong Kong Counci of Social Service
E2EEIR

Employees Retraining Board
FEEANE

SGS Hong Kong Limited

FRERLR

SGS Hong Kong Limited

ERERLZ

SGS Hong Kong Limited = .
T e TR =@ @ E
The Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes e -t o

Authority | b
Group BuyerBEZ o) —
Group Buyer 9 e
REET

Weekend Weekly Magazine
ERNEARR

Hong Kong Tourism Board
REEREAN

Michelin Guide 2020

BEEE

South China Morning Post
ERLERAEE

Hong Kong Counci of Social Service
HEER

China Media

FRIERRR .4k
Hong Kong Tourism Board P
R EER S H

Association of Hong Kong Quality Brand

T-Eleven®E Al o
T-Eleven Convenience Store j Fkes
BT

Wellcome Supermarket
FEdfE
PARKnSHOP Supermarket .
BEEfTS

PARKnSHOP Supermarket :lruﬂg
FEdfTE : TABLES
PARKSHOP Supermarket 2020

-
o

C.rne

EERRRERRERTERER S

Hong Kong Brand Development Council and The
Chinese Manufacturers’ Association of Hong
Kong

BELRERRRERTEREE RS

Hong Kong Brand Development Council and The
Chinese Manufacturers™ Association of Hong
Kong

EEREERR

Hong Kong Q-Mark Council
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FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS

Management Discussion and Analysis
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Year ended 31 March
BE=ZA=1+—HILEE

2021 2020 Change
RO RO 7] 441 b
Notes HKS$’000 HK$’000 (%)
Mt BT W
Key items of consolidated statement of T EiFAHIRKEH
profit or loss
Revenue WA 4,579,837 2,928,037 56.4
Gross Profit EH 878,504 852,591 3.0
EBITDA RuEtFIE ~ BrEHL - I8 R
8 T ¥ A 1 151,798 78,718 92.8
Profit/(loss) attributable to equity 55 S A 2\ T RE 25 I A B R R,
holders of the Company (E#R) 30,127 (19,808) N/A
Key financial ratios FE B
Gross profit margin B R 19.2% 29.1%
Net profit/(loss) margin aif S (FER) R 2 0.7 % -0.7%
Inventory turnover days 175 ) R 3 38 62
Trade receivables turnover days Wi B2 B e ek R R 4 52 69
Trade payables turnover days JRE A B R Ak ) R B 3 28 32
Notes: Viikia

EBITDA refers to earnings before interest (other than interest on lease
liabilities), income tax, depreciation of property, plant and equipment,
depreciation of right-of-use assets relating to prepaid land lease payments
and leasehold land, and amortisation but exclude share of profits and
losses of associates.

Net profit/(loss) margin is calculated as profit/(loss) attributable to equity
holders of the Company divided by revenue.

The calculation of inventory and trade payables turnover days is based on
the average of the opening and closing balances divided by cost of sales
and multiplied by number of days for the year.

The calculation of trade receivables turnover days is based on the average
of the opening and closing balances divided by revenue and multiplied by
number of days for the year.

During the year, revenue of the Group was HK$4,579,837,000
(2020: HK$2,928,037,000) representing an increase of 56.4%.
Gross profit as a percentage of the revenue was 19.2% (2020:
29.1%) for the year. Gross profit increased from HK$852,591,000
in the previous year to HK$878,504,000 in the year, representing
an increase of HK$25,913,000 which is equivalent to an increase
of 3.0%. EBITDA of the Group for the year was HK$151,798,000
(2020: HK$78,718,000) and profit attributable to equity holders
of the Company for the year was HK$30,127,000 (2020: loss
HK$19,808,000).

—_—

Rt AR (B RAF B ERSN) ~ R Bl - 3 -
B B kMU (R AR A0 T RE R ) ~ T AT AL 15
Ao ik B A T - A A 2 A T B B i
(S 0 356 B AR 1B % 2 Rl ¥ R SR G 4R -

2. AR CE R R EAR A I E SR BT A AN R F
OB 8) Br A G -

3.0 FRE R AT B 5 Rk R o AR TR R R
K5 B - 24 W DA B 5 AR T R DA AR R T A

4. MBS 5 MRk A R W AR U 0 R A B
S 329 85 e DA SO T 3R DA A R BT B

AP A E 2 A %54,579,837,0008 00 (ZF
FAE 1 2,928,037,000% JG) > B N56.4% o AR4EFEE
Pl B WA Z P 5192% (B R4 :29.1%) °
M) 4 1 B 2 4 2.852,591,0009 0 4 i B AR Z
878,504,000%5 7C > 75 B ¥4 n25,913,000% ¢ » # %
ABIN3.0% o A4 Z AREEAREF R - BB -
P78 M B 8 i % A %151,798,0009 6 (—F &
4F 1 78,718,000¥ 70 ) > 1M AS AF- & Bt JBg i A 2 W) B 25
i A & s A %530,127,000% 06 (ZF 4 : G H

19,808,000# 5T ) ©
R E YR TN
—E-—FER
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Management Discussion and Analysis

During the year sales revenue of the major items of the Group are :

o
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AR > ARG B E R Z B BRI

Year ended 31 March
BEZH=1T—-HIL4EE

2021 2020

oo SRR

HKS$’000 HK$’000

BT o
Snack INEE 1,941,344 1,236,444 +57.0%
Confectionery R 1,526,504 546,925 +179.1%
Ham and sausage Ve &3] 397,709 393,941 +1.0%
Beverage and dairy products OB B 7L 219,529 247,490 -11.3%
Food materials/ingredients and alcoholic drinks £ & J§ Bk T Bk K% 11 % ik i 299,598 237,470 +26.2%

Snack items continued to be the major items carried by the Group.
The sales revenue derived from snack items recorded an increase of
57.0% during the year. Various snack items of the Group such as
potato chips, potato sticks, corn sticks and prawn crackers continue
to be popular among the consumers of both Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Miyata Group sells a large amount of various kinds of snack
items in Japan. After it became a subsidiary of the Group during the
year, its sales of snack items contributed to the significant increase
of the snack business of the Group. With the addition of the snack
items of Miyata Group, the product portfolio of the Group is further
enriched. The Group is dedicated to bringing in more tasty snack items
to the consumers in the future.

Revenue derived from confectionery items also recorded an increase
of 179.1% during the year. The Group offers a wide variety and brands
of confectionery products including candies, chocolates, pastries and
cookies to consumers of both Hong Kong and Mainland China. Miyata
Group also sells a large amount of confectionery items in Japan. Its
sales of confectionery items is the main reason for the increase of the
confectionery business of the Group during the year. Similar to snack
items, the confectionery items of Miyata Group has also enriched the
product portfolio of the Group.

Sales revenue of ham and sausage items of the Group increased by
1.0% during the year. The high quality “Maid” brand ham and sausage
products produced by the Group continued to be well received by
Hong Kong consumers during the year, especially during the time

when people take more meals at home.

Sales revenue of beverage and dairy products of the Group decreased
by 11.3% as a result of sluggish demand during the year. However,
ice-cream sales of the Group increased because the Group has been
continuously introducing a variety of high quality ice-cream items
to Hong Kong market during the year. Japanese ice-cream is well
received by the consumers and has become a new market trend. With
more resources allocated in promoting ice-cream items, the Group

hopes to further the sales growth of ice-cream items in Hong Kong.

INEERB R B AR 2 R N > B R AR T
LIRS E > NMENEREMRST.0% - R Hik
SRR Ak i M S A AR ) 2 TR /N L B 2 B AR U
T v 0 P9 2 3 B O o Er AR R AR B B OR
BTG BN T o WM P R A4 [ 2 TR RS
A AT Z BB R AREE N MRSk E
B o I T B R M N R S > AR
ZEMRIE—HUWE REFMBMAPRK %S
MR L BN E -

ENE L Y S N S A E R S
179.1% = A< 45 18 7 75 9 i op 13 79 1l 5 485 A ) ik 2 %
o R PR SR BRI ~ R REEG R A
BFSE o B AR E R B AR S B R R AR R E N o HE
Wl SR 2 B T A A [ PR R SR SR S A A O B R
B o dn /BB S — bR o R B AR T R R A
WV AREEMEMLRS -

A B 2 KB B A 5 E i 2 8 S W RE A 4F 9 4
1.0% o ACSE I 2 (5B [ 4 o b | B B 75 53 7 it I 4
A B A O > LR ANMAER A
BRI S > 2 W00 BT B -

P 5 SR B2 55 > AR 45 0 B0 e 3L i i 4 8 2 8
B AR A 11.3% o i35 00k > bR AC B R AR Y
PR W T 4t 2 RO AR TR i > A
S 2 SRS B WO B o H A ZRE E A IR 2T
T B WO > TR W WA o Bl BOHOE 2 B R
TR i o AR E T B SR T W TR
i 8 B A
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Sales revenue of the food materials/ingredients and alcoholic drinks
business of the Group increased by 26.2% during the year. The Group
will continue to supply quality materials/ingredients to restaurants,
bakery and various kinds of food manufacturing plants which are the
major customers of this business. CHOYA’s Japanese plum liqueur
products, which are well received by the market, also helped the
increase of revenue of this business.

Capital, liquidity and financial resources

The Group generally finances its operations with internally
generated cash flows and facilities granted by its principal bankers.
As at 31 March 2021, the Group held cash and cash equivalents of
HK$577,227,000. As at 31 March 2021, the Group had banking
facilities of HK$2,905,787,000 of which 40% had been utilised.
The Group had a gearing ratio of 84% as at 31 March 2021. This is
expressed as the total bank borrowings to equity attributable to equity
holders of the Company. Bank borrowings of the Group, denominated
in Hong Kong dollars, Japanese yen and Renminbi, mainly
comprise trust receipt loans and bank loans (the “Interest-bearing
bank borrowings”) at prevailing market interest rates. The Interest-
Bearing Bank Borrowings which are classified as current liabilities
are repayable on demand or within one year and the Interest-Bearing
Bank Borrowings which are classified as non-current liabilities are

repayable in the second to third year.

Charges on assets

As at 31 March 2021, the Group pledged its land and buildings
of approximately HK$109,921,000 and investment properties of
approximately HK$21,832,000 to secure the banking facilities granted
to the Group.

Capital commitments

The Group had capital commitments in respect of property, plant and
equipment which were contracted but not provided for in the financial
statements of HK$921,000 as at 31 March 2021.

Foreign currency exposure

The Group has transactional currency exposures mainly from sales
and purchases transactions in Japanese yen and Renminbi. The
appreciation or devaluation of Japanese yen or Renminbi against Hong

Kong dollar will have impact on the Group’s operating results.

The Group’s foreign exchange position is monitored on an ongoing
basis in order to minimise the impact from the unfavourable
fluctuation of foreign currencies. The Group currently does not
maintain a foreign currency hedging policy.
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A% 45 ) 2w JEORTO R B R K S S 2 M
AR N B IN26.2%  AREEASBE B EZEZ T
ERFRIMAE B EREH AN EEAEMR
WEBRUERE TR « CHOYAZ H ASHME T 2 & » iR
ZH B Z B0 > JRHEE TR R -

REAR ~ L B B G B WA 080 U

A 45 — % DL Py R B B A M R AR R SRAT
MZEEEREEZBE R _F-—4F=H
Et—H o AREMBEAZHERISEMEEA R
577,227,000 - R R _—~HF=HA=+—H >
A 45 B AT SRAT A5 B R 252,905,787,000% 06 > HoH
Y0RREHA - KEAR _-F_—F=A=1+—H
Z B EEA R B 84% » 5 B ERAT A5 sk A A B AR A
] BE 25 BT A EAG R 25 2 o) o A 4R [ 2 SRAT A R
VIS IG ~ H B KN R R A5 5010 > W BB R iR
B R AT T 5 B R Z A sE R Bk B SRAT Bk ([ 7R
BT R BZSATEK]) o 4B 5B A & E A
A B Z SR AT B R 3 B R o — AR AR > T
s I Bh £ 2 ZE A R R 2 SRAT B AR E R R AR
FIEZAAR -

B 7 HLA

R-BZ—FE=ZH=+—H > REHCHKINAH
109,921,000% 76 4 4 M % # = K 921,832,000 J6
MEEWE > DGR TAREENBRITHEE -

YA KIS

R-BZ—F=A=+—H  RKEERDE - K57
Tt 2 OO RT AR AR B 5 1 4 2 AR I
921,000%5 JC ©

A B Je, B

ACAE [ 2 32 By £ W L B R A DL H R B N RO
T2 HEA S o H IS R 59 o0 THE s 2 A6 1%
A 2 K8 R RUE U R -
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Staff employment and remuneration policies

The total number of employees of the Group as at 31 March 2021 was
approximately 3,000. Remuneration packages are generally structured
by reference to market terms and individual qualifications. Salaries
and wages are normally reviewed annually based on performance

appraisals and other relevant factors.

Environmental policies and performance

The Group recognises the importance of environmental conservation
and employs various environmental protection and energy saving
measures in the business operation. In general, employees are
encouraged to reduce paper consumption, recycle paper and toner
cartridges, use electronic communication and filing, and reduce
travelling by using conference calls. The Group also installs energy
saving lighting systems in the workplaces.

The factories of the Group continuously devote effort in the
improvement of the water usage management and sewage treatment,
atmospheric emissions and energy utilisation efficiency. The measures
include construction of sewage stations to process waste water
discharged from factories and enhancement of the water cooling
system in factories resulted in reduction of water usage; installation of
dust bag filters and fume extraction and filtration system to reduce air
emissions; and review of energy consumption level on regular basis to

control the usage and find out further energy saving methods.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Compliance procedures are in place to ensure the compliance in
material respects with the relevant laws and regulations that have a

significant impact on the business and operation of the Group.

Relationships with key stakeholders
Employees

The Group recognises human resources as an important capital and

emphasises on retention and development of staff.

Remuneration packages are generally structured by reference to market
terms and individual qualifications. Salaries and wages are normally
reviewed annually based on performance appraisals and other relevant
factors. Staff performance is assessed annually under an objective
framework. Interim reviews are also conducted to remunerate
employees with outstanding performances. To motivate staff in
achieving the Group’s business goal, incentives like performance-

based bonuses are rewarded to staff.
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Management Discussion and Analysis

To recognise staff loyalty, prizes are awarded to long-serving
staff annually as an appreciation of their long term services and
commitment to the Group. The Group also launches model employee
campaign each year in order to recognise the dedicated staff for their
outstanding performance and contributions to the Group. The Group
provides to staff both training held in-house and conducted by external
organisation covering a variety of subjects on sales techniques,

management skills, technical topics and personal development.

Members of the Group are accredited “Good MPF Employer 6
years” award by Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Authority and
“Manpower Developer 2013-2021” of Manpower Developer Award
Scheme by Employees Retraining Board.

Customers

The Group values customers’ satisfaction and trust on the products and
services provided by the Group. The Group endeavors to source brand
new products and produce various food products in good quality for

the enjoyments of consumers in both Hong Kong and Mainland China.

Understanding the preference and feedback of consumers is important
for improving the quality of the Group’s products and services.
Various communication channels including customer hotline, company
website and social media are in place to enhance communications with

our customers.

Suppliers and business partners

The Group distributes various internationally renowned brands of
quality food products from many countries. Therefore, the Group
places strong emphasis on relationships and communications with
suppliers. The Group believes that constructive interactions and
effective communications with suppliers can enhance the efficiency
of the entire supply chain process including products procurement and

inventory management.

The Group has developed long-standing relationships with major
suppliers. The Group invites key suppliers to strategy meetings,
arranges tours to the retail outlets and offices of the Group, invites
them in business events and parties, and shares information about local
sales performance, new products and personnel. Likewise, the Group
visits the suppliers’ factories and understands their production process
and products development. Personalising the relationship and getting
to know one another creates a solid partnership and builds up trust on
each other. Being a pioneer of importing food products from Japan
to Hong Kong, the Group received appreciation letters from various
Japanese business partners for the recognition of the Group’s effort in
distribution of their products.
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Community

“Taken from Society and Give Back to Society” is always the belief of
the Group. The Group is participating actively in community services,
supporting the charity activities and youth programs. The Group
supports the community by sponsoring its food products to different
parties including Junior Police Call, schools, elderly and women’s care
organisations, youth organisations, kaifong welfare organisations and
federations of associations. People from different sectors can enjoy the
Group’s delicate products, and share its spirit of “Eating Happily”.

Principal risks
Operational risks
Socioeconomic change risk

There are many ongoing trends in society that can impact the demand
for a product. Customers have more choices nowadays and have raised
their expectations on food quality and variety. The Group keeps on
engaging in product reformulation that makes it conform more closely
to social trend. In addition, the Group keeps abreast of the current
trend in retailing and catering businesses and continues to introduce

brand new retailing and catering experience to the consumers.

Supply chain risk — inadequate supplier performance

The Group sources food materials and food products for production
and distribution. The stability of the supply and quality of the food
materials and products from vendors are critical to the business
operation of the Group. In order to mitigate the risk of possible
supply chain failure, the Group sources food materials and products
from a portfolio of suppliers. The Group also established a stringent
supplier selection process including the assessment of qualifications of

suppliers, inspection of the products, visit to suppliers’ factories etc.

Financial risks

The financial risk management objectives and policies of the Group

are shown in note 40 to the financial statements.
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company present their
report and the audited financial statements of the Group for the year
ended 31 March 2021.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES AND BUSINESS
REVIEW

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding. Details
of the principal activities of the principal subsidiaries are set out
in note 1 to the financial statements. On 16 April 2020, the Group
acquired Miyata Holding Co. Ltd. and its subsidiaries (“Miyata
Group”), which is a renowned snack food and confectionery
distributor in Japan specialised in the wholesaling and distribution of
confectionery products. Other than this development, there were no
significant changes in the nature of the Group’s principal activities

during the year.

A discussion and review on the business activities of the Group,
including a description of the principal risks and uncertainties facing
the Group and an indication of the likely future development in the
Group’s business, are set out in the sections headed “Chairman’s
Statement” and “Management Discussion and Analysis” on pages 4
to 13 and pages 17 to 26 of this annual report, respectively. Certain
financial key performance indicators, a discussion on the Group’s
environment policies and performance and its compliance with
the relevant laws and regulations, and an account of the Group’s
relationship with its key stakeholders are included in the “Management
Discussion and Analysis”. These discussions form part of this Report
of the Directors. In light of the Environmental, Social and Governance
Reporting Guide as set out in Appendix 27 of the Rules Governing
the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”), a separate
Environmental, Social and Governance Report will be published in due

course.

In addition, the financial risk management objectives and policies of

the Group are shown in note 40 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND DIVIDENDS

The Group’s profit for the year ended 31 March 2021 and the Group’s
financial position at that date are set out in the financial statements on
pages 77 to 227.

The Board recommends the payment of a final dividend of HK6.5
cents per ordinary share in respect of the year to shareholders on the

register of members on 8§ September 2021.
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SUMMARY FINANCIAL INFORMATION 9 15 %R

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group A A [ 4 2 AR B B0 B 2 BB AE H R R AR
for the last five financial years, as extracted from the published audited BEE T A B 588 A% 0 B 5 S TP R I > P AR B

financial statements, is set out below: T

Year ended 31 March
BRE=ZH=1—HIL4EE
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
RO CRORE RS DFN\E ZFRL8
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
WL EWTor BT #EWTT BWFTx

RESULTS E3
REVENUE WA 4,579,837 2,928,037 3,028,987 3,002,437 2,948,289
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR ﬁiﬁq{ﬁ?ﬂ/ (E#R) 31,648 (14,279) 37,944 351,741 53,399
Attributable to: B
Equity holders of the Company A2\ W] W HE £
e 30,127 (19,808) 30,161 347,703 50,274
Non-controlling interests FERE I RE R 1,521 5,529 7,783 4,038 3,125

31,648 (14,279) 37,944 351,741 53,399

As at 31 March

R=A=1+—H
2021 2020 2019 2018 2017
SR DR ORE DR ZFON\E R L
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BWTL  EWFTL W Tr EFTT BWT

ASSETS AND LIABILITIES ¥ R AR

TOTAL ASSETS WG R 3,560,839 2,893,776 2,553,811 2,814,342 2,763,762
TOTAL LIABILITIES N R (2,183,056) (1,548,578) (1,079,251)  (1,176,209)  (1,416,029)

1,377,783 1,345,198 1,474,560 1,638,133 1,347,733

The information set out above does not form part of the audited IV Y ABE B NI AS R AR S A B S T A — SR A e
financial statements.
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SHARE CAPITAL

There were no movements in either the Company’s authorised or

issued share capital during the year.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
articles of association or the laws of the Cayman Islands which would
oblige the Company to offer new shares on a pro rata basis to existing
shareholders.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

At 31 March 2021, the Company’s reserves available for
cash distribution and/or distribution in specie amounted to
HK$262,914,000, of which HK$24,977,000 has been proposed as a

final dividend for the year.

DIRECTORS

As at the date of this report, the directors of the Company were:

Executive directors:

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
WU Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman)
TAI Chun Kit (Managing Director)
MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis

WU Wing Biu

NAM Chi Ming, Gibson

Independent non-executive directors:

LEUNG Mei Han
CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter
Tsunao KIJIMA

In accordance with article 119 of the articles of association of the
Company, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, Mr. Tai Chung Kit and Mr.
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis shall retire and being eligible, will offer

themselves for re-election at the forthcoming annual general meeting.

The Company has received annual confirmations of independence
from Ms. Leung Mei Han, Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao
Kijima pursuant to Rule 3.13 of the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock
Exchange”) (the “Listing Rules”) and still considers them to be

independent.
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Report of the Directors
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

None of the directors who is proposed for re-election at the
forthcoming annual general meeting has a service contract with the
Company which is not determinable by the Company within one year
without payment of compensation, other than statutory compensation.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The directors’ remuneration is determined by the Company’s board
of directors with reference to directors’ duties, responsibilities and
performance and the results of the Group, and reviewed by the
remuneration committee of the Group. Particulars of the duties and
responsibilities of the remuneration committee are set out in the
“Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Pursuant to the Company’s articles of association and subject
to the provisions of the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands,
every director or other officer of the Company shall be entitled to
be indemnified out of assets of the Company against all losses or
liabilities which he may sustain or incur in or about the execution of
the duties of his office or otherwise in relation thereto. The Company
has arranged appropriate directors’ and officers’ liability insurance

coverage for the directors and officers of the Group.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN
TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS OR
CONTRACTS

No director or a connected entity of a director had a material interest,
either directly or indirectly, in any transactions, arrangements or
contracts of significance to the business of the Group to which the
Company or any of the Company’s subsidiaries was a party during the

year.
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION

As at 31 March 2021, the interests and short positions of the directors
and chief executive of the Company in the shares and underlying
shares of the Company or any of its associated corporation (within
the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFO”)) as recorded in the register required to be kept by the
Company under section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to
the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code
for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) contained in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, were as
follows:
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Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: MARAFSBREH 21T :
Approximate
Number of percentage of
ordinary shares the Company’s
held/interested total issued shares
AR
Notes 4 it CEAT RO A Y
Name of directors WA Mfit  Capacity B4 e 70 BBy B H WAE 2
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen ¥/l (i) Interest of controlled &l 2 ] RS 259,478,000 67.52%
corporations
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly  #H3ER (i) Interest of spouse and  FC{H 25 % 259,478,000 67.52%

interest of controlled Pl A F R RS

corporations

Notes:
(i)  Such shares comprise:

(a) 70,000,000 shares, representing approximately 18.22% of the
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Careful Guide Limited
(“CGL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen;

(b) 74,250,000 shares, representing approximately 19.32% of the
Company’s total issued shares, are held by Special Access Limited
(“SAL”) which is wholly owned by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and
his spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly. Accordingly, Mr. Tai Tak
Fung, Stephen and Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are deemed to be
interested in the 74,250,000 shares of the Company held by SAL;
and

5
%

G AR

(a) 70,000,000 B 4 (A A< 23 &) &84T B4 48 e 4
18.22%) J5 M Careful Guide Limited ([CGL]) ¥
B A HBEYS e ERE

(b)  74,250,0008 B4 (1 A A 7] T84T B4y SR 90 4
19.32%) J3 HiSpecial Access Limited ([ SAL) $§
oo A TE R R R L+
EHH o FIb > MEEW SRR RWEAEL LY
MR S ALRTFEA 274,250,000 8 A% 2 7] it 4
PR RHESE 5 K
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DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY OR ANY
ASSOCIATED CORPORATION (continued)

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company: (continued)

Notes: (continued)
(i) Such shares comprise: (continued)

(c) 115,228,000 shares, representing approximately 29.98% of
the Company’s total issued shares, are held by Capital Season
Investments Limited (“CSI”). CSI is wholly owned by Advance
Finance Investments Limited (“AFI”) which is a wholly-owned
subsidiary of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited
(“HKFH”). Accordingly, HKFH is deemed to be interested in the
115,228,000 shares of the Company. HKFH is owned as to 0.07%
by the Company, 2.59% by Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, 20.38% by
SAL, and 11.91% by CGL. As Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is the
spouse of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is
deemed to be interested in the shares of Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
and vice versa. Therefore, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and his
spouse, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly are considered to have deemed
interests in the 115,228,000 shares of the Company by virtue of
their interests in HKFH.

(ii) As mentioned in note (i)(b) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly and her
spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen are deemed to be interested in the
74,250,000 shares of the Company held by SAL. In addition to the
deemed interests of 115,228,000 shares in the Company’s total issued
shares as stated in note (i)(c) above, Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly is also
deemed to be interested in the 70,000,000 shares of the Company through
the interests of her spouse, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, in CGL as
mentioned in note (i)(a) above.

Save as disclosed above, as at 31 March 2021, none of the directors
and chief executive of the Company had any interests or short
positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or any of
its associated corporation (within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO)
as recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company under
section 352 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, none of the directors and
chief executive of the Company (including their spouses and children
under 18 years of age) had been granted or had exercised any rights to
subscribe for shares of the Company required to be disclosed pursuant
to the SFO.
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(c)

115,228,000/ B 7 (4 A< 2 7] © B 47 B 4y 42
#%129.98% ) J3 B Capital Season Investments
Limited ([ CSI]) ##45 o CSIFiAdvance Finance
Investments Limited ([AFI]) 2 & ¥4 > i AFI
AR FBEMBERERARAR (HFBEH]D
Z AW A ] o BE > A Uk B
A A F 115,228,000 B4R o 7 v £ 5 43 Bl
AN BEF0.07% » WAE B e A BEFH2.59% »
SALBEF20.38% » BMCGLEER 11.91% ° H
KRG L HWEYRAEZEM WEAL L
Bl L R MRS B RZ N
oo BINL > MR A R ER LB
A A S T U R M A W S R R AR A ]
115,228,000/8% B4

SR b TR ) (b) T it 5 W 56 2 A B 48
Mt A 3 B R T SALFT 5 B 274,250,000 A% 2 ]
JBe oy o B BE 25 o BR b ST ) (o) BT A A AR 2 A AR
O W) BB AT B BB 2 115,228,000/ JBE 4 v A E
#EAh > BN B REG) () ik - SR LB B
T F 3 W ks A 2 A 25 T 4 B % R CGL 270,000,000
JBe AR 23 5] B o B RE RS o

B LA pr e g A > R F =A==+ H
A2 T HE R R BOR AT BN B AR 2 R 5 AT A A B
(6 38 5w 2 B B R SR X VAR ) 2 By B A
R e Ay e > 349 JHE A A A ) AR 4 O YT AR AR ) 5
35245k Bt Z6 A7 B B T i T AT % > R 4 A i < 1
R A ) B I 28 T 2 M AR SR -

RREZFZFE=EA=ZT—HILEERN » KAH
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE
SHARES OR DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed above, at no time during the year were rights to
acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures
of the Company granted to any of the directors or their respective
spouses or minor children, or were any such rights exercised by them;
or was the Company, its holding company, or any of its subsidiaries or
fellow subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the directors

to acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 March 2021, the following parties (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company as disclosed above) had interests
of 5% or more in the issued shares of the Company as recorded in the
register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of the
SFO:

Long positions in the ordinary shares of the Company:
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Approximate
Number of percentage of

ordinary shares the Company’s

held/interested total issued shares
iz 2+
Name of substantial Note g vi CBAT I S
shareholders FEBERSH Kzt Capacity -2/ W e B i H maEsk
SAL Beneficial owner HEHA A 74,250,000 19.32%
CGL Beneficial owner EE-X 2N 70,000,000 18.22%
CSI Beneficial owner HEHA A 115,228,000 29.98%
AFI (i)  Interest of controlled 52 FIHERE 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
HKFH TR (i)  Interest of controlled %4 Rl ME#E 115,228,000 29.98%
corporation
Note: Mk :

(i) The entire issued share capital of CSI is held by AFI which in turn is
wholly owned by HKFH. Accordingly, each of AFI and HKFH is deemed
to be interested in the same 115,228,000 shares of the Company held by

CSIL

(i)  AFIFA CSIZHB BT IA » M AFTH 75 s i &
BHER o B > AFTRCF W5 £ 5 38 B0 2 IR CSTRT F¢
HZ AT 115,228,000 18 43 Hh B A 7] 24 25 -
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS’
INTERESTS AND/OR SHORT POSITIONS
IN THE SHARES AND UNDERLYING
SHARES OF THE COMPANY (continued)

Save as disclosed above, to the best knowledge of the directors of the
Company, as at 31 March 2021, no persons (other than the directors
and chief executive of the Company, whose interests are set out in the
above section headed “Directors’ and chief executive’s interests and/or
short positions in the shares and underlying shares of the Company or
any associated corporation”) had any interests or short positions in the
shares and underlying shares of the Company which were recorded in
the register required to be kept by the Company under section 336 of
the SFO.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Details of the share option scheme of the Company are set out in note
32 to the financial statements.

There was no outstanding share option at the beginning or at the end
of the year. During the year ended 31 March 2021, no share option has

been granted under the share option scheme.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT

Executive Directors

Dr. the Honourable TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP,
PhD (honoris causa), aged 73, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Dr. Tai is the founder and chairman of
the Group, in charge of corporate and policy planning. He has been
awarded the Grand Bauhinia Medal, Gold Bauhinia Star, Silver
Bauhinia Star and Justice of the Peace by the Government of the Hong
Kong Special Administrative Region. He served as a member of the
National Committee of the Chinese People’s Political Consultative
Conference (“CPPCC”) from 2003 to 2018, during which period he
was a standing committee member of the CPPCC from 2008 to 2018.
He is currently a standing committee member of the Guangdong
Provincial Committee of the CPPCC. Dr. Tai was awarded the
Order of the Rising Sun, Gold and Silver Rays by the Government
of Japan in 2017 in recognition of his contributions towards the
promotion of Japanese food products in China. He is currently a
member of the Board of Trustees of Jinan University and serves
several public positions, including the president of the Hong Kong
Foodstuffs Association, the honorary president of Friends of Hong
Kong Association, the founding chairman of the Hong Kong CPPCC
(Provincial) Members Association, the chairman of the Hong Kong
Guangdong Chamber of Foreign Investors and a special advisor to
China National Food Industry Association. He received a number
of awards including Hong Kong Distinguished Brand Leader Award
conferred by Hong Kong Brand Development Council and the Chinese
Manufactuers’ Association of Hong Kong and Industrialist of the
Year Award conferred by Federation of Hong Kong Industries. Other
accolades include Asia’s Leading Food Entrepreneur of the Year 2020,
Certificate of Honor for Business Lifetime Achievement for Producing
Quality Food Products, the Worldwide Prominent Chiu Chow
Business Leader Award 2012-2013, the World Outstanding Chinese
Award, the Philanthropist Award of the Grand Charity Ceremony
2011, the 30th Food Industry Distinguished Service Award of Japan,
the Award of the Ministry of Agriculture, Forestry and Fisheries of
Japan for the Overseas Promotion of Japanese Food, the Outstanding
Contribution Award of the China National Food Industry, the China
Food Safety Annual Conference Award of Distinguished Management
Entrepreneur, “Honourable Citizen of Shantou City”, “Honourable
Citizen of Guangzhou City” and “Honourable Citizen of Jilin City”
in Mainland China. Dr. Tai is also a non-executive director of Hong
Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited (“HKFH”), a substantial
shareholder of the Company. He is also a non-executive director of
The Sincere Company, Limited (“Sincere”). The shares of HKFH and
Sincere are listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange. Dr. Tai is
also a director of Careful Guide Limited and Special Access Limited,
both of which are the substantial shareholders of the Company. He
is the spouse of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the vice chairman and
executive director of the Company, and the father of Mr. Tai Chun Kit,
the managing director and executive director of the Company. Dr. Tai
is also a brother-in-law of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive director of
the Company.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Dr. WU Mei Yung, Quinly, PhD (honoris causa), aged 68, has been
an executive director of the Company since June 1993. Dr. Wu is
a co-founder and the vice chairman of the Group, responsible for
overseeing and coordinating the policy setting of the Group. She
has more than 40 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
business. Dr. Wu is also a director of Careful Guide Limited and
Special Access Limited, both of which are the substantial shareholders
of the Company. She is the spouse of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the
chairman and an executive director of the Company, and the mother
of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the managing director and an executive director
of the Company. Dr. Wu is a sister of Mr. Wu Wing Biu, an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. TAI Chun Kit, aged 38, has been an executive director of the
Company since December 2017. Mr. Tai is the managing director
of the Group and is responsible for new business planning and the
development of the Group’s business associated with overseas brands.
He is also overseeing the Group’s operation policies and leading
the Group’s core business. Mr. Tai holds a Bachelor of Business
Administration (Hons) degree from the City University of Hong
Kong. He has extensive experience in retail management, brands
development and marketing planning. He joined the Group in 2004.
He is also the chairman and an executive director of HKFH. Mr.
Tai is also an independent non-executive director of Niche-Tech
Group Limited, the shares of which are listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange. Mr. Tai is a son of Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, and Dr. Wu
Mei Yung, Quinly, both are executive directors of the Company and
serve the position of the chairman and vice chairman of the Company,
respectively. Mr. Tai is the nephew of Mr. Wu, an executive director
of the Company.

Mr. MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis, aged 65, has been an executive
director of the Company since August 1999. Mr. Man is the finance
director of the Group, responsible for corporate finance, accounting,
information technology and project investments of the Group. Mr.
Man has a Master of Commerce degree from the University of New
South Wales in Australia. He is also a member of the CPA Australia
and the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has
gained extensive experience in finance and accounting from overseas
multinational corporations. Mr. Man joined the Group in 1992. He is
also the managing director of HKFH.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Executive Directors (continued)

Mr. WU Wing Biu, aged 62, has been an executive director of the
Company since June 1993. Mr. Wu is experienced in sales, marketing
and merchandising and is now responsible for the establishment of
close relationship with Mainland China and overseas suppliers. He
has more than 30 years’ experience in the food and confectionery
industry. Mr. Wu joined the Group in 1978. He is a brother-in-law of
Dr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen, the chairman and an executive director
of the Company, and a brother of Dr. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly, the vice
chairman and an executive director of the Company. Mr. Wu is an
uncle of Mr. Tai Chun Kit, the managing director and an executive

director of the Company.

Mr. NAM Chi Ming, Gibson, aged 60, has been an executive
director of the Company since April 2010. Mr. Nam is responsible for
managerial controls and company secretarial affairs. He holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from The Chinese University of
Hong Kong. Mr. Nam is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association
of Chartered Certified Accountants in the United Kingdom and an
associate of both The Hong Kong Institute of Chartered Secretaries
and the Chartered Governance Institute. He has extensive financial and
managerial experience. Mr. Nam worked in the Group from 1996 to
1999, and re-joined the Group in 2001.
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Report of the Directors
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Independent Non-executive Directors

Ms. LEUNG Mei Han, aged 62, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since December 1998. Ms.
Leung holds a Bachelor of Commerce degree from the University of
Queensland in Australia and is a fellow member of CPA Australia. She
has more than 30 years’ experience in accounting, securities, corporate
finance and related areas.

Mr. CHAN Yuk Sang, Peter, aged 75, has been an independent
non-executive director of the Company since July 2000. Mr. Chan
was the chairman of a company listed on the Stock Exchange until
July 2002. He was a senior general manager of a local bank until
November 1998. Mr. Chan was also an executive director of a joint
Chinese foreign bank in Shenzhen until 1995. He has more than 30
years’ experience in the banking and finance industry. Mr. Chan
served as an independent non-executive director for a number of listed
companies of Hong Kong including GOME Electrical Appliances
Holding Limited from May 2004 to June 2015. Mr. Chan is currently
an independent non-executive director of Steering Holdings Limited,
a company whose shares are listed on the Main Board of the Stock

Exchange.

Mr. Tsunao KIJIMA, aged 73, has been an independent non-
executive director of the Company since July 2011. He holds a
Bachelor of Arts degree in Economics from Keio University in Japan.
Mr. Kijima was the executive vice president of Mitsubishi Corporation
and also the chief representative for China and Europe of Mitsubishi
Corporation during different periods of time. He was a managing
executive officer of Nissin Foods Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed
on the Tokyo Stock Exchange. Mr. Kijima was also a non-executive
director of Premier Foods Plc, a company listed on the London Stock
Exchange. He has more than 45 years’ experience of worldwide
trading of processed foods, beverages, snack foods and other food
products. Mr. Kijima served as a non-executive director of Lianhua
Supermarket Holdings Co., Ltd., a company listed on the Main Board
of the Stock Exchange, from 2001 to 2006. He was an independent
non-executive director of the Company from 1997 to 2006.
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management

Mr. TSE Siu Wan, aged 60, is the managing director of Hong Kong
Ham Holdings Limited (“HK Ham”), a wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, responsible for the overall strategic planning and production
operation of the Group’s ham manufacturing operations. He has
extensive experience in the manufacture of ham and ham related
products. Mr. Tse joined HK Ham in 1980. He is also an executive
director of HKFH.

Mr. WONG Fu Hang, Derek, aged 48, is the director of the Group’s
merchandising and marketing department, responsible for product
purchasing and merchandising. Mr. Wong holds a Bachelor of Science
degree from The University of Hong Kong. Prior to joining the Group,
Mr. Wong held various marketing management roles for international
and Hong Kong FMCG firms and has extensive experience in

marketing strategy development. Mr. Wong joined the Group in 2014.

Ms. VONG Cheng I, Carmen, aged 57, is the director of the Group’s
human resources department, responsible for human resources
management and people strategy development. She holds a Bachelor
of Business Administration degree in Human Resources Management
from Simon Fraser University in Canada and a Master of Business
Administration degree from The University of Hong Kong. Ms. Vong
has extensive experience in Hong Kong and China on human resources
management and strategic planning. Prior to joining the Group, she
was the general manager, human resources for Hong Kong and China
of an international FMCG firm. Ms. Vong joined the Group in 2017.

Mr. TSE Chun Hung, Daniel, aged 57, is the director of the Group’s
Catering department, responsible for strategic planning and business
development of the catering business in Hong Kong and Mainland
China. Mr. Tse holds a Bachelor of Science degree from the University
of Hawaii in the United States. He gained extensive experience in
sales, business development and operation management of food and
beverage functions. Before joining the Group, he held senior positions
of catering and operations departments of leading hotels and catering

groups in Hong Kong. Mr. Tse joined the Group in 2017.
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Report of the Directors
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PROFILES OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR
MANAGEMENT (continued)

Senior Management (continued)

Ms. Chow Tsui Lin, Bonnie, aged 46, is the director of the Group’s
Hong Kong, Macau and overseas sales department, responsible for
strategic sales management. Ms. Chow holds a Bachelor of Arts
degree from The University of Hong Kong. She has more than twenty
years’ experience in sales and operations management plus securing
business opportunities from prospective customers. Prior to joining the
Group, Ms. Chow held various management positions for the largest
multinational companies of the world. Ms. Chow re-joined the Group
in 2019.

Mr. WONG Hung Kin, aged 62, is the associate director of the
Group’s merchandising and marketing department, responsible for
product purchasing and merchandising. Mr. Wong holds a Master
of Business Administration degree from the California Southern
University in the United States. Prior to joining the Group, he was
a marketing manager of a local wines and spirits company and has
extensive experience in purchasing and marketing. Mr. Wong joined
the Group in 1995.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

o0 R v B BN BB R i A (5)

(2342 YNERE )

JH RN > 4658 > AGE 9 IR B g A S IR
BB - WM B 2 S B B - SR LB
B Bl o JH/NGLFR A A WK B 2 SO B A > Y
SR R B U AE & P R R SR T
A R IB204E B KL o B AACSE B > R /NGE B
B R TR A i 1 A SR A AT 2 A4 BRI o /NI
FIEFRMAARLHE -

WA S 2 > 625 » A GE I T S i B TR AR > B
TR i R S i 5 HfE B o BGOSR AR e
55 R 5 KB T A BRAH L B AL o 75 i AACSE IR
AP 7 0 — TR A Mo P R AT 2 i A o S A AR
T v 355 e o U5 Th e AT S8R A o BB AE Y UL
FEMAAGEH -



MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

In the year under review, sales to the Group’s five largest customers
accounted for less than 30% of the Group’s total sales for the year.
Purchases from the Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for less
than 30% of the Group’s total purchases for the year.

None of the directors of the Company or any of their associates or any
shareholders (which, to the best knowledge of the directors, own more
than 5% of the Company’s total number of issued shares) had any

beneficial interest in the Group’s five largest customers and suppliers.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
LISTED SECURITIES OF THE COMPANY

Neither the Company nor any of its subsidiaries purchased, sold or
redeemed any of the Company’s listed securities during the year ended
31 March 2021.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on information that is publicly available to the Company and
within the knowledge of the directors, at least 25% of the Company’s
total number of issued shares were held by the public as at the date of

this report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

Details of the Company’s corporate governance practices are set out in

the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has an audit committee which was established in
compliance with Rule 3.21 of the Listing Rules, for the purposes
of reviewing and providing supervision over the Group’s financial
reporting process and the risk management and internal control
systems. The audit committee comprises the independent non-

executive directors of the Company.

The summary of duties and works of the audit committee is set out in
the “Corporate Governance Report” of this annual report.
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AUDITOR

Ernst & Young retire and a resolution for their reappointment as
auditor of the Company will be proposed at the forthcoming annual

general meeting.

ON BEHALF OF THE BOARD

TAI Tak Fung, Stephen, GBM, GBS, SBS, JP

Chairman

Hong Kong, 29 June 2021
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The board of directors (the “Board”) of the Company is pleased to
present this Corporate Governance Report in the Group’s annual report
for the year ended 31 March 2021 (the “Annual Report”).

The Company’s corporate governance policies and practices are
applied and implemented in the manners as stated in the below

Corporate Governance Report.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE PRACTICES

The Company and the management are committed to maintaining
a good corporate governance with an emphasis on the principles of
transparency, accountability and independence to all shareholders.
The Company believes that good corporate governance standards are
essential to a continual growth and enhancement of shareholders’
value. The Company periodically reviews its corporate governance
practices with reference to the latest development of corporate
governance. Throughout the year under review, the Company has
applied the principles of corporate governance and complied with
most of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code (the
“CG Code”) as set out in Appendix 14 of the Rules Governing the
Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited
(the “Stock Exchange”) (“the Listing Rules”) with the exception of
code provisions A.4.1 and A.4.2 of the CG Code, details will be set out
below.

The key corporate governance principles and practices of the Company

are summarised as follows:

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management

The role of the Board is to set up strategic goals, performance
objectives and operational policies; establish a framework of prudent
and effective controls which enables risks to be assessed and managed;
delegate authorities to the management to manage and supervise
the business of the Group; and ensure the management monitor

performance against objectives being set.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Responsibilities, Accountabilities and Contributions of the Board
and Management (continued)

The Company has formalised a written guideline for the division
of responsibilities between the Board and the management. Certain
responsibilities or functions have been delegated by the Board to the
management which include the day-to-day business operation of the
Group, execution of corporate strategies, business and financial plans
and budgets approved by the Board; and preparation of annual and
interim financial statements. The Board has reserved for its decision
matters of the Group covering the approval of significant changes in
accounting or capital structure; approval of public announcements
and financial statements; approval of major acquisitions, disposals
and major capital projects; approval of material borrowings and any
issuing or buying back of equity securities; and approval of the annual
budget and setting of the dividend policy.

Board Composition

As at 31 March 2021, the Board of the Company comprises nine
directors consisting of six executive directors and three independent

non-executive directors.

The following chart shows the structure and membership of the Board
and Board Committees as at 31 March 2021:
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Composition (continued)
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Board of Directors

A

Executive directors

HIT#EHF

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman)
s (E)

WISRE (L)

Tai Chun Kit (Managing Director)
FOE B (FF AR

Man Wing Cheung, Ellis

SCKAE

Wu Wing Biu

WK

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson

[l

W s AT HFF
Leung Mei Han

Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
bR E 4

Tsunao Kijima

NS

Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman)

Independent non-executive directors

Company Secretary
2 ) B

Nam Chi Ming, Gibson
L]

Executive Committee Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Nomination Committee
AT RRE HERZRO HMERE RUZHS
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Tai Tak Fung, Stephen
(Chairman) (Chairperson) (Chairman) (Chairman)
WS (L) PSS NE ) BRE L (L) W ()
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Chan Yuk Sang, Peter Wu Mei Yung, Quinly Leung Mei Han
Tai Chun Kit Tsunao Kijima Leung Mei Han Chan Yuk Sang, Peter
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Man Wing Cheung, Ellis
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Wu Wing Biu
Wi KA
P g AT R4 m
TR -FHFR



Corporate Governance Report
e SOk

BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued) HRE(H)
Board Composition (continued) HERGAHNH (B)

Biographical information of the directors and relevant relationships 2 014 R B A R A A5 2 T 1 AR R AR A i
among the directors are set out in the section headed “Profiles of RGN ERER SRS AN B BRG] o
Directors and Senior Management” in the Report of the Directors of

this Annual Report.

Board Meeting Wk

Number of Meetings and Directors’ Attendance B KR R

The Board meets regularly throughout the year to discuss and 3R N E S B Rk DA e I e AR A
formulate overall strategies for the Company, monitor financial BB R M B R IS A B R e v R AR A
performance and discuss the interim and annual results, as well as DL R HoAth 7R 5 IH o

other significant matters.

The Board has convened five regular meetings during the year ended ERONRE - E=ZA=1—HILFEELT
31 March 2021. Apart from regular Board meetings, the Chairman also PAILK B &k - IR H g 2 e - RN
held meetings with independent non-executive directors without the IRAE A oA 3 5 R A U0 T BB Sn AT
presence of other directors during the year. The attendance record of BITER  SEFRIRZEFEG AR RERGTHH
each director at the said board meetings and general meetings of the JE A SRE W R

Company is set out below:

Number of meetings

attended/held
BTk
Regular
Board General
Meetings Meetings
Name of directors WA WA AR JB 3K £
Executive directors AT
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) s (FEH) 5/5 2/2
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman) WIER () 5/5 2/2
Tai Chun Kit (Managing Director) WO (HFAHAPE) 5/5 212
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis p&IL:s 515 2/2
Wu Wing Biu [iEi 5/5 2/2
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [l 515 2/2
Independent non-executive directors B JE AT W g
Leung Mei Han peLE Sy i 5/5 2/2
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter B & A 5/5 2/2
Tsunao Kijima * A s A A 515 0/2
*  Mr. Tsunao Kijima was unable to attend the annual general meeting and * PR R 352019788 AR I 75 03 8 1 BEBURHE PR 1) » A 4
the extraordinary general meeting of the Company held on 31 August HeS A REH B ARA R RN —F _FE)N\A=1—
2020 and 9 February 2021 respectively due to the travel restrictions HE - _-—4F T HLH ST 2 R B K e &k
caused by the outbreak of COVID-19 pandemic. WA R -
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Board Meeting (continued)
Practices and Conduct of Meetings

Notice of regular Board meetings is served to all directors at least 14
days before the meetings while reasonable notice is generally given for
other Board meetings. For committee meetings, notices are served in
accordance with the required notice period stated in the relevant terms

of reference.

Board papers together with all appropriate, complete and reliable
information are sent to all directors or committee members at least
3 days before each Board meeting and each committee meeting
to keep the directors or committee members apprised of the latest
developments and financial position of the Company and to enable
them to make informed decisions. All directors are encouraged to take
independent professional advice, at the Company’s expense, upon the
performance of their duties as and when deemed necessary. The Board
and each director have separate and independent access to the senior

management where necessary.

Minutes of all Board meetings and committee meetings are kept by
the Company Secretary. Draft minutes are normally sent to directors
or committee members for their comments within a reasonable period
of time after each meeting and final version is open for directors’

inspection.

If a substantial shareholder or a director has a conflict of interest in
a matter to be considered material by the Board, the matter will be
dealt with in accordance with applicable rules and regulations and, if
appropriate, an independent Board committee will be set up to deal
with the matter.
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Appointment and Re-election

The Board is empowered under the articles of association of the
Company (the “Articles of Association”) from time to time and at any
time to appoint any person as a director either to fill a casual vacancy
or as an additional member of the Board. Appointments are first
considered by the Nomination Committee and recommendations of the
Nomination Committee are then put to the Board for decision. Details
in respect of the process and criteria for the Nomination Committee to
select and recommend candidates for directorship are provided in the
section headed “Nomination Committee” in this Corporate Governance
Report.

In accordance with the Articles of Association, one-third of the
directors for the time being or, if their number is not three or a
multiple of three, then the number nearest to but not less than
one-third, shall retire from office by rotation and re-election by
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company, such that
every director is subject to retirement by rotation at least once every

three years.

Under the code provision A.4.1 of the CG Code, non-executive
directors should be appointed for a specific term, subject to re-
election. Currently, all independent non-executive directors of the
Company are not appointed for a specific term but are subject to
retirement by rotation and re-election at the annual general meeting
of the Company in accordance with the Articles of Association. As
such, the Board considers that sufficient measures have been taken to
ensure that the Company’s corporate governance practices are no less

exacting than those in the CG Code.

Under the code provision A.4.2 of the CG Code, all directors
appointed to fill a casual vacancy should be subject to election by
shareholders at the first general meeting after their appointment.
Every director, including those appointed for a specific term, should
be subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years. In
accordance with the Articles of Association, any director appointed
to fill a casual vacancy shall hold office only until the next following
annual general meeting and shall then be eligible for re-election.
The Board considers that such a deviation is not material as a casual
vacancy seldom appears and interval between the appointment made
to fill casual vacancy and the immediate following annual general

meeting is short.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Directors’ Continuous Professional Development

Each newly appointed director receives a comprehensive, formal
and tailored induction on the first occasion of his/her appointment
to ensure proper understanding of the operations and business
of the Company and full awareness of director’s responsibilities
and obligations under the Listing Rules and relevant regulatory

requirements.

All directors have complied with the code provision A.6.5 of the CG
Code in relation to continuous professional development to develop
and refresh their knowledge and skills. The Company has arranged an
annual training session on the new development of the Listing Rules
and statutory updates for the Board during the year. In addition, some
directors have attended seminars and workshops on topics which
are relevant to their work and responsibilities so as to update their
technical knowledge and professional skills during the year ended 31
March 2021. Relevant reading materials on corporate governance,
regulatory developments and changes of accounting standards and
other topics relevant to the Company’s business and director’s duties
and responsibilities have been given to the directors of the Company

from time to time during the year under review.

Participation by individual directors in continuous professional

development during the year under review is summarised below:

&N

A (5)
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AISERE > 4 T R A A B ORI A BR A LE TR
i R R -

A OO A T I Z T IR SO A6 SR B
FRAUH SRR » DA m B B 40 5 = e e B g o
GRS IVE i - a l (RN W o s
T 8% J T 1 S B R 4R LB I ERAR o BbAb >
FEORDAEEAZ T HARE R B R
SR S5 TR S B R B < R o N AR > LB
AP 45 B0 5070 R0 il e SR B AR o A W] 2 HE R Il R
W > ARFILENA B3 - AR R Sl
A 2 s % LA AT B AR 4 W SRS DA T HE R I e
Wk B R 2 R B DR o

TP R4 JBE T 22 LA A0 T S 0 e R ) R
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Types of training

Name of directors HHLH TRy
Executive directors oS

Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman) AR (FH) B,C
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly (Vice Chairman) WASER (LR B, C
Tai Chun Kit (Managing Director) WA (A AP A,B,C
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis XK A,B,C
Wu Wing Biu HH K B,C
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson LN A, B, C
Independent non-executive directors S Ik AT R

Leung Mei Han S A, B, C
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ o A, B, C
Tsunao Kijima K B 4 e B, C

A — Attending briefings/seminars/conferences/forums

B - Attending in-house annual training session

C — Reading updates on relevant topics including corporate governance and
regulatory update
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BOARD OF DIRECTORS (continued)

Chairman and Managing Director

Currently, Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen and Mr. Tai Chun Kit hold
the positions of Chairman and Managing Director respectively. Their

respective responsibilities are clearly defined and set out in writing.

The Chairman provides leadership for the Board and is responsible
for the effective functioning of the Board in accordance with
good corporate governance practices. With the support of the
executive directors and senior management, the Managing Director
is responsible for new business planning and the development of
the Group’s business associated with overseas brands. He is also
overseeing the Group’s operation policies and leading the Group’s

core business.

Independent Non-executive Directors

During the year ended 31 March 2021, the Board at all times met
the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of
at least three independent non-executive directors, representing one-
third of the Board, with at least one of them possessing appropriate
professional qualifications or accounting or related financial
management expertise as required under Rules 3.10(1) and (2), and
3.10A of the Listing Rules. The Company has received a written
annual confirmation from each independent non-executive director of
his/her independence and the Company is of the view that the existing
independent non-executive directors are independent under the
independence guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules up to
the date of this Annual Report.
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BOARD COMMITTEES

The Board has established four committees, namely the Executive
Committee, the Audit Committee, the Remuneration Committee
and the Nomination Committee, for overseeing particular aspects of
the Company’s affairs. All Board committees of the Company are
established with specific written terms of reference which are available
to shareholders upon request. The terms of reference of the Board
committees, except those of Executive Committee, are also available
for viewing on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.

Executive Committee

The Executive Committee was established with specific written terms

of reference and all of its members are executive directors.

The primary duties of the Executive Committee include approval and
execution of the corporate guarantees to be provided by the Company
to individual bankers in respect of the banking facilities granted to
any company of the Group, including wholly-owned subsidiaries, non
wholly-owned subsidiaries and associates within the meaning of the
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards.

The Executive Committee has held twenty one meetings during the
year for the purposes of approving, inter alia, to give guarantees for
banking facilities granted to companies of the Group and to provide
guarantees and/or indemnities with respect to the obligations of a

wholly-owned subsidiary in tenancy agreements.

The attendance records of the Executive Committee during the year are

set out below:
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Number of meetings

D

as

attended/held
Name of Executive Committee members O ZBGRA SN W B AT f Ik B
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of Executive Committee) WpE (A L) 21/21
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly iESY 21/21
Tai Chun Kit Ot 21/21
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis Xk Rk 21/21
Wu Wing Biu gk A= 21/21
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee was established with specific written terms
of reference and all of its members are independent non-executive
directors, one of them possesses the appropriate professional
qualifications or accounting or related financial management expertise.
The Audit Committee currently comprises three independent non-
executive directors, namely Ms. Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of the
Audit Committee), Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter and Mr. Tsunao Kijima.

The primary duties of the Audit Committee are to review and
supervise the financial reporting process and the risk management
and internal control systems of the Group, to monitor the integrity of
the Company’s financial statements and review significant financial
reporting judgements contained in them, to maintain an appropriate
relationship with the Company’s external auditor and to oversee the

audit process.

The Audit Committee has held two meetings during the year ended 31
March 2021 to review the accounting principles and practices adopted
by the Group and discuss internal controls and financial reporting
matters including a review of the interim financial statements for
the six months ended 30 September 2020 and the annual financial
statements for the year ended 31 March 2020 of the Group. The Audit
Committee has also reviewed the annual results for the year ended 31
March 2021 of the Group.

The attendance records of the Audit Committee during the year are set

out below:
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Number of meetings

attended/held
Name of Audit Committee members EEZAGRALH MR BTk
Leung Mei Han (Chairperson of Audit Committee) REW(FEHZEATER) 2/2
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter 5 A 2/2
Tsunao Kijima K B 4 i 2/2
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and is currently constituted by two independent
non-executive directors, namely Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman
of the Remuneration Committee) and Ms. Leung Mei Han and an

executive director, namely Ms. Wu Mei Yung, Quinly.

The Company has adopted the model where the Remuneration
Committee makes recommendations to the Board on the remuneration
packages of individual executive directors and senior management.
The primary duties of the Remuneration Committee are to make
recommendations to the Board on the policy and structure of the
Company for the remuneration of all directors and senior management
and the remuneration packages of individual directors and senior

management.

The Remuneration Committee has held one meeting during the year
ended 31 March 2021 to review, inter alia, the Group’s remuneration
policy and structure, the remuneration packages of all directors and
senior management by reference to the individual performance,
skills and knowledge, time commitment and responsibilities, and
performance and profitability of the Group, and the service contracts
of the directors for the year under review. Details of the remuneration
of each director of the Company are set out in note 9 to the financial

statements.

The attendance records of the Remuneration Committee during the

year are set out below:
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Number of meeting

attended/held
Name of Remuneration Committee members HMEBRB ARG MR BTk
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter (Chairman of Remuneration Committee) BEE & (FZ A &5 1/1
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WHER 1/1
Leung Mei Han 7k 2 4 1/1
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Remuneration Committee (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2021, the remuneration of the members
of the senior management, not being the directors of the Company, by

band is set out below:

wREZHE ()
LESTAC Y

BRECR A= IR EIMERA A A
ERZHAEHANRZHMAL W

Remuneration band E AL BN Number of persons
(HKS$) (77C) A¥
Nil to 1,000,000 % %1,000,000 2

Over 1,000,000

Further particulars regarding the directors’ and chief executive’s
remuneration and the five highest paid employees as required to be
disclosed pursuant to Appendix 16 of the Listing Rules are set out in
notes 9 and 10 to the financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee was established with specific written
terms of reference and currently comprises an executive director,
namely Mr. Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of the Nomination
Committee) and two independent non-executive directors, namely Ms.
Leung Mei Han and Mr. Chan Yuk Sang, Peter.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are to review the
Board composition, to develop and formulate the relevant procedures
for nomination and appointment of directors, to monitor the
appointment of directors and succession planning for directors and to
assess the independence of independent non-executive directors. The
Nomination Committee will also identify individuals suitably qualified
to become members of the Board and make recommendations to the
Board on the selection of individuals nominated for directorships when
there are vacancies on the Board. All appointments will be made based
on merits and against objective criteria with due regard to the Board
diversity policy of the Company.

The Nomination Committee has held one meeting during the year
to review, inter alia, the Board’s structure, size and composition
to ensure that it had a balance of expertise, skills and experience
appropriate to the requirements of the business of the Company and
assessed the independence of the independent non-executive directors
of the Company.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Committee (continued)

The attendance records of the Nomination Committee during the year

are set out below:
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Number of meeting

attended/held
Name of Nomination Committee members RUEZHAORBHH (I P ZiR-f T8
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen (Chairman of Nomination Committee) WEW HETZHEEERE) 1/1
Leung Mei Han prLE i 1/1
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter [ A 1/1
Nomination Policy [ XA &
1. Purpose 1. HMY
This nomination policy of the Company (“Nomination Policy”) AR ) AR A BUR ([ 48 BUSR 1) A AR 24 W] gt
sets out the approach and procedures which are adopted by ARATER ([HEF]) W2 BT 5
the Company for the nomination and selection of directors of AR B BEEINES R ERRE
the Company (the “Director(s)”), including the appointment of BEHE
additional Directors, replacement of Directors, and re-election of
Directors.
2. Policy Statement 2. BRERW
To ensure that the Board consists of Directors with qualities and B e AR 75 6l 4R S LA R TR B BB S 28 B Y
range of skills and experience which sustain the success and WA AR o DL A R IR AR A B R R % R
growth of Group in a way that the interests of the shareholders Fl 7% 2 7 2 A 5 A4 1 G i oh R B o
and stakeholders of the Company are promoted and protected.
3. Selection Criteria 3. BUEEWE

When selecting a candidate to be nominated for directorship,
considerations will be given to a variety of factors including
without limitation the following in assessing the suitability of the
proposed candidate:

3.1 Be an individual of highest character and integrity.

3.2 The potential contribution that the candidate is expected
to bring in sustaining the success and growth of the Group
and monitoring the management team of the Company to
implement its corporate objectives.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)

3.

Selection Criteria (continued)

3.3

3.4

3.5

Be an individual possessing attributes which are
complementary to the other current Directors and in line
with the board diversity policy of the Company. Attributes
to be consider shall include professional experience, skills,
knowledge, cultural and educational background, gender,

age and other personal qualities of the candidate.

The candidate to be nominated as an Independent non-
executive director (“INED”) shall satisfy the independence
requirements as listed in the Listing Rules. The INED
candidate shall also possess the necessary qualification and
appropriate expertise, where applicable.

Any other relevant factors as may be determined by the
Nomination Committee or the Board from time to time as
appropriate.

Nomination Process

4.1 Appointment of New and Replacement Director

Subject to the provisions in the Articles of Association,
if the Board determines that an additional or replacement
Director is required, the following procedures shall be
adopted:

(i) The Nomination Committee, with or without assistance
from Human Resources Department of the Company,
deploy multiple channels for identifying suitable
director candidates.

(ii) The Nomination Committee shall evaluate the
biographical information (or relevant details) of the
candidate to assess the suitability of the candidate in
becoming a Director of the Company in accordance
with the selection criteria set out above in this
Nomination Policy.

(iii) If an appropriate candidate is identified by
the Nomination Committee, it shall then make
recommendation to the Board for the directorship

appointment.

(iv) The Board shall decide the appointment based on the

recommendation of the Nomination Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Nomination Policy (continued)
4. Nomination Process (continued)
4.2 Re-election of Director

A retiring Director, being eligible, offers himself/herself for
re-election at an annual general meeting of the Company,
shall follow the requirements of the Articles of Association
and the Listing Rules with a circular containing the
requite information of the retiring Director be sent to the
shareholders of the Company prior to the annual general

meeting in which the retiring Director is to be re-elected.

5. Review and Monitoring

5.1 The Nomination Committee shall monitor the

implementation of this Nomination Policy.

5.2 The Nomination Committee shall from time to time review
this Nomination Policy, as appropriate, to ensure the
effectiveness of this Nomination Policy.

6. Disclosure of Policy

A summary of this Nomination Policy will be disclosed in the
Corporate Governance Report to be included in the Company’s

Annual Report.

Summary of the Board Diversity Policy

The Company considers increasing diversity at the Board level
as an essential element in maintaining a competitive advantage.
The Company has adopted a Board diversity policy (the “Policy”)
which sets out the approach to achieve diversity on the Board of the
Company. Under the Policy, the Nomination Committee will consider
a number of aspects, including but not limited to gender, age, cultural
and educational background, ethnicity, professional experience, skills,
knowledge and length of service in reviewing and assessing the Board
composition. The Nomination Committee has assessed the composition
of the Board against these aspects and has come to the conclusion that

it is a balanced board of directors.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (continued)

Corporate Governance Functions

The Board is responsible for performing the corporate governance

functions set out in code provision D.3.1 of the CG Code.

During the year under review, the Board reviewed the Company’s
corporate governance policies and practices, training and continuous
professional development of directors and senior management, the
Company’s policies and practices in compliance with legal and
regulatory requirements, the compliance of the Model Code for
Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers (the “Model
Code”) as set out in Appendix 10 of the Listing Rules, and the
Company’s compliance with the CG Code and disclosure in this

Corporate Governance Report.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES
TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code as the Company’s code of
conduct regarding securities transactions by directors of the Company
(the “Code of Conduct”). Having made specific enquiry of all directors
of the Company, the directors have confirmed that they have complied
with the required standard of dealings as set out in the Code of
Conduct throughout the year ended 31 March 2021.

The Company has also established the Code for Securities
Transactions by Relevant Employees (the “Employees Code”) on no
less exacting terms than the Model Code for securities transactions by
the employees who are likely to be in possession of inside information
of the Company. No incident of non-compliance of the Employees
Code by the employees was noted by the Company throughout the year
ended 31 March 2021.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

wREZHE ()
&R AR

B A BT ATV EESOED. 3 R B
Z A IRBAE o

AR > HER R DR B A ] 2 AR B
VSRS YT s NS T P ESE
BERE ~ A RSP R RO LR 2 BUR R H AL
AY B BRI B Bk 10FT Rz BT 8 AT A\ AT
F7 28 W HE AT J) (TRR AT Al 1) Z AL » A 7]
LAY A A A R A DU AE A A AR R Z R o

it 77 28 oy B e S

ACH V] AR A BR AT R > AR R A R S AT R O
B8 5 Z AN AR R (THAF S JILD) o R AC 4 )
ZHE R AR AWK > EREMER > RERE
EOR D AEEHAE IR N HETRT
PRI B BLE 2 R R

AAF OB AN NEHNEZABHRER
HEAT A IE IR 8 27 A2 oy 2 B A ) Z ko] 2 A o
BEFEFZ ST (TR - RE&RE—Z
ZoEEAE - HIRAE BN AR R S 2 R
BRA AT I8 B Z 0L o



Corporate Governance Report

—_—
SRR (o Il

ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT

Financial Reporting

The directors acknowledge their responsibility for preparing the
financial statements of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021. In preparing the financial statements for the year ended 31
March 2021, appropriate accounting principles and policies are
selected and applied consistently; judgments and estimates made are
appropriate and reasonable; and these financial statements have been

prepared on a going concern basis.

The senior management of the Company provides the Board with
such information and explanations as are necessary to enable the
Board to carry out an informed assessment of the Company’s financial

information and position, which are put to the Board for approval.

The Board is also responsible for presenting a balanced, clear and
understandable assessment of both annual and interim reports, inside
information announcements and other disclosures required under the

Listing Rules and other regulatory requirements.

The reporting responsibilities of the Company’s external auditor, Ernst
& Young (“EY”), are set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report of
this Annual Report.

The directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt upon the

Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.
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ACCOUNTABILITY AND AUDIT (continued)

External Auditors’ Remuneration

EY has been re-appointed as the Company’s external auditor by
shareholders at the 2020 annual general meeting until the conclusion
of the next annual general meeting. They are primarily responsible for
providing audit services in connection with the financial statements for
the year ended 31 March 2021.

An analysis of the remuneration of EY for the year ended 31 March

2021 is set out as follows:

W R ()

A 5 % ek i VO

ZoK B R TR R R R AR R A B R R A I
Fy A T Z AN O > AR Y E R JE IR OR A AR R
Tk o K EHABRRBPERKE—ZF = -HF=A
=t kAR i R AR o

BECR - HFEAZT - HIEF L RZ M0
HrinF :

Fee paid/payable

AT /AT £ W

HK$’000

Services rendered P2 % BT
Audit services R 5,031
Non-audit services TR R B 3,111

Auditors’ remuneration of HK$5,915,000 as set out in note 8 to the
financial statements comprises of remuneration for audit services
provided by (i) EY of HK$5,031,000; and (ii) auditors other than EY
of HK$884,000 for acting as auditors to certain subsidiaries of the
Company.

RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS

The Board acknowledges its overall responsibilities for maintaining
adequate risk management and internal control systems to safeguard
shareholders’ investments and the Group’s assets and reviewing their
effectiveness. The systems, including the strategies, policies and
expectations on the oversight, have been designed to manage rather
than to eliminate the risk of failure in achieving the Group’s business
objectives. Therefore, it can only provide reasonable but not absolute

assurance against material misstatement, loss or fraud.

Risk management and internal control systems are designed and put
in place with a view to safeguard the Group’s assets and business
operations. In order to successfully implement, support and sustain the
risk management process, the Group has taken into account the factors
including risk-aware culture, risk prioritisation, as well as allocation
of roles and responsibilities. The systems are featured with defined
organisational and management structure with authorities properly
delegated to qualified personnel from different management levels

within the Group.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL
CONTROLS (continued)

The regular monitoring of the risk management and internal control
systems is mainly conducted by the delegated executive directors
and senior management. With the oversight of the Audit Committee,
the delegated executive directors lead the senior management in
overseeing the design, implementation and monitoring of the risk

management and internal control systems.

Executive directors of the Company determine the business strategies
and objectives of the Group, and evaluate and determine the nature and
extent of risks the Group is willing to take in achieving the Group’s
strategic objectives and therefore are accountable for the effectiveness

of the risk management.

Senior management from different departments identifies and
evaluates the risks which may potentially impact the major business
processes, including key operational and financial processes,
regulatory compliance and information security, monitors the risks and

takes measures to mitigate risks in daily operations.

Periodic meetings are held between the delegated executive directors
and senior management. Standing instructions have been provided to
management of the Group that if any material issue relating to risk
management and internal control systems that may have or have had
a material impact on the business of the Group arise, it should be

reported on a timely basis.

Internal control procedures are designed to protect the Group’s assets
against misappropriation and disposition; ensure proper maintenance
of accounting records for provision of reliable financial information
used for business decision or publication; and to provide reasonable
assurance against material misstatement. The internal audit function
reviews the major operational, financial and compliance controls and
risk management function on a continuing basis to cover the major

operations of the Group.

The delegated executive directors and senior management has reported
to the Board the effectiveness of the risk management and internal
control systems for the year under review. The Board has reviewed
the effectiveness of the systems including the adequacy of resources,
staff qualifications and experience of the Group’s accounting and
financial reporting functions and considers that the risk management

and internal control systems of the Group are effective and adequate.

The Company has developed its disclosure policy which provides a
general guide to the Company’s directors, officers, senior management
and relevant employees in handling inside information, monitoring

information disclosure and responding to enquiries.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Mr. Nam Chi Ming, Gibson, an executive director of the Company,
is the company secretary. During the year under review, Mr. Nam

undertook more than 15 hours of relevant professional training.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Convening of Extraordinary General Meeting by Shareholders

Pursuant to Article 73 of the Articles of Association, the Board may,
whenever it thinks fit, convene an extraordinary general meeting.
General meetings shall also be convened on the written requisition
of shareholders holding at the date of deposit not less than one-
tenth of the paid up capital of the Company which carries the right to
vote deposited at the principal office of the Company in Hong Kong
specifying the objects of the meeting and signed by the requisitionists.

If the Board does not within 30 days from the date of deposit of the
requisition proceed to convene the general meeting, the requisitionists
themselves may convene the general meeting in the same manner, as
nearly as possible, as that in which meetings may be convened by the
Board, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionists as
a result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to them by the
Company.

Proposing a Person for Election as a Director

The procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director of the Company are available for viewing on the Company’s

website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk.

Shareholders’ Enquiries and Proposals

Shareholders may send their enquiries or requests for putting forward
proposals at shareholders’ meetings to the Company’s principal place
of business in Hong Kong at 21/F., Manhattan Place, No. 23 Wang
Tai Road, Kowloon Bay, Kowloon, Hong Kong for the attention of the

Company Secretary.
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COMMUNICATION WITH
SHAREHOLDERS

The Board has adopted a Shareholders” Communication Policy
reflecting mostly current practices of the Company for communication
with its shareholders. Such policy aims at disseminating information
in relation to the Group to shareholders in a timely manner through a
number of formal channels, which include interim and annual reports,
announcements and circulars, and is reviewed regularly by the Board

to ensure its effectiveness.

The Company maintains a website at http://www.fourseasgroup.com.hk
as a communication platform with shareholders and investors, where
information and updates on the Company’s announcements, business
developments/operations and other information are available for public

access.

The Company’s annual general meeting provides a forum for
communication between the Board and the shareholders. The chairmen
of the Board and Board committees actively participate in the annual
general meeting and answer questions from the shareholders. Notice
of the annual general meeting is sent to the shareholders at least 20
clear business days before the meeting. All resolutions put forward
at shareholder meetings including the annual general meeting will be
voted on by poll pursuant to the Listing Rules and the poll results will
be posted on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange

after each shareholder meeting.

During the year under review, the Company has not made any
changes to its Articles of Association. A consolidated version of the
Memorandum and Articles of Association of the Company is available

on the websites of the Company and the Stock Exchange.
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DIVIDEND POLICY

1.

Purpose

This dividend policy of the Company (“Dividend Policy”) sets
out the principles and guidelines in relation to the declaration,
payment or distribution of the Company’s distributable reserves

as dividends to its shareholders.

Principles

2.1 Tt is the goal of the Company to maintain a balance between
meeting expectations of shareholders of the Company and
prudent capital management with a sustainable dividend

policy.

2.2 In considering the payment of dividends of the Company,
shareholders of the Company shall be eligible to participate
in the Company’s profits whilst preserving the Company’s

liquidity to capture future growth opportunities.

Guidelines

In deciding whether to propose a dividend and in determining
the dividend amount, the Board of the Company shall take into

account, inter alia:

3.1 the general financial condition and the liquidity position of
the Group;

3.2 the actual and expected financial performance of the Group;

3.3 corporate development plans of the Group;

3.4 the Group’s expected working capital requirements and
capital expenditure;

3.5 the retained profits and other distributable reserves of the

Company and other member companies of the Group;

3.6 the requirements and restrictions under the Companies Law
of the Cayman Islands and the memorandum and articles of

association of the Company;

3.7 general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s
business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and

position of the Group; and

3.8 any other factors that the Board may consider relevant.
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DIVIDEND POLICY (continued)

4.

Review of the Dividend Policy

The Board will review the Dividend Policy from time to time and
may exercise at its sole and absolute discretion to update, amend
and/or modify the Dividend Policy at any time as it deems fit and

necessary.

Form of Dividend Payment

The Company may declare and pay dividends by way of cash or
scrip or by other means that the Board considers appropriate.

This Dividend Policy shall in no way constitute a legally binding
commitment by the Company inrespect of its future dividend
and/or in no way obligate the Company to declare a dividend at
any time or from time to time.
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Ernst & Young RAKE RSB Tel B3 +852 2846 9888
27/F, One Taikoo Place EBBIABREEI7TIN Fax FH: +852 2868 4432
ﬁ* 979 King’s Road KEdh—E27# ey.com
Quarry Bay, Hong Kong
To the shareholders of Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited 0 AR A BE A v A B OR

(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Four Seas
Mercantile Holdings Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 77 to 227, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 March 2021, and
the consolidated statement of profit or loss, the consolidated statement
of comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a

summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31
March 2021, and of its consolidated financial performance and its
consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the
Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards
on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance
with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants
(the “Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities
in accordance with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we
have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our

opinion.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in that context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the

accompanying consolidated financial statements.

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

P~ JETE B AL R ~ Tos7 B it i it 1

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had goodwill of HK$125,396,000,
intangible assets of HK$74,285,000 and property, plant and
equipment of HK$1,026,594,000, including right-of-use assets of
HK$466,104,000. The Group is required to perform impairment test
for goodwill at least on an annual basis, and intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment where an indicator of impairment of
these assets exists. The impairment test is based on the recoverable
amounts of cash-generating units to which the goodwill, intangible
assets and property, plant and equipment are associated with.
Impairment losses of HK$8,000,000 have been recorded to reduce the
carrying amount of certain property, plant and equipment, including
right-of-use assets, to their estimated recoverable amounts.
REFZ-F=EA=1H > B Z R 25125,396,000% G -
Y ¥ 1374,285,0009 JC DA KW 3 ~ B 55 K i %51,026,594,0009%
TC > 55 5 I RE ¥ A2 466,104,000 78 o § 48 [ fie A 547 ZEUBE T 2
VAR A7 A0 B WA B 5 2 ST R ~ W 3 - W s A AT M
TR o VoA B0 B i B ST DA Je 3 - WS I B B 2
B4 A A AL 2 AT ] G WORE AT o T 8 I B A $648,000,0009 T
VIS T3 ~ W bs M s it (60 456 B FHRE 5 7 ) - M i i 9k 2 Al
FE AT A o

We performed the following procedures in relation
to impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment:

A Cowt v~ METE A DA RS - W i W
AT T AR ¢

. evaluating management’s impairment
assessments based on the Group’s accounting
policies and procedures, and our understanding
of the Group’s business;

o R BRMZEEBORAER D RERME B
A S 2 B AR Al A LR 2 WA A 5
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
B S e
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

% T PR A v o M 3

Impairment of goodwill, intangible assets and property, plant and equipment (continued)

PR~ HEIEE LR ~ Jp? R fyhitd (47)

When performing the impairment tests, management determined the
recoverable amounts of the relevant cash-generating units as at 31
March 2021 based on value-in-use calculations using the discounted
cash flow method. Management’s assessment process involves
significant judgements and assumptions, including the expected future
cash flow forecasts, associated growth rates and the discount rates
applied, which were sensitive for expected future market conditions
and cash-generating units’ actual performance.

TAHEAT WA kIR - A L OB PR B 4 U0 M Bk W B 0
BB EE AR R EEAE R o
L B RE A TR PP 2 S A B % TSI R 2 T 0 B B 4 s A B AL T B R
BB T B BB - IS U OR B B B ~ MIBR H R R
B i HE i Z B B o

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3, 14, 17 and 18 to the

consolidated financial statements.

R B 48 8 S SO A 5 S 2 7 B3 > 14~ 17818 o
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examining and recalculating management’s
discounted cash flow projections for the
determination of value-in-use and assessing
key assumptions such as the budgeted gross
margin and growth rates by comparison to recent
historical financial performance of the cash-
generating units;

A N HHT R A B R P AR 2 B
BlE T > B2 i b e B 4 s A WA 2 de
A8 A 5 A B AR A 2 BB > Bl n LA B A
REHERE

performing sensitivity analysis on the key
assumptions and discounted cash flow
projections; and

3 AR S B B Y T A AT RO 5 A 3
R

involving our valuation expert to assist us
with our assessment of the discount rates or
making reference to market data and comparable
companies in the industry for the discount rates
used in determining the recoverable amounts of
the cash-generating units.

AP 7 R B4 A L R T 4 I O
Z BRI F o B A A K T B
M REAGREBLR > KB H W GBI RATHRZ W
AT -
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

W T PR A v o M 3

Recoverability of trade receivables

HEN 57 53 6 ik 2 AT AR [T 1

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had gross trade receivables of
HK$783,094,000 before impairment of HK$1,650,000. The Group’s
accounting for impairment on trade receivables was based on a
forward-looking expected credit loss (“ECL”) approach, and the
measurement on the Group’s trade receivables under such approach
was estimated by management through the application of judgements
and use of highly subjective assumptions. The impact of economic
factors, both current and future, and forward-looking factors specific
to the debtors were also considered in management’s assessment of the
likelihood of recovery from customers.

REZFZFE=ZHA=1—H AREZERESRREES
783,094,000 72 (411 BRI 1,650,0009 TC 1) o 54 M G W B 5 Bk
R Pt D B B T A T AR ARG (TR R )
o MBI HE R 5 IR R A B
FA A AR A R e R R IR B o A B R R R A 4 % P Wi el T
HEPE IF 0 C 2% B8 H A B R 2 S PR 3K % 85 N o e i I Pk PR 3

2 K

Due to the significance of trade receivables and the uncertainty
inherent in such estimates, we considered this as a key audit matter.
FhT B 5 MRk ) R P e % A A R A S e o R AN R
R UL Ty B F O o

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 22 to the consolidated
financial statements.

B 452 5 R O A% £ S 85 At PR k3 B 22 o

We performed the following procedures in relation to
recoverability of trade receivables:

B A LA e B 2 MRk T W I P AT R SRR

. evaluating the management’s expected credit
loss provisioning methodology, key data
input and the assumptions, including both
historical and forward-looking information,
used to determine the expected credit losses
by checking to the payment history, ageing of
the trade receivables, subsequent settlement
of the trade receivables and other relevant
information on a sampling basis;

. flBR A KT 8 - BB B IR 8 - I
W 5 5 M R AR 400 5 O D A A R R o AN
B S i A TR R R BT B o T A
B R 7 5 - B A\ SR R R B
135 38 B B W R R 5

. evaluating management’s procedures on aged
receivables on a sampling basis;

. SRR Pl A7 L S R 2 v ) MRS AR 5

. testing the ageing classification of receivables
on a sampling basis; and

. i e 0k M K M R 3 B %

. evaluating loss allowance rates based on the
current economic conditions and forward-
looking information.

. R4 T A A R R L % T IS e R R Al s 4R
B -
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS (continued)

Key audit matter
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter

T PR A v o M 3

Write-down of slow-moving inventories

As at 31 March 2021, the Group had inventories of HK$417,842,000.
The write-down of slow-moving inventories is estimated by
management through the application of significant judgement and
use of highly subjective assumptions on future sales estimation.
The specific factors considered by management in the estimation
of the provision include types of inventories, the conditions of the
inventories, expiration dates of the inventories, the forecast inventory
usage and sales.

RERZ-HFZA=1—H > BRERMZAFR 417,842,000 7T
IR i 8 A £ 7 P A L O 0 O A R R T RO B e
56 F e B T R AT A R o A BHLRE AE A S A IRF BT % R A 2
H& A RE - FERU - FEB H DL R HIZ R R &
IRV -

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 21 to the consolidated

financial statements.

B 452 % R O A% £ S 85 e o B k3 21 o
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We performed the following procedures in relation to

write-down of slow-moving inventories:

B A LRI B A AT T AR

. assessing and testing the Group’s processes and
controls over identifying and valuing obsolete,
damaged, slow-moving, excess and other
inventory items whose costs may not be fully
recoverable;

o PN R BB AR S I R WO A RE A BRCEE - 4R
B~ A AR B A AR BB A R IE R A 2 A7
B P R B

. evaluating the methodologies, input and
assumptions used by the management in
calculating the inventory provision by reviewing
subsequent sales quantity after the year end
and comparing with historical sales record on a
sampling basis; and

o HTRROZ TR B AR A HOAR 00 R AR G 45 O % B
A 0 T SR AT Y Bl 25 P A B A A R
86 WRE I P B 7 3 ~ i A BRI 5

. testing the subsequent usage of raw materials
and work-in-progress, and subsequent sales of
finished goods on a sampling basis.

o TBREUE AARE B 2 A i FC AR 0 A 0 R
B b ) AR 8 B R DL o
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How our audit addressed the key audit matter
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Purchase price allocation (“PPA”) related to business combination

fF G G O IEE AR ( [HEEEAH] )

During the year, the Group completed the additional acquisition of
55% equity interest in Miyata Holding Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries
(“Miyata Group”) on 16 April 2020, at a cash consideration of
Japanese Yen 1,000 (equivalent to HK$71). The Group performed
a PPA exercise for the acquisition, resulting in the recognition of
goodwill of HK$82,415,000 and intangible assets of HK$81,068,000.

BN BEER ZF RENA N H S BOROR R RRS
Ak R B g 2 w1 (T FHAR 1) BAbS 5% It » BLa A2 1,000 H
B CRE R 718 70) o 548 Pt Wi o A7 I i 20 T > TR e o
T 882,415,000 76 M M & #81,068,000% JC

Miyata Group is a renowned snack food and confectionery
distributor in Japan specialised in the wholesaling and distribution of
confectionery products.

AR O FOASE R RO R A T o BT R R A B K

As part of the PPA exercise, management of the Company identified
intangible assets relating to customer relationships and performed
an estimation of the fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and
liabilities assumed. In this exercise, management engaged independent
valuers to perform the valuation of certain assets of the Miyata Group,
including the leasehold land and buildings.

% i EL AR Y O R — R 2 > B2 WA B sk o % 5 R R R B A T
B > Sl 3 P WA 4 T S A T R A B AR A P AT A
Ao fEIE T T AR b > 45 B Rg 22 1 8 S AW A A AR B T
BEMEATAG A > GRS s oy o

We performed the following procedures in relation
to purchase price allocation related to the business

combination:

BA CBAT B SR £ OF i R 0 MO AT R SRR )T

. assessing the competence and objectivity of the
independent professional valuers engaged by
management;

o RTINS B I B0 S B A AR BE O R &
Bl s

. discussing with management the purchase price
allocation process of the Group;

o BRATPHUEREER B A A OB AR

. assessing management’s identification of the
Miyata Group’s assets and liabilities acquired at
the acquisition date;

o RPN B O HORT O Y R AR A X
B 5
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Purchase price allocation (“PPA”) related to business combination (continued)

HHFEB G ORI IR ( [IEEAAE] ) (4)

The determination of fair values of the identifiable assets acquired .
and liabilities assumed, including the identification of intangible

assets, required significant management judgement in estimating the
underlying assumptions to be applied. .
A O WAL T e 1 S B BT R AR SR AP (L i S S )

T B B S 5K M I B A AR AT ) R KO B o

Relevant disclosures are included in notes 3 and 34 to the consolidated

financial statements.

R I 48 8 SR SO A 5 S 2 o Y 3 B 34 o
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evaluating the assumptions adopted by
management in the cash flow forecasts used in
the valuation; and

AP Al A B R Al L R P R B < R T P R
B 3 K

involving our valuation expert to assist
us with our assessment of the valuation
methodology applied in the PPA exercise and
the appropriateness of the key assumptions used
in determining the valuation of intangible assets
relating to customer relationships, and discount
rates adopted.

FA B A S 5K 2 B DA b B AP 0 A 0 L 4
TiC Fie M P W A D7 9 > DA R EE % P BB AN
IoR 88 T2 S 7 2 A T B PR O R R A > B BT AR
B S B Y 5 A o



OTHER INFORMATION INCLUDED IN
THE ANNUAL REPORT

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements

and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that

fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

RESPONSIBILITIES OF THE DIRECTORS
FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL
STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to

cease operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial

reporting process.

Independent Auditor’s Report
T8 3 A% B S

TSR A7 B B P ST A4S B
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T CEAT A AR > SR IRA GRS I AR AR AE T
KB > FAM 5 B o AR iE T > K
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this

report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these

consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of

internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion

on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures

made by the directors.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to

cease to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair

presentation.

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for

our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant audit
findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that

we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.

Independent Auditor’s Report
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AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR
THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS (continued)

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such

communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent

auditor’s report is Ki Wing Yee, Winnie.

Ernst & Young
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong
29 June 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss

Year ended 31 March 2021 #&FE & .

A HIER @1@

—HEEH=E+ HIRSE

2021 2020
TR AR CRORE
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mt BT Vot an
REVENUE WA 5 4,579,837 2,928,037
Cost of sales & B R AR (3,701,333) (2,075,446)
Gross profit EBF 878,504 852,591
Other income and gains/(losses), net HoAtg A R Wess
() > HH 5 28,318 22,601
Selling and distribution expenses e RSHEH (464,200) (539,632)
Administrative expenses AT BB X (349,692) (284,693)
Other operating expenses At 28 4 BH (19,452) (27,501)
Finance costs il AR 7 (28,997) (31,790)
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Bk 22 A ] s ) &% e 4R 11,664 8,748
PROFIT BEFORE TAX B3 B Wi ¥t A 8 56,145 324
Income tax expense J 4% B BH 52 11 (24,497) (14,603)
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR AERBRA S OER) 31,648 (14,279)
Attributable to: BB .
Equity holders of the Company ARAFIMER A & 30,127 (19,808)
Non-controlling interests I b R HE 1,521 5,529
31,648 (14,279)
HK cents HK cents
A A
EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE AN BRI A
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY A 55 B 28 R/ O 4L
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
— Basic and diluted — B T 13 7.8 (5.2)

Y A AR A ﬂ
—E--FFH
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income

() Year ended 31 March 2021 & FE - . —4E=A=+—H IL4FE
2021 2020
e = =
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT T
PROFIT/(LOSS) FOR THE YEAR A A/ Ol 41) 31,648 (14,279)
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) JCfib 2 i e 22/ O 1)
Other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be AR 7 A AT ] GE B P A
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: EHZHME IR
1) :
Exchange differences: [
Exchange differences on translation of WG AP S 2 T S0 22
foreign operations 71,484 (57,164)
Share of other comprehensive income/(loss) of JE AL W 42 2 ) Al 2 T
associates Wz, (1) 3,433 (2,476)
Net other comprehensive income/(loss) that may be TFTRAE 12 T [ AT GE W
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods Rz Z HM 2N 2 1E)
% 74,917 (59,640)
Other comprehensive income that will not be AEN IR R B E
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods: Has 2 H A2 TR -
Financial assets at fair value through other 20N -6 775 3 H At 2 i M 2%
comprehensive income: AR B 4 T E
Changes in fair value AR -3 9,786 -
Income tax effect JiT 45 Bt 5 ¢ (3,353) -
Defined benefit obligations: R ERP R -
Gains on remeasurement EH I RZ WS 1,847 -
Income tax effect - o 5 2 (632) -
Net other comprehensive income that will not be AFAS B 1 1 I 7 A0 B
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods 18 7 Z A 2 I 48 73 A 7,648 -
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) A 4 b 2w A Ol R)
FOR THE YEAR, NET OF TAX BBt #% 82,565 (59,640)
TOTAL COMPREHENSIVE INCOME/(LOSS) A g 4 A A O L)
FOR THE YEAR 114,213 (73,919)
Attributable to: BB .
Equity holders of the Company AR RERR A % 107,852 (78,192)
Non-controlling interests Ik e B HE 25 6,361 4,273
114,213 (73,919)

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021




Consolidated Statement of Financial Position

(/<Z::7
mammknE G20
31 March 2021 —~&F_-—#=H=+—H
2021 2020
e =
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Mt ik BT BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS T Ui B 9 il
Property, plant and equipment Wk~ R B GR A 14 1,026,594 937,966
Investment properties "EWE 16 42,469 19,037
Goodwill = 17 125,396 42,858
Other intangible assets oA T2 & 18 74,285 321
Investments in associates NS AT ZH/E 19 172,463 155,107
Financial assets at fair value through A B BEEARNY
profit or loss S ELE 24 31,635 33,340
Financial assets at fair value through other 220 -6 725 4 H: At 2 i Wi
comprehensive income % A MR BG4 BlE & 20 20,009 1
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEA 3KIE ~ 7T 4 B 3t R
Wk | 23 31,111 28,426
Deferred tax assets W AEBLIE A 30 20,841 7,996
Total non-current assets JE VR B B AR 1,544,803 1,225,052
CURRENT ASSETS i By ¥
Inventories peyty 21 417,842 345,511
Trade receivables JE W B 5 Rk 22 781,444 528,382
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TEAT #RIE ~ 5T 4 B At g
Wk I 23 199,138 244,495
Tax recoverable ] U el ol I 371 2,001
Financial assets at fair value through AT EBEBRERDARN
profit or loss S hE 24 39,186 41,354
Derivative financial assets A & il 27 828 -
Cash and cash equivalents B&E B &FMEEE 25 577,227 506,981
Total current assets B A A 2,016,036 1,668,724
CURRENT LIABILITIES i B £ 0
Trade payables, other payables and accruals WA B 5 R Ak~ At JE A
AR I B £ A 26 599,803 330,391
Interest-bearing bank borrowings AT B Z SRAT B 28 963,052 699,424
Lease liabilities MERH 15 123,651 133,074
Tax payable R A B T 21,907 7,543
Total current liabilities HE R R 1,708,413 1,170,432
NET CURRENT ASSETS i ) ¥ ¥ 307,623 498,292
TOTAL ASSETS LESS CURRENT B8 e R ) £ A
LIABILITIES 1,852,426 1,723,344
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<% Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
M%%%)%ﬁ%%%%%

31 March 2021 & _=—4F=H=1+—H

2021 2020
S = =i
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M &t W T BT T
NON-CURRENT LIABILITIES Ik i ) £1
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH S AT R B 2 SRAT Bk 28 194,384 60,000
Lease liabilities LS B % 15 217,960 302,063
Other payables and accruals At JRE Ak 5K JEL e M i AR 26 4,524 -
Defined benefit obligations B8 e A AR 29 7,284 -
Deferred tax liabilities A% S B I £ A5 30 50,491 16,083
Total non-current liabilities IR B A AE 1 474,643 378,146
Net assets g e il 1,377,783 1,345,198
EQUITY HE 2%
Equity attributable to equity holders of B SR A AR 4 vl RE R P A H
the Company 1 HE 2%
Issued capital BT R AR 31 38,425 38,425
Reserves ikt 33 1,338,898 1,268,904
1,377,323 1,307,329
Non-controlling interests e B b 2% 460 37,869
Total equity 25 AR 1,377,783 1,345,198
TAI Tak Fung, Stephen ¥ MAN Wing Cheung, Ellis 3K
Director #HH Director #HH

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Attributable to equity holders of the Company

BRIARdRRHH%

Share Capital  Exchange Non-
Issued premium Reserve Capital  redemption  fluctuation Retained controlling Total
capital account funds reserve reserve reserve profits Total interests equity

ik (i 4] WAKH  ERNE FHR
173 BBk flie Yok ] Bl SRE it L T
Note HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS'000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS 000
it #FE #RFL R BT #EFL O BT B BIFL BFFD B

(note 31) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33) (note 33)
(i) W) )RR (KA
AT April 2019 RN 3845 199,301 15622 491 1531 BT LIS 142395 6% 1470
Profit/(loss) for the year ERigH/ (BH) - - - - - - (19,808) (19,808) 5529 (14.219)
Other comprehensive loss for the year: ERREES

Exchange differences on translation of foreign operations HTREHMER 2 - - - - - (58,384) - (58,384) (1,256) (59,640)
Total comprehensive loss for the year ERELTER - - - - - (58,384) (19,808) (78,192) 4m (13919)
Contribution by non-controlling interests FRudiy hiae - - - - - - - - 400 400
Acquisition of non-controlling interests WoRg S e e - - - - - - (369) (369) (219) (588)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders BAFPEERRHERE - - - - - - - - (1220) (120
Final 2019 dividend declared ERCE-NERARE 1 - - - - - - 97 (497 - (24977)
Interim 2020 dividend CECREHRE 1 - - - - - - (1158)  (115%) - (11528)
Transfer to reserve funds HERREA - - 9 - - - 92) - - -
At31 March 2020 REFZREZAZ-H 38425 199,301 15,714 4291% 1531 (05257 1073304 1307309 37869 1,345,198

oY A AR A
—E--FFHR




Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

Attributable to equity holders of the Company

RERAAIRRR A2
Fair value
eserve of
financial
assts at
fair value
through
Share other Capital Exchange Non-
Issued premium Reserve Capital ~ comprehensive ~ Remeaswrement ~ redemption ~ fluctation Retained controlling Total
capital account funds Teserve income Teserve Teserve Teserve profits Total interests equity
KAPE
IR
Nk
Uil ift 1174 WRHE  ERME Pl
ik il [l WARE  AVEEE  EHRE il ] I it S 1]
Noes HKS 000 HKS 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 000 HES 00 HES 00 HES 000 HKS 000 HKS 000 HKS000 HKS000
it e B B0 EE BiE0 B0 B B0 B B B0 BT
(note 31) (note 33) (nate 33) (note 33) (note 33)
. (Hit)
AT April 2020 REBZRER-R 38425 199301 15714 40 - - 1331 [EARA/ KK 1307329 7869 134519
Profit or the yer R - - - - - - - - 0127 0127 132 31,648
Othercomprehensive income for the year: ERibRTIE
Exchange diffrences on translation BIBERRERER
of foreign operaions - - - - - - - nmn - nmn 154 4917
Change n fair value of fnancial assets a Firvalve (AP EBREBATNENEN
through other comprehensive income, netof tax AREEZATERS IRRA - - - - 4303 - - - - 4303 1930 043
Remeasurement of defned benfit oliatons, net oftax - Eif st BRERAKE  MRRE - - - - 850 - - - 850 365 1215
Total compiehensive ncome for the year FRAAElE - - - - 40 830 - nn W 10785 .61 11423
Contrbution by non-controling interests FiRERE - - - - - - - - - - 5788 5788
Acquisiionof 2 sbsidiry TR U - - - - - - - - - - B3
Acquisiton of non-controlling inerests [y P2l - - - - - - - [ (139 (1359) 40 (041)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders EHTEBRIERE - - - - - - - - - - (14649) (14649)
Finl 2000 diidend declred ERCR-REAERE 11 - - - - - - - S - ()
Ineim 202 dend “B-EHARG 1 - - - - - - - - (%) 5 - (11528
Transer o resere funds BREREL - - 193 - - - - - (1936) - - -
AU March 2021 RoF-4=A=1-H 38425 199,301 17650¢ 401 4305 §30¢ 1331 anE LS 1 460 137178
* These reserve accounts comprise the consolidated reserves of * GEMBIEATAG M BRI ER ZEA A

HK$1,338,898,000 (2020: HK$1,268,904,000) in the consolidated

statement of financial position.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

D

/\\
\ O 314
maBlennk (2
Year ended 31 March 2021 E-FE - —F=H=+—H L4 o
2021 2020
TR ZRIR
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M &t BT W oo
CASH FLOWS FROM OPERATING REEHZAEEE
ACTIVITIES
Profit before tax I 36 T 4 AR 56,145 324
Adjustments for: R P & TE AR W R
Share of profits and losses of associates JRE A Tk 7 2 ] 6 A B g 4R (11,664) (8,748)
Bank interest income HRATHF BB 5 (2,005) (6,813)
Interest income Fl B BA 5 (5,331) -
Dividend income B B WA 5 (2,471) (5,040)
Net fair value losses on investment properties — #& & ¥ 2 2 A F1H I B &4 5 292 -
Net fair value losses on financial assets at fair 3% /A {5 75 3 $H 35 AR %) 4 Bl
value through profit or loss BREZAFEERSE 5 7,095 2,208
Fair value changes of derivative financial MAEmITHZ A FEE -
instruments, net bl 5 (660) -
Finance costs Al AR 7 28,997 31,790
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, 8 &% % -~ M2 K&
plant and equipment, net RHEE ZER o FE 8 3,812 483
Depreciation of items of property, plant and WE - MERRXHEEBZIE
equipment, except right-of-use assets 15 FH RE & 2 B b 8 77,884 61,447
Depreciation of right-of-use assets o I RE B W 8 151,325 140,235
Defined benefit expenses R 1w R BA 32 8 2,157 -
Gain on derecognition of A% 1 e RO D R O 2 W AR -
right-of-use assets, net por] 8 (10) (1,831)
Loss/(gain) on remeasurement of lease AR RAEAEZEER
liabilities, net (Wzk) » FHA 8 1 (53)
Amortisation of other intangible assets oAt 4 T2 3 o 2 PR A 8 5,210 219
Impairment of items of property, plant and W3k - R B E B Z WA >
equipment, except right-of-use assets 155 FH HE & 22 B A1 8 3,918 3,459
Impairment of right-of-use assets i F W& 2 2 WA 8 4,082 3,393
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) JE W B 5 M Ak 2 A, (48 18T 3
of trade receivables E) 8 (762) 10,654
COVID-19-related rent concessions from A A Z COVID-194 B fil 4
lessors Wk 8 (34,546) (7,748)
Write-down of slow-moving inventories W1 B ey 8 7,928 3,537
291,397 227,516
Decrease/(increase) in inventories BEZWA(Hm) 20,427 (5,748)
Decrease in trade receivables JE W BT 5 Rk 2 WA 115,796 20,715
Increase in prepayments, THAT AR ~ BT 4 B I il R sk 0B
deposits and other receivables Z K (26,788) (2,731)
Settlement of defined benefit obligations 18 £ 5 28 18 ) K i (1,107) -
Decrease in trade payables, JE A BT 53 MRk~ JH At B A Ak i S
other payables and accruals JRE R LA 2 i A (188,270) (4,389)
Cash generated from operations REEBH BB E 211,455 235,363
Interest portion of lease payments M E sk 2 M 88 4 15, 35(b) (9,690) (11,173)
Hong Kong profits tax paid A W R 15 B (4,162) (14,219)
Overseas taxes paid A il A58 3 (8,805) (4,718)
Net cash flows from operating activities REEHEZHEWNAGTH
— page 84 —84KH 188,798 205,253
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2021 2020
TR RO
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
M &t BT BT T

Net cash flows from operating activities R EBEZBEWAGH

— page 83 —83H 188,798 205,253
CASH FLOWS FROM INVESTING BHRBZBEHE

ACTIVITIES
Bank interest received 2R AT R B 2,005 6,813
Dividends received from listed investments W B i R 2,471 5,040
Dividends received from an associate W B 4% N =) B S 656 -
Purchases of items of property, plant and AP~ R Kk HIEE

equipment 14(a) (68,477) (43,719)
Proceeds from disposal of items of property, HEWE - WEAEHEEE

plant and equipment e F e 128 1,470
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets S 4 O F- {75 208 1R 25 AR

at fair value through profit or loss Z A Z AR 5,074 2,873
Purchases of financial assets at fair value i A% 2 A 25 008 18 25 AR

through profit or loss Z ATl A B (8,141) (7,233)
Purchase of financial assets at fair value W N 3% O S 75 18 HoAth

through other comprehensive income 2 T AR AR I 4 (608) (D
Decrease/(increase) in loan receivables JE W 85 3k A (3 ) 122,053 (122,053)
Acquisition of subsidiaries WSt I B g 2 ) 34 250,173 -
Capital return from an associate W8 A R Z B AR ] 1,460 -
Capital contribution in an associate EE & AF (511) -
Net cash flows from/(used in) investing activities & EBZHLRA (HE) FH 306,283 (156,810)

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021




Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2021 2020
TR ZRIR
Notes HK$°000 HK$’000
Mt BT W oo
CASH FLOWS FROM FINANCING MEEHZRERE
ACTIVITIES
New bank and trust receipt loans B R AT B RS st e Bk 1,708,950 1,093,495
Repayment of bank and trust receipt loans WITEZ L ETRBERZER (1,960,995) (1,036,390)
Interest paid A A& (19,307) (20,617)
Contribution by non-controlling interests JEE R 2R 800 400
Acquisition of non-controlling interests of W 5% B g 2 R =2 I e e A
subsidiaries (941) (588)
Principal portion of lease payments & A 3k 2 A 2 54y 35 (111,909) (121,935)
Dividends paid [R5 (36,505) (36,505)
Dividends paid to non-controlling shareholders B3 T FE 5 i it 3 i 8 (14,649) (1,221)
Net cash flows used in financing activities Tl 3 B 2 B AR (434,556) (123,361)
NET INCREASE/(DECREASE) IN CASH HA&KHL&%5M¥H
AND CASH EQUIVALENTS Wm, (32 60,525 (74,918)
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year 4] 2ZH 4 LB ESEEIEH 506,981 590,979
Effect of foreign exchange rate changes, net e R 5 W) B B2 > VR 9,721 (9,080)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AEBRZBER
AT END OF YEAR BReSHEXH 577,227 506,981
ANALYSIS OF BALANCES OF CASH AND # 4 K3 4% 4% H
CASH EQUIVALENTS B2
Cash and bank balances B4 B AT B A7 25 434,375 353,091
Time deposits E AR 25 142,852 153,890
Cash and cash equivalents Bl kBeSEHEE 577,227 506,981
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S



Notes to Financial Statements

WY R M

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION

Four Seas Mercantile Holdings Limited (the "Company") is a
limited liability company incorporated in the Cayman Islands.
The registered office of the Company is located at the office
of Sterling Trust (Cayman) Limited, with the address being
Whitehall House, 238 North Church Street, P.O. Box 1043,
George Town, Grand Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Islands.

During the year, the Group was principally engaged in
investment holding, manufacturing and trading of snack foods,
confectionery, beverages, frozen food products, noodles, ham
and ham-related products, and the operations of restaurants. The
Group acquired Miyata Holding Co. Ltd., and its subsidiaries
("Miyata Group"), which is a renowned snack food and
confectionery distributor in Japan specialised in the wholesaling
and distribution of confectionery products on 16 April 2020.
Further details of this acquisition are included in note 34 to the

financial statements.

Information about subsidiaries

Particulars of the Company's principal subsidiaries are as

1.

2wl B 45 MRk

U EEARAF (ARAF D % — K2
TE S RE AL 2 A BR A W] o AR B Z BE
BEALIA Sterling Trust (Cayman) LimitedZ # 2
= > #hk % Whitehall House, 238 North Church
Street, P.O. Box 1043, George Town, Grand
Cayman KY1-1102, Cayman Islands °

R REHZ REER LR - HER
PR B OR R EES Bk
B K K R B AL AR R o R
FAEMA TN H > A E KO RS
MREMBBAF (TEHEE] » RHARFH
P b A BT > S SR R K 4
B o AR TE WOME 2 — 2 R TR Y
B34 o

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR
AR T Z EEEH A A T

follows:
Issued ordinary/
registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business o A2 il MY B2 Vi Y T Principal
Name SEME L/ 30 a3} Direct Indirect activities
H Xl R B B e B AR H [GEES EN S 31
Champ Business Development Limited Hong Kong HK$20,000,000 - 70.0 Investment holding
R BRARA A i 20,000,000% 7C B M
Cowboy Food Company Limited Hong Kong HK$6,000,000 - 85.0 Manufacturing of
AR A A il 6,000,000% 7% snack foods
MR
Crowne Profits Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
5 JB I 4 B s 1% BBV
E-Options Technology Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100.0 Property holding
5 JB I 4 B B 1576 B 343,
Elegant Town Investments Limited Hong Kong HK$1 - 100.0 Investment holding
HEAR B A IR il 1t R

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



Notes to Financial Statements /g;
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2wl B 5 M EORL (50)

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()

Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business o A% i) M B 2 VT Y B Principal
Name FEM R X0 Direct Indirect activities
#H il RS B B4 B AR H# Il % TERH
Ever Media Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
il (2020: HKS1) BE I

10,000,000% 72

(CERE: 1)
Fancy Talent Ecommerce Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000,000 - 100.0 Sales of confectionery
REDTEEFHBARAR PR3 10,000,000 7t and food products
BB RER R
Fancy Talent Limited Hong Kong HK$100,000,000 - 100.0 Marketing of
TR AR i 100,000,000 7t snack foods
ANE 2T 5 4 B
Four Seas (Guangzhou) Food Import and PRC/ Mainland China RMB29,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
Export Trading Company Limited? kB A R29,000,00078 confectionery and food
P (BN £ bt th 0 B 5 R 7 products
WRRRHZHE S
Four Seas (Hebei) Food Company PRC/ Mainland China HK$24,000,000 - 100.0 Processing of
Limited? i VR PN 24,000,000 7 chestnuts
P Gl ) A R 2 A R L
Four Seas (Japan) Holdings Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investing holding
PO (HAR) 5 e A e vl i 10,0003 72 BE MR
Four Seas (Qingyuan) Tourism PRC/ Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding and
Development Company Limited” Ok B 20,000,000% 7T restaurant operations
VU (375 J ) T 58 o A R A WEVE IR R
BRELE
Four Seas (Shantou) Foods Industrial Park ~ PRC/ Mainland China HK$30,500,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Management Co., Ltd.A Ll DN 30,500,000 7C VIE2(T)d

U () . S B A
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Q Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

2wl B 5 M EORL (50)

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()

Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business (W% iy A% % ] ME AN B B Principal
Name FEM R 20 a3 ) Direct Indirect activities
#H Xl R B B4 B AR H# Il % FERH
Four Seas (Suzhou) Food Co., Ltd.* PRC/ Mainland China US$20,800,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
P (B £ A RRA w)A Ok B 20,800,000 76 of beverages
ki B

Four Seas (Yang Shan) Development PRC/ Mainland China HK$20,000,000 - 100.0 Property holding
Company Limited? Ll PN 20,000,000% 7t VIEZ(Y)d

PO (5 111 ) % Fe A 2 )

Four Seas Candy (Shantou) Co., Ltd.* PRC/ Mainland China HK$50,203,380 - 100.0 Manufacturing
PG A SR R ) A R i VR PN 50,203,380% G of candies
BRRE

Four Seas Candy Company Limited Hong Kong HK$50,550,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
DU B R A R 7 il 50,550,000% 76 BT
Four Seas Catering Enterprises Company Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
VO A S R R i 10,0009 76 BB
Four Seas China Holdings Limited British Virgin Islands US$1,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
VG A o A A R B i V2 4 B B 1,000,0003€ 76 BT
Four Seas Confectionery (Shantou) PRC/ Mainland China HK$33,320,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
Company Limited? R K 33,320,000% 7¢ of cakes
0 5 SRR A R A BRI
Four Seas Confectionery PRC/ Mainland China HK$22,000,000 - 80.0 Manufacturing
(Shenzhen) Co., Ltd.A ek B 22,000,0009 7C of snack foods
VR (RN A B 2 ] iNEY 3
Four Seas Ecommerce Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,900,000 - 100.0 E-commerce
WMNEFRERRAR B 2,900,0003 7t (2020: 90.5) retailing of
(R -F4:  confectionery and food

90.5) products

BREBMHZ

EFHHEE

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021



1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S il ek

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORL (50)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business o A% i) M B 2 VT Y B Principal
Name FEM R X0 Direct Indirect activities
#H il RS B B4 B AR H# Il % TERH
Four Seas Enterprises (BVI) Limited British Virgin Islands US$20,000 100.0 - Investment holding
KBTS 20,0003 7¢ BT
Four Seas Foods (Shantou) Co., Ltd." PRC/Mainland China HK$96,000,000 - 100.0 Trading
T i Gl BT) A7 R 7] A Gl VA PN 96,000,000% 7T in confectionery
and food products
R A dh
285
Four Seas Investment Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 100.0 - Investment holding
VG A 4 A R i 50,000,000 7& B
Four Seas Logistics Company Limited Hong Kong HK$200,000 - 100.0 Provision of
T i R A B 200,000% 70 transportation services
L
Four Seas Mercantile Limited Hong Kong (i) Ordinary - 100.0 Trading in
M 5 R AT Bl HK$200 snack foods,
(ii) Non-voting confectionery
deferred and beverages
HK$20,000,000 VB B R
()% 8 Bt 2009 7t B2 B 5
(i 4 45 5
AL By
20,000,0003 7
Four Seas Property Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$50,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
DM AR il 50,000,0003 7& BB
Four Seas Specialty Retailing Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 51.0 Trading in
Company Limited PRl 10,0003 G food products
MW EH R BmZHS
FS-Sushiyoshi Company Limited Hong Kong HK$2,000,000 - 55.0  Restaurant operations
il 2,000,0003 7 (2020: 47.0)" RERE
(e Jne 23
41.0)"

P o g B R 24
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Notes to Financial Statements
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Q Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.

2wl B 5 M EORL (50)

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()

Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business o A% i) M 2 VT Y B Principal
Name FEM R X Direct Indirect activities
H Xl R B B4 B AR H [GEES EX 371
Future Corporate Limited Hong Kong HK$10,000 - 100.0 Property holding
T 5 PR ) i 10,0003 76 E 0L
Guang Dong Fourseas Frozen PRC/ Mainland China RMBS§3,300,000 - 100.0 Trading in frozen
Food Products Co., Ltd.” kR AR ¥83,300,00000 food products
JEE T O A A R A and snack foods
& BR R

iN:P4-

Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., PRC/ Mainland China HK$6,000,000 - 33.2% Restaurant
Ltd.A Ll PN 6,000,000 7 operations
B 7% ) S AR A R A A BERE
Homeright Properties Limited British Virgin Islands US$1 - 100.0  Holding of trademarks
FMEERA A 5 JB I A B B 17 FE A T
Hong Kong Biscuit (International) Limited Hong Kong HK$40,000,000 - 99.3 Investment holding
O (B W) #7 IR A 7 i 40,000,000 7C BRI
Hong Kong Confectionery Company Limited Hong Kong HK$7,000,000 - 100.0 Investment holding
TR A A A i 7,000,000 7 BE R
Hong Kong Ham Holdings Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Manufacturing
s R M SR PR ) PRl 20% T and packaging
of ham and

ham-related

products

B RO KR

T T K B B

[FSCO Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong HK$57,200,000 100.0 - Investment holding
i 57,200,000 7 BRI

J.P. Inglis Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
SRl LA A RA i 1,000,0003 J& food materials

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #&FE & .

1. CORPORATE AND GROUP

INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

S 5 i B ik

—HEEH=E+ HIRSE

1.

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORL (50)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()

Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business o A% i) M B 2 VT Y B Principal
Name FR) A4 X0 Direct Indirect activities
H il RS B B4 B AR H# [GEES ERX 3
KTC Corporation Japan JPY10,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in cakes
JEE 5 5 7 Ak K 2 A A 10,000,000 H [ BT
Kung Tak Lam Shanghai Hong Kong HK$3,660,000 - 99.0 Restaurant
Vegetarian Cuisine Limited i 3,660,000% JC operations
HEREERRARAR BERE
Li Fook (Qingdao) Foods Co., Ltd.A PRC/ Mainland China US$5,220,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing
i (FE) BmfRAF R K 5,220,0003 7C of noodles
R

Men Taishou Co., Limited Hong Kong HKS$1 - 100.0 Restaurant operations
TR R A 6] B 1t BRERE
Miyata Co., Ltd.*** (“MYC”) Japan JPY50,000,000 - 70.0 Trading in
HHAEKX 240 ([MYC)) AA 50,000,000 H [H (2020- 15.0) snack foods
R ORE. and confectionery

15.0) INB RBER B 5

Miyata (Tianjin) International PRC/ Mainland China US$400,000 - 70.0 Trading in
Trading Co., Ltd. i VR PN 400,000 7t (2020: 15.0) snack foods
R 5 (R B R AT (CE R and confectionery
15.0) INERBER B 5

Murray Catering Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 70.0 Provision of
FER R A F i 1,000,000 70 lunch box and tuck
shop services

REBER

NG R

Namtien Noodle Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000 - 51.0 Manufacturing
R A R A i 1,000% 78 of noodles
TR

New Kondo Trading Company Limited Hong Kong HK$1,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in Japanese
TR % E WA W 1,000,000% 7C food materials

FA 2 il B 5

P o g B R 24
S

s‘\\;?
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1. Al BEMER (5)

INFORMATION (continued)
Information about subsidiaries (continued)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as

follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company

and business o A% i) M 2 VT Y B Principal
Name FEM R 20 a3 ) Direct Indirect activities
H Xl R B B4 B AR H# [GEES FERH
Nico Four Seas (Shantou) Co., Ltd." PRC/ Mainland China HK$28,000,000 - 60.0 Manufacturing of
R E P9 (Al g) A R 24 ) L VA PN 28,000,000 G seaweed products
SRR S

Nico-Nico Four Seas Company Limited Hong Kong HK$28,000,000 - 60.0 Investment holding
R A R A i 28,000,003 7 B
Okashi Land (Macau) Company Limited Macau MOP500,000 - 100.0  Retailer of snack foods
BT (R ARAR L 500,000% [ ] UN-F&9 1]
Restaurant Shiki Limited Hong Kong HK$3,200,000 - 100.0  Restaurant operations
il 3,200,000% 7t RERE

Tsun Fat (Huizhou) Biscuit PRC/ Mainland China HK$73,000,000 - 99.3 Manufacturing
Factory Limited? ST T PN 73,000,000% 7C of biscuits
B8 GEM ) B ez A B2 ) PR
T & M Advertising Company Limited Hong Kong HK$20 - 100.0 Advertising agency
PRBHARA i 2078 i A
IR S O] YA PRC/ Mainland China RMB3,500,000 - 100.0 Trading in
g o ok B (2020: confectionery

RMB500,000) and food

A\ B3,500,00070 products

CEIEE BREBHZHES

A R500,00078)

56 0 P 28 0 A PR A A PRC/ Mainland China HK$37,000,000 - 100.0 Manufacturing

L VA PN 37,000,000% 7¢ and packaging

of ham and

ham-related

products

LY IR T Y

Bl KB
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP 1.
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

Particulars of the Company’s principal subsidiaries are as
follows: (continued)

Issued ordinary/

2wl B 5 M EORL (50)

A7 B B D A W) 2 TR ()
Anvlz EEHEAFFEEDT : ()

registered
Place of and fully
incorporation/ paid-up Percentage of equity
registration capital attributable to the Company
and business A% iy 7 % ] ME AN Bl B Principal
Name FEM R X Direct Indirect activities
H Bl R B e IR AR ik Ih] FEEH
AR 5 (YD) A B 2w PRC/ Mainland China HK$5,600,000 - 100.0 Trading in
K B 5,600,0009 & food materials
BMIRZES
IG5 A F A PRC/ Mainland China HK$67,000,000 - 100.0 Trading in
G A PN 67,000,000 JC snacks and
confectionery
MEREERZHY
M R AR A R /A PRC/ Mainland China RMB73,959,210 - 99.0  Restaurant operations
(“GZ Panxi”) BB KR ARM73,959,2107 BIERE
(TR HEEZ D
o A A R A PRC/ Mainland China HK$1,300,000 - 51.0 Trading in
L VA PN 1,300,0009 76 food products
BMZH Y

* Guangzhou Sushi Oh Catering Co., Ltd. is a subsidiary of a non-
wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and, accordingly, is
accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the Company's control

over it.

#%  As at 31 March 2020, FS-Sushiyoshi Company Limited was a
subsidiary of a non-wholly-owned subsidiary of the Company and,
accordingly, was accounted for as a subsidiary by virtue of the
Company's control over it.

*#% On 24 November 2020, Miyata Holding Co., Ltd. ("Miyata
Holding") was merged to its subsidiary, MYC (the "Merger").
MYC, being the surviving company after the Merger, succeeded
all the assets, liabilities, rights and obligations of Miyata Holding
which ceased to exist after the Merger becoming effective.

o ORMFARREARARAAAF - RKERE
WEF B 2 W] 2 B W) o BRI R AR A F B 2
$5¢ 1 o 1) A0 Y D 2 D o

e AR ZRIE=ZH =+ —H > FS-Sushiyoshi
Company Limited % A< 2 5] — Ik 22 & Wi} a5 2 #]
Z W T s R A AR O ) S M 22 4 ) E
B Kt g A ] e

s TR IREL I H > H R AR
oAb R )WL E A RIMYCH BT &
PED) o MYCH f F R 2 BB A T > SEAER T
W Z A R B BN S o
FH 422 07 5 B 2 BOARAS PR AR AE o

Y A AR A m
—E--FFH
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1. CORPORATE AND GROUP
INFORMATION (continued)

Information about subsidiaries (continued)

A These subsidiaries are registered as wholly-foreign-owned
enterprises under PRC law.

A This subsidiary is registered as a Sino-foreign co-operative joint
venture under PRC law.

# Pursuant to the stock purchase agreement entered into by the
Group and J&# N 7 7% ¥ 18\ R8O B A & 2 B 45 BLR) (the
"Vendor") for the acquisition of GZ Panxi, the Vendor retains a
1% shareholding in GZ Panxi and is not entitled to any share of
the profit or loss in GZ Panxi nor has the right to participate in the
operation or management of GZ Panxi but has the veto right in the
following:

—  the alteration of the tax registration of GZ Panxi in

Liwan District, Guangzhou, the PRC;

—  the alteration of the use of the building occupied by
GZ Panxi other than the Cantonese style restaurant

operation; and
- the use of the trademark of GZ Panxi.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Company which, in
the opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for
the year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other subsidiaries would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION 2.1 % W3k e

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with
Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards ("HKFRSs") (which
include all Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards, Hong
Kong Accounting Standards ("HKASs") and Interpretations)
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public
Accountants ("HKICPA"), accounting principles generally
accepted in Hong Kong and the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. They have been prepared
under the historical cost convention, except for investment
properties, financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income, derivative financial assets and defined benefit
obligations which have been measured at fair value. These
financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars ("HK$")
and all values are rounded to the nearest thousand except when
otherwise indicated.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements include the financial
statements of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the "Group") for the year ended 31 March 2021. A
subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity), directly or
indirectly, controlled by the Company. Control is achieved when
the Group is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its
involvement with the investee and has the ability to affect those
returns through its power over the investee (i.e., existing rights
that give the Group the current ability to direct the relevant

activities of the investee).

When the Company has, directly or indirectly, less than a
majority of the voting or similar rights of an investee, the Group
considers all relevant facts and circumstances in assessing

whether it has power over an investee, including:

(a) the contractual arrangement with the other vote holders of

the investee;

(b) rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

(c) the Group's voting rights and potential voting rights.

The financial statements of the subsidiaries are prepared for
the same reporting period as the Company, using consistent
accounting policies. The results of subsidiaries are consolidated
from the date on which the Group obtains control, and continue to
be consolidated until the date that such control ceases.

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

A< B 5 A T AR A o A ([ A ot
Hill 2 7 1) A 2 7 s S i R ) (T v B
ot A 1) CH b S5 A A W B s B A
AW EE L ([ g el ) maeg) - &
WA R A Z T At > DL WA R Y
BB RLE MR - BB B - A T BB E
EWN U oS < /N R (e 4 B S (AT
2 AR B S R - A A A R R E AR
ARG O AT AL > A 35 3R AR 5 I
BRA G o A B WAL W RS > BRI A
REWIE AL > A BOE 3 E Ar E  OE T -

5 M H 2k v

A SV S R A A ) KL R A D (A
[(REMD)RE-F-~FE=A=1+—HIL4E
JRE A 2 o o R 4 ) O AR D LR R
Pt i TOHY (LR ASHEPETTIE) o RS I I O
2 B B 3 G000 3% T8 ) K 32 37 1B ] 2 I
A AR B [ A > I BRI R 1
GZHED) (BT ACSR I BLA BE ) 48 51 80 3
G R A 455 B = B A7 HE ) 5% 5% 55 o] e kg o B
IS 5 i Bl

A AT BEER MR D RBERZ RS
U SR OB A > AR R R AN LR
B4 B S R ) 25 R T A R B
U B

(a) SLBEHZIMBEIHSA NPT Z 64
L

(b) HoAl & # L HEFT AR ZHER 5
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EF J 2> 1 S A 2 ) Y B B i A 0 S A
] > 3 4R ) — Byt BoR A R o B e 2wl 3

BRI AR A P I PR A AR > IR AR
A ANREZ SRR LZ H Rk -

P o g B R 24
S




Notes to Financial Statements

WY R M

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.1 BASIS OF PREPARATION (continued)

Basis of consolidation (continued)

Profit or loss and each component of other comprehensive
income are attributed to the owners of the Company and to
the non-controlling interests, even if this results in the non-
controlling interests having a deficit balance. All intra-group
assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses and cash flows
relating to transactions between members of the Group are

eliminated in full on consolidation.

The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if
facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control described above. A
change in the ownership interest of a subsidiary, without a loss of
control, is accounted for as an equity transaction.

If the Group loses control over a subsidiary, it derecognises (i)
the assets (including goodwill) and liabilities of the subsidiary,
(ii) the carrying amount of any non-controlling interest and
(iii) the cumulative translation differences recorded in equity;
and recognises (i) the fair value of the consideration received,
(ii) the fair value of any investment retained and (iii) any
resulting surplus or deficit in profit or loss. The Group's share
of components previously recognised in other comprehensive
income is reclassified to profit or loss or retained profits, as
appropriate, on the same basis as would be required if the Group
had directly disposed of the related assets or liabilities.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.2 €l WOR R B i 2 2 )

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial
Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current year's financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 Definition of a Business
Amendments to HKFRS 9, Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material
and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for
Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described
below:

(a) Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
"Conceptual Framework") sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts or
requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework
did not have any significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

o
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(b) Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional

(c)

guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets to
be considered a business, it must include, at a minimum, an
input and a substantive process that together significantly
contribute to the ability to create output. A business can
exist without including all of the inputs and processes
needed to create outputs. The amendments remove the
assessment of whether market participants are capable of
acquiring the business and continue to produce outputs.
Instead, the focus is on whether acquired inputs and
acquired substantive processes together significantly
contribute to the ability to create outputs. The amendments
have also narrowed the definition of outputs to focus on
goods or services provided to customers, investment income
or other income from ordinary activities. Furthermore, the
amendments provide guidance to assess whether an acquired
process is substantive and introduce an optional fair
value concentration test to permit a simplified assessment
of whether an acquired set of activities and assets is
not a business. The Group has applied the amendments
prospectively to transactions or other events that occurred
on or after 1 April 2020. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the

Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before the
replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark with an
alternative risk-free rate ("RFR"). The amendments provide
temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting to continue
during the period of uncertainty before the introduction of
the alternative RFR. In addition, the amendments require
companies to provide additional information to investors
about their hedging relationships which are directly affected
by these uncertainties. The amendments did not have any
impact on the financial position and performance of the
Group as the Group does not have any interest rate hedging

relationships.
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2.2 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES
AND DISCLOSURES (continued)

(d) Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new

definition of material. The new definition states that

information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring

it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions

that the primary users of general purpose financial

statements make on the basis of those financial statements.

The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on

the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The

amendments did not have any significant impact on the

financial position and performance of the Group.

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised

HKFRSs, that have been issued but are not yet effective, in these

financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39, HKFRS 7,

HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 8

Amendments to HKAS 12

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
— Phase 2!

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and its
Associate or Joint Venture®

Insurance Contracts*
Insurance Contracts®’

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current*°

Property, Plant and Equipment:
Proceeds before Intended
Use®

Onerous Contracts — Cost of
Fulfilling a Contract®

Disclosure of Accounting
Policies*

Definition of Accounting
Estimates*

Deferred Tax related to Assets
and Liabilities arising from a
Single Transaction*

COVID-19-Related Rent
Concessions beyond
30 June 2021

Amendments to HKFRS 1,
HKFRS 9, Illustrative
Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 413
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021
Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022

Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2023

3 No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption
© As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong

Kong Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements —
Classification by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a
Repayment on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align
the corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1 January 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described below.

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference to
the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for
an entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine
what constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies
that, for liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be
within the scope of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they
were incurred separately rather than assumed in a business
combination, an entity applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS
37 or HK(FRIC)-Int 21 respectively instead of the Conceptual
Framework. Furthermore, the amendments clarify that contingent
assets do not qualify for recognition at the acquisition date. The
Group expects to adopt the amendments prospectively from
1 April 2022. Since the amendments apply prospectively to
business combinations for which the acquisition date is on or
after the date of first application, the Group will not be affected

by these amendments on the date of transition.
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2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A i 2 7% s B B A

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The
Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow the
effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the carrying
amount when accounting for changes in the basis for determining
the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, if
the change is a direct consequence of the interest rate benchmark
reform and the new basis for determining the contractual
cash flows is economically equivalent to the previous basis
immediately preceding the change. In addition, the amendments
permit changes required by the interest rate benchmark reform
to be made to hedge designations and hedge documentation
without the hedging relationship being discontinued. Any gains
or losses that could arise on transition are dealt with through
the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to measure and recognise
hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments also provide a temporary
relief to entities from having to meet the separately identifiable
requirement when an RFR is designated as a risk component.
The relief allows an entity, upon designation of the hedge,
to assume that the separately identifiable requirement is met,
provided the entity reasonably expects the RFR risk component
to become separately identifiable within the next 24 months.
Furthermore, the amendments require an entity to disclose
additional information to enable users of financial statements
to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark reform on
an entity's financial instruments and risk management strategy.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2021 and shall be applied retrospectively, but

entities are not required to restate the comparative information.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank borrowings
denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign currencies based
on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rates as at 31 March 2021.
If the interest rates of these borrowings are replaced by RFRs in a
future period, the Group will apply this practical expedient upon
the modification of these borrowings when the "economically
equivalent” criterion is met and expects that no significant
modification gain or loss will arise as a result of applying the

amendments to these changes.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and in
HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The
amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss when
the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its
associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a transaction
involving assets that do not constitute a business, a gain or loss
resulting from the transaction is recognised in the investor's
profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated investor's interest
in that associate or joint venture. The amendments are to be
applied prospectively. The previous mandatory effective date of
amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) was removed
by the HKICPA in January 2016 and a new mandatory effective
date will be determined after the completion of a broader review
of accounting for associates and joint ventures. However, the

amendments are available for adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity's right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that the
entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered a
settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for annual
periods beginning on or after 1 April 2023 and shall be applied
retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The amendments
are not expected to have any significant impact on the Group's
financial statements.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE 2.3 O AH R A i 2 7% s B B A

HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting from
the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any proceeds
from selling items produced while bringing that asset to the
location and condition necessary for it to be capable of operating
in the manner intended by management. Instead, an entity
recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and the cost
of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are effective
for annual periods beginning on or after 1 April 2022 and shall
be applied retrospectively only to items of property, plant and
equipment made available for use on or after the beginning of
the earliest period presented in the financial statements in which
the entity first applies the amendments. Earlier application
is permitted. The amendments are not expected to have any

significant impact on the Group's financial statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the cost
of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate directly
to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract include
both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g., direct
labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that relate
directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract. The
amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or
after 1 April 2022 and shall be applied to contracts for which
an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the beginning
of the annual reporting period in which it first applies the
amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on

the Group's financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.3ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE
HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (continued)

Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, Illustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are

as follows:

. HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a new
or modified financial liability are substantially different
from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
include only those paid or received between the borrower
and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
borrower or lender on the other's behalf. An entity applies
the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on
or after 1 April 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
the Group's financial statements.

. HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments
from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
Illustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of lease

incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 24 FEEGHBORERE

ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Investments in associates

An associate is an entity in which the Group has a long term
interest of generally not less than 20% of the equity voting rights
and over which it is in a position to exercise significant influence.
Significant influence is the power to participate in the financial
and operating policy decisions of the investee, but is not control
or joint control over those policies.

The Group's investments in associates are stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position at the Group's share
of net assets under the equity method of accounting, less any
impairment losses. The Group's share of the post-acquisition
results and other comprehensive income of associates is included
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and consolidated
other comprehensive income, respectively. In addition, when
there has been a change recognised directly in the equity of
the associate, the Group recognises its share of any changes,
when applicable, in the consolidated statement of changes in
equity. Unrealised gains and losses resulting from transactions
between the Group and its associates are eliminated to the extent
of the Group's investments in the associates, except where
unrealised losses provide evidence of an impairment of the assets
transferred. Goodwill arising from the acquisition of associates is

included as part of the Group's investments in associates.

If an investment in an associate becomes an investment in a joint
venture or vice versa, the retained interest is not remeasured.
Instead, the investment continues to be accounted for under
the equity method. In all other cases, upon loss of significant
influence over the associate or joint control over the joint
venture, the Group measures and recognises any retained
investment at its fair value. Any difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture upon loss of significant
influence or joint control and the fair value of the retained
investment and proceeds from disposal is recognised in profit or

loss.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill

Business combinations are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred is measured at the
acquisition date fair value which is the sum of the acquisition
date fair values of assets transferred by the Group, liabilities
assumed by the Group to the former owners of the acquiree and
the equity interests issued by the Group in exchange for control
of the acquiree. For each business combination, the Group elects
whether to measure the non-controlling interests in the acquiree
that are present ownership interests and entitle their holders to a
proportionate share of net assets in the event of liquidation at fair
value or at the proportionate share of the acquiree's identifiable
net assets. All other components of non-controlling interests are
measured at fair value. Acquisition-related costs are expensed as

incurred.

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the

ability to create outputs.

When the Group acquires a business, it assesses the financial
assets and liabilities assumed for appropriate classification and
designation in accordance with the contractual terms, economic
circumstances and pertinent conditions as at the acquisition date.
This includes the separation of embedded derivatives in host
contracts of the acquiree.

If the business combination is achieved in stages, the previously
held equity interest is remeasured at its acquisition fair value and
any resulting gain or loss is recognised in profit or loss.

Any contingent consideration to be transferred by the acquirer
is recognised at fair value at the acquisition date. Contingent
consideration classified as an asset or liability is measured at
fair value with changes in fair value recognised in profit or
loss. Contingent consideration that is classified as equity is not
remeasured and subsequent settlement is accounted for within

equity.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Business combinations and goodwill (continued)

Goodwill is initially measured at cost, being the excess of
the aggregate of the consideration transferred, the amount
recognised for non-controlling interests and any fair value of the
Group's previously held equity interests in the acquiree over the
identifiable net assets acquired and liabilities assumed. If the sum
of this consideration and other items is lower than the fair value
of the net assets acquired, the difference is, after reassessment,

recognised in profit or loss as a gain on bargain purchase.

After initial recognition, goodwill is measured at cost less
any accumulated impairment losses. Goodwill is tested for
impairment annually or more frequently if events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the carrying value may be impaired.
The Group performs its annual impairment test of goodwill as
at 31 March. For the purpose of impairment testing, goodwill
acquired in a business combination is, from the acquisition date,
allocated to each of the Group's cash-generating units, or groups
of cash-generating units, that are expected to benefit from the
synergies of the combination, irrespective of whether other assets
or liabilities of the Group are assigned to those units or groups of

units.

Impairment is determined by assessing the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) to
which the goodwill relates. Where the recoverable amount of
the cash-generating unit (group of cash-generating units) is less
than the carrying amount, an impairment loss is recognised. An
impairment loss recognised for goodwill is not reversed in a

subsequent period.

Where goodwill has been allocated to a cash-generating unit
(or group of cash-generating units) and part of the operation
within that unit is disposed of, the goodwill associated with the
operation disposed of is included in the carrying amount of the
operation when determining the gain or loss on the disposal.
Goodwill disposed of in these circumstances is measured based
on the relative value of the operation disposed of and the portion
of the cash-generating unit retained.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement

The Group measures its investment properties and equity
investments at fair value at the end of each reporting period. Fair
value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid
to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between market
participants at the measurement date. The fair value measurement
is based on the presumption that the transaction to sell the asset
or transfer the liability takes place either in the principal market
for the asset or liability, or in the absence of a principal market,
in the most advantageous market for the asset or liability. The
principal or the most advantageous market must be accessible by
the Group. The fair value of an asset or a liability is measured
using the assumptions that market participants would use when
pricing the asset or liability, assuming that market participants act
in their economic best interest.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant's ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by selling
it to another market participant that would use the asset in its

highest and best use.

The Group uses valuation techniques that are appropriate in
the circumstances and for which sufficient data are available to
measure fair value, maximising the use of relevant observable

inputs and minimising the use of unobservable inputs.

All assets and liabilities for which fair value is measured or
disclosed in the financial statements are categorised within the
fair value hierarchy, described as follows, based on the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value measurement as a

whole:

Level 1 — based on quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities

Level 2 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest
level input that is significant to the fair value
measurement is observable, either directly or
indirectly

Level 3 — based on valuation techniques for which the lowest

level input that is significant to the fair value

measurement is unobservable
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Fair value measurement (continued)

For assets and liabilities that are recognised in the financial
statements on a recurring basis, the Group determines whether
transfers have occurred between levels in the hierarchy by
reassessing categorisation (based on the lowest level input that is
significant to the fair value measurement as a whole) at the end of
each reporting period.

Impairment of non-financial assets

Where an indication of impairment exists, or when annual
impairment testing for an asset is required (other than inventories,
deferred tax assets, financial assets and investment properties),
the asset's recoverable amount is estimated. An asset's
recoverable amount is the higher of the asset's or cash-generating
unit's value in use and its fair value less costs of disposal, and
is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not
generate cash inflows that are largely independent of those from
other assets or groups of assets, in which case the recoverable
amount is determined for the cash-generating unit to which the
asset belongs.

An impairment loss is recognised only if the carrying amount
of an asset exceeds its recoverable amount. In assessing value
in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their
present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks
specific to the asset. An impairment loss is charged to the
statement of profit or loss in the period in which it arises in those
expense categories consistent with the function of the impaired
asset, unless the asset is carried at a revalued amount, in which
case the impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the
relevant accounting policy for that revalued asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of non-financial assets (continued)

An assessment is made at the end of each reporting period as
to whether there is an indication that previously recognised
impairment losses may no longer exist or may have decreased.
If such an indication exists, the recoverable amount is estimated.
A previously recognised impairment loss of an asset other than
goodwill is reversed only if there has been a change in the
estimates used to determine the recoverable amount of that asset,
but not to an amount higher than the carrying amount that would
have been determined (net of any depreciation/amortisation) had
no impairment loss been recognised for the asset in prior years.
A reversal of such an impairment loss is credited to the statement
of profit or loss in the period in which it arises, unless the asset
is carried at a revalued amount, in which case the reversal of the
impairment loss is accounted for in accordance with the relevant

accounting policy for that revalued asset.

Related parties

A party is considered to be related to the Group if:

(a) the party is a person or a close member of that person's

family and that person
(i)  has control or joint control over the Group;
(ii) has significant influence over the Group; or

(iii) is a member of the key management personnel of the
Group or of a parent of the Group;

or
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Related parties (continued)

(b)

the party is an entity where any of the following conditions

applies:

()

(i)

(iii)

(iv)

(v)

(vi)

(vii)

the entity and the Group are members of the same

group;

one entity is an associate or joint venture of the other
entity (or of a parent, subsidiary or fellow subsidiary of
the other entity);

the entity and the Group are joint ventures of the same

third party;

one entity is a joint venture of a third entity and the

other entity is an associate of the third entity;

the entity is a post-employment benefit plan for the
benefit of employees of either the Group or an entity

related to the Group;

the entity is controlled or jointly controlled by a person
identified in (a);

a person identified in (a)(i) has significant influence
over the entity or is a member of the key management
personnel of the entity (or of a parent of the entity);

and

(viii)the entity, or any member of a group of which it is a

part, provides key management personnel services to

the Group or to the parent of the Group.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost or valuation less
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses. When an
item of property, plant and equipment is classified as held for
sale or when it is part of a disposal group classified as held for
sale, it is not depreciated and is accounted for in accordance with
HKFRS 5. The cost of an item of property, plant and equipment
comprises its purchase price and any directly attributable costs
of bringing the asset to its working condition and location for its
intended use.

Expenditure incurred after items of property, plant and equipment
have been put into operation, such as repairs and maintenance, is
normally charged to the statement of profit or loss in the period
in which it is incurred. In situations where the recognition criteria
are satisfied, the expenditure for a major inspection is capitalised
in the carrying amount of the asset as a replacement. Where
significant parts of property, plant and equipment are required
to be replaced at intervals, the Group recognises such parts as
individual assets with specific useful lives and depreciates them

accordingly.

Land and buildings, which are classified as right-of-use assets
and owned assets, are measured at fair value less any subsequent

accumulated depreciation and impairment losses.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Property, plant and equipment carried at revalued amounts in
the financial statements relating to periods ended before 30
September 1995 are not required to be regularly revalued when
the Group does not revalue their property, plant and equipment
subsequent to 1995. An annual transfer from the revaluation
reserve to retained profits is made for the difference between
the depreciation based on the revalued carrying amount of an
asset and the depreciation based on the asset's original cost.
On disposal of a revalued asset, the relevant portion of the
revaluation reserve realised in respect of previous valuations is

transferred to retained profits as a movement in reserves.

Depreciation is calculated on the straight-line basis to write
off the cost or valuation of each item of property, plant and
equipment to its residual value over its estimated useful life. The

principal annual rates used for this purpose are as follows:

Owned assets

Buildings 2% — 33'3%
Leasehold improvements 4%% — 33'3%
Furniture, fixtures and equipment 5% — 50%
Plant and machinery 10% — 50%
Motor vehicles 15% — 30%

No depreciation is provided for freehold land.

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset is available
for use). Right-of-use assets are measured at cost, less any
accumulated depreciation and any impairment losses, and
adjusted for any remeasurement of lease liabilities. The cost
of right-of-use assets includes the amount of lease liabilities
recognised, initial direct costs incurred, and lease payments made
at or before the commencement date less any lease incentives
received. Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line
basis over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful

lives of the assets as follows:
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Property, plant and equipment and depreciation (continued)

Right-of-use assets
Leasehold land
Buildings

Over the lease terms

Over the shorter of the lease terms
and 20 years

Furniture, fixtures and equipment Over the lease terms
Plant and machinery Over the lease terms
Motor vehicles Over the lease terms
If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by the end
of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise of a purchase
option, depreciation is calculated using the estimated useful life

of the asset.

Where parts of an item of property, plant and equipment have
different useful lives, the cost or valuation of that item is
allocated on a reasonable basis among the parts and each part
is depreciated separately. Residual values, useful lives and the
depreciation method are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at

least at each financial year end.

An item of property, plant and equipment including any
significant part initially recognised is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected from its use or
disposal. Any gain or loss on disposal or retirement recognised in
the statement of profit or loss in the year the asset is derecognised
is the difference between the net sales proceeds and the carrying

amount of the relevant asset.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investment properties

Investment properties are interests in land and building (including
the leasehold property held as a right-of-use asset which would
otherwise meet the definition of an investment property) held to
earn rental income and/or for capital appreciation, rather than
for use in the production or supply of goods or services or for
administrative purposes; or for sale in the ordinary course of
business. Such properties are measured initially at cost, including
transaction costs. Subsequent to initial recognition, investment
properties are stated at fair value, which reflects market
conditions at the end of the reporting period.

Gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value of
investment properties are included in the consolidated statement
of profit or loss in the year in which they arise.

Any gains or losses on the retirement or disposal of an investment
property are recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or
loss in the year of the retirement or disposal.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets acquired separately are measured on initial
recognition at cost. The cost of intangible assets acquired in a
business combination is the fair value at the date of acquisition.
The useful lives of intangible assets are assessed to be either
finite or indefinite. Intangible assets with finite lives are
subsequently amortised over the useful economic life and
assessed for impairment whenever there is an indication that the
intangible asset may be impaired. The amortisation period and the
amortisation method for an intangible asset with a finite useful

life are reviewed at least at each financial year end.

Backlog contracts, licences and customer relationships

Backlog contracts, licences and customer relationships are stated
at cost less any impairment losses and are amortised on the

straight-line basis over their estimated useful lives as follows:

Backlog contracts 3 years
Licenses 5 years
Customer relationships 6 — 15 years
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract is, or
contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract
conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a

period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases of
low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to make
lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the right to
use the underlying assets.

At inception or on reassessment of a contract that contains a lease
component and non-lease component(s), the Group adopts the
practical expedient not to separate non-lease component(s) and
to account for the lease component and the associated non-lease
component(s) (e.g., property management services for leases of

properties) as a single lease component.

(a) Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in the period
in which the event or condition that triggers the payment

occurs.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT
ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)

Group as a lessee (continued)

(a)

(b)

Lease liabilities (continued)

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities
is remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the
lease term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to
future lease payments resulting from a change in an index or
rate) or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.

The Group's lease liabilities are presented separately in the
consolidated statement of financial position.

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases (that is those leases
that have a lease term of 12 months or less from the
commencement date and do not contain a purchase option).
It also applies the recognition exemption for leases of low-
value assets to leases that are considered to be of low value.

When the Group enters into a lease in respect of a low-value
asset, the Group decides whether to capitalise the lease on a
lease-by-lease basis.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-value
assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis
over the lease term.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Leases (continued)
Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as either

an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially all
the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset are
classified as operating leases. When a contract contains lease
and non-lease components, the Group allocates the consideration
in the contract to each component on a relative stand-alone
selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for on a straight-
line basis over the lease terms and is included in revenue in the
statement of profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the period

in which they are earned.

Leases that transfer substantially all the risks and rewards
incidental to ownership of an underlying asset to the lessee are

accounted for as finance leases.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets are classified, at initial recognition, as
subsequently measured at amortised cost, fair value through other

comprehensive income, and fair value through profit or loss.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition
depends on the financial asset's contractual cash flow
characteristics and the Group's business model for managing
them. With the exception of trade receivables that do not contain
a significant financing component or for which the Group has
applied the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a
significant financing component, the Company initially measures
a financial asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial
asset not at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs.
Trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or for which the Group has applied the practical
expedient are measured at the transaction price determined under
HKFRS 15 in accordance with the policies set out for "Revenue

recognition" below.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured at
amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive income,
it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely payments
of principal and interest ("SPPI") on the principal amount
outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not SPPI
are classified and measured at fair value through profit or loss,

irrespective of the business model.

The Group's business model for managing financial assets
refers to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate
cash flows. The business model determines whether cash flows
will result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the
financial assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified

and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by

regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on their

classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to impairment.
Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss

when the asset is derecognised, modified or impaired.
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Notes to Financial Statements

WY R M

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Investments and other financial assets (continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32
Financial Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading.
The classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument

basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of profit or loss. Dividends are recognised as
other income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably, except
when the Group benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of
part of the cost of the financial asset, in which case, such gains
are recorded in other comprehensive income. Equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are

not subject to impairment assessment.

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the consolidated statement of financial position at fair value with
net changes in fair value recognised in the consolidated statement

of profit or loss.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss are also recognised as other
income in the statement of profit or loss when the right of
payment has been established, it is probable that the economic
benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the Group and
the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised when:

. the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;

or

. the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a "pass-through" arrangement; and either (a) the
Group has transferred substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither transferred nor
retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset,
but has transferred control of the asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk and
rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither transferred
nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards of the asset
nor transferred control of the asset, the Group continues to
recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the Group's
continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also recognises
an associated liability. The transferred asset and the associated
liability are measured on a basis that reflects the rights and
obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.
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Notes to Financial Statements

WY R M

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
("ECLs") for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and all
the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted at an
approximation of the original effective interest rate. The expected
cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of collateral held
or other credit enhancements that are integral to the contractual
terms.

General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses that result
from default events that are possible within the next 12 months (a
12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for which there has
been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition,
a loss allowance is required for credit losses expected over the
remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of the timing of the
default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit risk
on a financial instrument has increased significantly since initial
recognition. When making the assessment, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument as
at the reporting date with the risk of a default occurring on the
financial instrument as at the date of initial recognition and
considers reasonable and supportable information that is available
without undue cost or effort, including historical and forward-

looking information.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Impairment of financial assets (continued)
General approach (continued)

The Group considers a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is
unlikely to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full
before taking into account any credit enhancements held by
the Group. A financial asset is written off when there is no
reasonable expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables which apply the simplified approach as detailed
below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition and for
which the loss allowance is measured at an amount
equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition but that
are not credit-impaired financial assets and for which
the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 — Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or originated
credit-impaired) and for which the loss allowance is

measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables that do not contain a significant financing
component or when the Group applies the practical expedient
of not adjusting the effect of a significant financing component,
the Group applies the simplified approach in calculating ECLs.
Under the simplified approach, the Group does not track changes
in credit risk, but instead recognises a loss allowance based on
lifetime ECLs at each reporting date. The Group has established
a provision matrix that is based on its historical credit loss
experience, adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the

debtors and the economic environment.
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Notes to Financial Statements

WY R M

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging

instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and,
in the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly

attributable transaction costs.

The Group's financial liabilities include trade payables, other
payables and accruals, interest-bearing bank borrowings and lease

liabilities.

Subsequent measurement of financial liabilities at amortised
cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would
be immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains
and losses are recognised in profit or loss when the liabilities
are derecognised as well as through the effective interest rate

amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the consolidated

statement of profit or loss.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under
the liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

2.4 LRl BRI (5)

Bt £ %
VEY T2 ey

<2 7 B 0 G R IR 2 R A 4R T B AR R
s AMRZ S AU RO AR I
AT R i e s e TR Z AT A TR (i
W)

Fiv A 4 Tl 2 (0 28 5 2 P (0Tl e % vl 2 Bk I
5 B DA B M A s T > ) B i A 32 5 R
ﬂx o

ACHR ) 2 4k £UGE B F E AT B 5 R - LA
Pk B RE G LB - ZEBAT A8 2 SR AT B0 S AL
BRME-

HHEARA TS Z B BA R (X RN 25
A it 4t

AR HERRAR > S B S A SR % B
R DV B AT B MM B
KA A B IR o 0 775 8 516 i e a2 B
SlF: 7 4% T B A S5 AT 8 R e I 7 R R o

G A TP T B MO A ] i B
T ) SR T Rk — R 2 B O A AR
CRE RS 3N E = 329 WS
m o

b e B 4 i 10K

i BB T < SRR AT el S i i -
(EEF IR T

B S b E AR — BN DA ) 2
AR Z T — R EIUR BB AR
ARKBRAETT > B2 BB TT > QIR 2 4 1k
T i A T T AR o A B 2 R T <
Z 22 BN A A T R AR R -



Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to

realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Derivative financial instruments
Initial recognition and subsequent measurement

Derivative financial instruments are initially recognised at fair
value on the date on which a derivative contract is entered into
and are subsequently remeasured at fair value. Derivatives are
carried as assets when the fair value is positive and as liabilities
when the fair value is negative. Any gains or losses arising
from changes in fair value of derivatives are taken directly to

consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is determined on the weighted average basis and
includes all costs of purchase, costs of conversion, and other
costs incurred in bringing the inventories to their present location
and condition. In the case of work in progress and self-produced
finished goods, cost comprises direct materials, direct labour and
an appropriate proportion of overheads. Net realisable value is
based on estimated selling prices less any estimated costs to be

incurred to completion and disposal.
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Notes to Financial Statements

WY R M

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral

part of the Group's cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and at

banks, including term deposits, which are not restricted as to use.

Income tax

Income tax comprises current and deferred tax. Income tax
relating to items recognised outside profit or loss is recognised
outside profit or loss, either in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity.

Current tax assets and liabilities are measured at the amount
expected to be recovered from or paid to the taxation authorities,
based on tax rates (and tax laws) that have been enacted or
substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period, taking
into consideration interpretations and practices prevailing in the

countries in which the Group operates.

Deferred tax is provided, using the liability method, on all
temporary differences at the end of the reporting period between
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts

for financial reporting purposes.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for all taxable temporary

differences, except:

. when the deferred tax liability arises from the initial
recognition of goodwill or an asset or liability in a
transaction that is not a business combination and, at the
time of the transaction, affects neither the accounting profit

nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of taxable temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, when the
timing of the reversal of the temporary differences can be
controlled and it is probable that the temporary differences

will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all deductible temporary
differences, and the carryforward of unused tax credits and any
unused tax losses. Deferred tax assets are recognised to the extent
that it is probable that taxable profit will be available against
which the deductible temporary differences, and the carryforward
of unused tax credits and unused tax losses can be utilised,

except:

. when the deferred tax asset relating to the deductible
temporary differences arises from the initial recognition of
an asset or liability in a transaction that is not a business
combination and, at the time of the transaction, affects

neither the accounting profit nor taxable profit or loss; and

. in respect of deductible temporary differences associated
with investments in subsidiaries and associates, deferred tax
assets are only recognised to the extent that it is probable
that the temporary differences will reverse in the foreseeable
future and taxable profit will be available against which the

temporary differences can be utilised.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Income tax (continued)

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is
no longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available
to allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be utilised.
Unrecognised deferred tax assets are reassessed at the end of
each reporting period and are recognised to the extent that it has
become probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to

allow all or part of the deferred tax asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply to the period when the asset is realised
or the liability is settled, based on tax rates (and tax laws) that
have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of the
reporting period.

Deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities are offset if
and only if the Group has a legally enforceable right to set off
current tax assets and current tax liabilities and the deferred tax
assets and deferred tax liabilities relate to income taxes levied
by the same taxation authority on either the same taxable entity
or different taxable entities which intend either to settle current
tax liabilities and assets on a net basis, or to realise the assets
and settle the liabilities simultaneously, in each future period in
which significant amounts of deferred tax liabilities or assets are

expected to be settled or recovered.

Government grants

Government grants are recognised at their fair value where
there is reasonable assurance that the grant will be received
and all attaching conditions will be complied with. When the
grant relates to an expense item, it is recognised as income on a
systematic basis over the periods that the costs, for which it is

intended to compensate, are expensed.
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Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at an
amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group expects

to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with

the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Revenue recognition (continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
Sale of goods

Revenue from the sale of goods is recognised at the point in
time when control of the assets is transferred to the customer,

generally on delivery of the goods.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on an
index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting period

in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected life
of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when appropriate,

to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders' right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Contract liabilities

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

the customer).
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits
Pension schemes

The Group operates a defined contribution Mandatory Provident
Fund retirement benefit scheme (the "MPF Scheme") under
the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for those
employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF Scheme.
Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees'
basic salaries and are charged to the statement of profit or loss
as they become payable in accordance with the rules of the MPF
Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are held separately from
those of the Group in an independently administered fund. The
Group's employer contributions vest fully with the employees
when contributed into the MPF Scheme, except for the Group's
employer voluntary contributions, which are refunded to the
Group when the employee leaves employment prior to the
contributions vesting fully, in accordance with the rules of the
MPF Scheme.

The employees of the Group's subsidiaries which operate in
Mainland China are required to participate in a central pension
scheme operated by the local municipal government. These
subsidiaries are required to contribute 13% to 21% of their
payroll costs to the central pension scheme. The contributions are
charged to the statement of profit or loss as they become payable

in accordance with the rules of the central pension scheme.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Defined benefit obligations

The Group has unfunded defined benefit retirement plans which
cover all its qualifying employees and executive in Japan,
depending on their length of service, salary in the final years

leading up to retirement and the retirement factor.

The liability recognised in the consolidated statement of financial
position in respect of defined benefit pension plans is the present
value of the defined benefit obligation. The defined benefit
obligation is calculated annually by an independent actuary
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method. The
present value of the defined benefit obligation is determined by
discounting the estimated future cash outflows using interest
rates of high-quality corporate bonds that are denominated in
the currency in which the benefits will be paid, and that have
terms to maturity approximating the terms of the related pension
obligation. If there is no deep market in such bonds, the market

rates on government bonds are used.

Remeasurements of the defined benefit liability which include
actuarial gains and losses are recognised in other comprehensive
income in the period in which they arise and will not be
reclassified to profit or loss. Service costs and interest on the
defined benefit liability are recognised immediately in profit or

loss.

Interest on the defined benefit liability is determined by
multiplying the defined benefit liability by the discount rate used
to measure defined benefit obligation at the start of the annual
reporting period, taking account of any changes in the defined
benefit liability during the period as a result of contribution and

benefit payments.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Employees
(including directors) of the Group receive remuneration in
the form of share-based payments, whereby employees render
services as consideration for equity instruments ("equity-settled

transactions"), if any option is granted to the eligible employees.

The cost of equity-settled transactions with employees for grants
after 7 November 2002 is measured by reference to the fair value
at the date at which they are granted. The fair value is determined
by an external valuer using a binomial model or the Black-

Scholes model.

The cost of equity-settled transactions is recognised in employee
benefit expense, together with a corresponding increase in
equity, over the period in which the performance and/or service
conditions are fulfilled. The cumulative expense recognised for
equity-settled transactions at the end of each reporting period
until the vesting date reflects the extent to which the vesting
period has expired and the Group's best estimate of the number
of equity instruments that will ultimately vest. The charge or
credit to the statement of profit or loss for a period represents
the movement in the cumulative expense recognised as at the

beginning and end of that period.

Service and non-market performance conditions are not taken
into account when determining the grant date fair value of
awards, but the likelihood of the conditions being met is
assessed as part of the Group's best estimate of the number of
equity instruments that will ultimately vest. Market performance
conditions are reflected within the grant date fair value. Any
other conditions attached to an award, but without an associated
service requirement, are considered to be non-vesting conditions.
Non-vesting conditions are reflected in the fair value of an award
and lead to an immediate expensing of an award unless there are

also service and/or performance conditions.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Employee benefits (continued)
Share-based payments (continued)

For awards that do not ultimately vest because non-market
performance and/or service conditions have not been met,
no expense is recognised. Where awards include a market or
non-vesting condition, the transactions are treated as vesting
irrespective of whether the market or non-vesting condition is
satisfied, provided that all other performance and/or service
conditions are satisfied.

Where the terms of an equity-settled award are modified, as
a minimum an expense is recognised as if the terms had not
been modified, if the original terms of the award are met. In
addition, an expense is recognised for any modification that
increases the total fair value of the share-based payments, or is
otherwise beneficial to the employee as measured at the date of
modification.

Where an equity-settled award is cancelled, it is treated as
if it had vested on the date of cancellation, and any expense
not yet recognised for the award is recognised immediately.
This includes any award where non-vesting conditions within
the control of either the Group or the employee are not met.
However, if a new award is substituted for the cancelled award,
and is designated as a replacement award on the date that it is
granted, the cancelled and new awards are treated as if they were
a modification of the original award, as described in the previous
paragraph.

The dilutive effect of outstanding options is reflected as

additional share dilution in the computation of earnings per share.

Termination benefits

Termination benefits are recognised at the earlier of when the
Group can no longer withdraw the offer of those benefits and
when the Group recognises restructuring costs involving the

payment of termination benefits.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT 2.4 B G BOR N (5)

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, i.e., assets that
necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are capitalised as part of the cost of
those assets. The capitalisation of such borrowing costs ceases
when the assets are substantially ready for their intended use
or sale. Investment income earned on the temporary investment
of specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs capitalised. All other
borrowing costs are expensed in the period in which they are
incurred. Borrowing costs consist of interest and other costs that

an entity incurs in connection with the borrowing of funds.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed final

dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company's memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies

These financial statements are presented in Hong Kong dollars,
which is the Company's functional currency. Each entity in the
Group determines its own functional currency and items included
in the financial statements of each entity are measured using
that functional currency. Foreign currency transactions recorded
by the entities in the Group are initially recorded using their
respective functional currency rates prevailing at the dates of
the transactions. Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in
foreign currencies are translated at the functional currency rates
of exchange ruling at the end of the reporting period. Differences
arising on settlement or translation of monetary items are

recognised in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

Non-monetary items that are measured in terms of historical
cost in a foreign currency are translated using the exchange
rates at the dates of the initial transactions. Non-monetary items
measured at fair value in a foreign currency are translated using
the exchange rates at the date when the fair value was measured.
The gain or loss arising on translation of a non-monetary item
measured at fair value is treated in line with the recognition
of the gain or loss on change in fair value of the item (i.e.,
translation difference on the item whose fair value gain or loss
is recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss is
also recognised in other comprehensive income or profit or loss,

respectively).

In determining the exchange rate on initial recognition of the
related asset, expense or income on the derecognition of a non-
monetary asset or non-monetary liability relating to an advance
consideration, the date of initial transaction is the date on which
the Group initially recognises the non-monetary asset or non-
monetary liability arising from the advance consideration. If
there are multiple payments or receipts in advance, the Group
determines the transaction date for each payment or receipt of the

advance consideration.

The functional currencies of certain overseas subsidiaries and
associates are currencies other than the Hong Kong dollar. As at
the end of the reporting period, the assets and liabilities of these
entities are translated into Hong Kong dollars at the exchange
rates prevailing at the end of the reporting period and their
consolidated statements of profit or loss are translated into Hong

Kong dollars at the weighted average exchange rates for the year.
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2.4 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT

ACCOUNTING POLICIES (continued)

Foreign currencies (continued)

The resulting exchange differences are recognised in other
comprehensive income and accumulated in the exchange
fluctuation reserve. On disposal of a foreign operation, the
component of other comprehensive income relating to that
particular foreign operation is recognised in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

Any goodwill arising on the acquisition of a foreign operation
and any fair value adjustments to the carrying amounts of assets
and liabilities arising on acquisition are treated as assets and
liabilities of the foreign operation and translated at the closing

rate.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows, the
cash flows of overseas subsidiaries are translated into Hong Kong
dollars at the exchange rates ruling at the dates of the cash flows.
Frequently recurring cash flows of overseas subsidiaries which
arise throughout the year are translated into Hong Kong dollars at

the weighted average exchange rates for the year.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING
JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES

The preparation of the Group's financial statements requires
management to make judgements, estimates and assumptions that
affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and
liabilities, and their accompanying disclosures, and the disclosure
of contingent liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and
estimates could result in outcomes that could require a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of the assets or liabilities

affected in the future.

Judgement

In the process of applying the Group's accounting policies,
management has made the following judgement, apart from those
involving estimations, which has the most significant effect on

the amounts recognised in the financial statements:

Deferred tax assets

Deferred tax assets are recognised for unused tax losses to
the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit will be
available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant
management judgement is required to determine the amount of
deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based upon the likely
timing and level of future taxable profits together with future tax

planning strategies.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEEAE A (F)

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources
of estimation uncertainty at the end of the reporting period, that
have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next financial
year, are described below.

Provision for expected credit losses on trade receivables

The Group uses a provision matrix to calculate ECLs for trade
receivables. The provision rates are based on days past due for
groupings of various customer segments that have similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographic region and customer type).

The provision matrix is initially based on the Group's historical
observed default rates. The Group will calibrate the matrix to
adjust the historical credit loss experience with forward-looking
information. For instance, if forecast economic conditions are
expected to deteriorate over the next year which can lead to an
increased number of defaults in the manufacturing sector, the
historical default rates are adjusted.

At each reporting date, the historical observed default rates
are updated and changes in the forward-looking estimates are
analysed.

The assessment of the correlation among historical observed
default rates, forecast economic conditions and ECLs is a
significant estimate. The amount of ECLs is sensitive to changes
in circumstances and forecast economic conditions. The Group's
historical credit loss experience and forecast of economic
conditions may also not be representative of a customer's actual
default in the future. The information about the ECLs on the
Group's trade receivables is disclosed in note 22 to the financial

statements.
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEEAE A (F)

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Provision for inventories

Management reviews the ageing analysis of the Group's
inventories regularly and at the end of each reporting period, and
makes provision for obsolete items when events or change in
circumstances show that the carrying amount of inventories may

not be fully realisable or are no longer suitable for sale.

The specific factors considered by management in the estimation
of the provision include types of inventories, the conditions of
the inventories, expiration dates of the inventories, the forecast
inventory usage and sales. The carrying amount of inventories at
31 March 2021 was HK$417,842,000 (2020: HK$345,511,000),
further details of which are included in note 21 to the financial

statements.

Impairment of intangible assets and property, plant and

equipment

The Group determines whether intangible assets with definite
useful lives, property, plant and equipment, including right-
of-use assets are impaired when there are indicators that the
carrying amounts may not be recoverable. An impairment exists
when the carrying values of these assets exceed their recoverable
amounts, which is the higher of its fair value less costs of
disposal and its value in use. The calculation of the fair values
less costs of disposal is based on available data from binding
sales transactions in an arm's length transaction of similar assets
or observable market prices less incremental costs for disposing
of the asset. When value-in-use calculations are undertaken,
management must estimate the expected future cash flows from
the asset or cash-generating unit and choose a suitable discount
rate in order to calculate the present value of those cash flows.
Further details are given in notes 14 and 18 to the financial
statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEEAE A (F)

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)
Purchase price allocation related to a business combination

The Group completed the additional acquisition of 55% equity
interest in Miyata Holding Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries ("Miyata
Group") on 16 April 2020, at a cash consideration of Japanese
Yen 1,000 (equivalent to HK$71). The Group performed a
purchase price allocation exercise for the acquisition, resulting
in the recognition of goodwill of HK$82,415,000 and intangible
assets of HK$81,068,000.

As part of the purchase price allocation exercise, management
of the Company identified intangible assets relating to customer
relationships and performed an estimation of the fair value of
the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed. In this
exercise, management engaged independent valuers to perform
the valuation of certain assets of Miyata Group, including the

leasehold land and buildings.

The determination of fair values of the identifiable assets
acquired and liabilities assumed, including the identification of
intangible assets, required significant management judgement
in estimating the underlying assumptions to be applied. Further

details are given in note 34 to the financial statements.

Impairment of goodwill

The Group determines whether goodwill is impaired at least
on an annual basis. This requires an estimation of the value
in use of the cash-generating units to which the goodwill is
allocated. Estimating the value in use requires the Group to make
an estimate of the expected future cash flows from the cash-
generating units and also to choose a suitable discount rate in
order to calculate the present value of those cash flows. Changes
to these key judgement and estimates could materially affect
the determination of whether there is an impairment and the
related amounts. If there are significant adverse changes in the
aforementioned judgement and estimates, it may be necessary
to record significant additional impairment charge in future
periods. The carrying amount of goodwill at 31 March 2021 was
HK$125,396,000 (2020: HK$42,858,000). Further details are

given in note 17 to the financial statements.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING 3. EEEEAE A (F)

JUDGEMENT AND ESTIMATES
(continued)

Estimation uncertainty (continued)

Significant judgement in determining the lease term of

contracts with renewal options

The Group has several lease contracts that include extension and
termination options. The Group applies judgement in evaluating
whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate
the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create
an economic incentive for it to exercise either the renewal or
termination. After the commencement date, the Group reassesses
the lease term if there is a significant event or change in
circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to
exercise or not to exercise the option to renew or to terminate the

lease (e.g., construction of significant leasehold improvements).

Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit
in a lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing
rate ("IBR") to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate
of interest that the Group would have to pay to borrow over a
similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to
obtain an asset of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a
similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what
the Group "would have to pay", which requires estimation when
no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that
do not enter into financing transactions) or when it needs to be
adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease. The
Group estimates the IBR using observable inputs when available.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION

For management purposes, the Group is organised into business
units based on geographical areas and has three reportable

operating segments as follows:

(i) the Hong Kong segment is engaged in the manufacturing
and trading of snack foods, confectionery, beverages, frozen
food products, ham and ham-related products, noodles,
the retailing of snack foods, confectionery and beverages,
provision of catering services, and the operations of

restaurants;

(ii)) the Mainland China segment is engaged in the
manufacturing and trading of snack foods, confectionery,
beverages, frozen food products, ham and ham-related

products, noodles, and the operations of restaurants; and

(iii) the Japan segment is engaged in the wholesaling and

distribution of snack foods and confectionery.

During the year, management has identified the Japan segment as
a new operating segment upon the acquisition of Miyata Holding
Co., Ltd. and its subsidiaries.

Management monitors the results of the Group's operating
segments separately for the purpose of making decisions about
resource allocation and performance assessment. Segment
performance is evaluated based on reportable segment profit/
loss, which is a measure of adjusted profit/loss before tax. The
adjusted profit/loss before tax is measured consistently with the
Group's profit before tax except that interest income, dividend
income and unallocated gains/losses, non-lease-related finance
costs, share of profits and losses of associates and corporate and

other unallocated expenses are excluded from such measurement.

Segment assets exclude deferred tax assets, tax recoverable,
investments in associates, financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through other
comprehensive income, derivative financial assets and cash and

cash equivalents as these assets are managed on a group basis.

Segment liabilities exclude interest-bearing bank borrowings,
tax payable and deferred tax liabilities as these liabilities are

managed on a group basis.

Intersegment sales and transfers are transacted with reference to
the selling prices used for sales made to third parties at the then

prevailing market prices.
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4. OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments

Year ended 31 March 2021
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

4. BRI WER (B)

RE-R =221 —HIEEE

Hong Kong Mainland China Japan Total
fi Ll PN HA it
HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$’000
BT BT BT #WT I
Segment revenue: (note 5) BB = (W 3Es)
Sales to external customers* WETINRE P 1,729,182 863,114 1,987,541 4,579,837
Intersegment sales T 41,776 201,987 15,559 259,322
1,770,958 1,065,101 2,003,100 4,839,159
Reconciliation: e -
Elimination of intersegment sales TN B K B (259,322)
Revenue e A 4,579,837
Segment results HEL 68,845 24,054 (1,500) 91,399
Reconciliation: He -
Interest income FEBA 7,336
Dividend income and unallocated JBe LM T oA 4 Bt Mk 5 /
gains/(losses), net (E#R) > FH (4,256)
Finance costs (other than interest il A
on lease liabilities) (MEAER BRI (19,307)
Share of profits and losses of associates AL W 8 8 ) ¥ ) s 4R 11,664
Corporate and other unallocated expenses 2 ) T ol A 4y B BH (30,691)
Profit before tax i 5% i ¥ 56,145

oY A AR A
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

OPERATING SEGMENT

INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

4.

BBy W EOR (50

o By W (A7)
RE_R-REZA =T —HIEAEE

Hong Kong Mainland China Total
B T K e ik
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HK$°000
BT BT BT
Segment revenue: (note 5) WA (KB FES)
Sales to external customers® BETFINRK P 1,993,865 934,172 2,928,037
Intersegment sales R 24,361 170,821 195,182
2,018,226 1,104,993 3,123,219

Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment sales A &R 4 £ HK 8 (195,182)
Revenue A 2,928,037
Segment results &S 25,444 1,315 26,759
Reconciliation: HIE -
Interest income FEWA 6,813
Dividend income and unallocated ﬂﬁﬁll&t]x&*ﬂﬂll&ﬁ/

gains/(losses), net () > 48 2,832
Finance costs (other than interest il A

on lease liabilities) (HLE& B A B BN (20,617)
Share of profits and losses of associates  JEA5 % 2 a5l # &G H 8,748
Corporate and other unallocated expenses /7] &l A 2 it B 5% (24,211)
Profit before tax e 8 i ik A 324
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT 4. BB IBER (5)

INFORMATION (continued)

Geographical segments (continued)

o By W (A7)

Year ended 31 March 2021

RE-R =221 —HIEEE

Hong Kong Mainland China Japan Total
ik B K B H A At
HKS$’000 HKS$’000 HKS$000 HK$°000
EW T #W T #WT I #WT I
Segment assets N 1,479,228 913,795 724,877 3,117,900
Reconciliation: B -
Elimination of intersegment receivables 1) 8 B M T S 41 (419,621)
Investments in associates REE AT Z R E 172,463
Corporate and other unallocated assets AT R A A 4 L 690,097
Total assets R 3,560,839
Segment liabilities Via 3N 590,939 336,374 445,530 1,372,843
Reconciliation: HE -
Elimination of intersegment payables 1A 70 B A8 5 O (419,621)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities Aa) RIABAR 4 B HUAE 1,229,834
Total liabilities AL 2,183,056
Other segment information: LA BER
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) HE W & 5 Mk A
of trade receivables S 2ATE ) (6) (869) 113 (762)
(Reversal of write-down)/write-down WA E (e ) /
of slow-moving inventories sy (330) 5,211 3,047 7,928
Depreciation and amortisation, except VS i
right-of-use assets (AT ) 25,871 37,715 19,508 83,094
Depreciation of right-of-use assets i FHEG 116,169 25,378 9,778 151,325
Impairment of items of property, plant and W¥E - W5 KEMEEE
equipment, except right-of-use assets ZURAE OB A6 B A ) 3918 = = 3,918
Impairment of right-of-use assets 08 JH e 5 4,082 = = 4,082
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, e/ WEE - B KM
plant and equipment HHZER 116 2,273 1,423 3,812
Fair value losses on investment properties BREMEZANTHER = = 292 292
Capital expenditure®* NPk 21,991 45,165 1,320 68,476
Non-current assets*** Fe B B 411,927 494,395 362,422 1,268,744

oY A AR A
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

4. OPERATING SEGMENT
INFORMATION (continued)

BBy W EOR (50

Geographical segments (continued) Hb I 4 ¥ (4)
Year ended 31 March 2020 BRE_Z2_RE=H=+—HILEE
Hong Kong Mainland China Total
il o K B At
HK$'000 HK$’000 HKS$000
W T #HT T T
Segment assets 23 ¥ 1,674,757 880,860 2,555,617
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment receivables VA 0 Lk I G (408,621)
Investments in associates REEARZERE 155,107
Corporate and other unallocated assets Aw) RIABA 4 TG 591,673
Total assets B 2,893,776
Segment liabilities Va3 661,387 512,762 1,174,149
Reconciliation: B
Elimination of intersegment payables RT3 ¢k (408,621)
Corporate and other unallocated liabilities 2R o Ho A 4y B BB 783,050
Total liabilities AAE 1,548,578
Other segment information: b WER
Impairment of trade receivables JE W B 5 R ok k1 10,649 5 10,654
Write-down of slow-moving inventories O B 393 3,144 3,537
Depreciation and amortisation, e R
except right-of-use assets (FEEMEMEEE) 25,427 36,239 61,666
Depreciation of right-of-use assets iR AT 116,182 24,053 140,235
Impairment of items of property, plant and LUERY Y& e
equipment, except right-of-use assets WA (R BRI ) 2,768 691 3,459
Impairment of right-of-use assets i FFRE 5 2 1 2,322 1,071 3,393
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEWE - BE R MIEA
plant and equipment ZEH 140 343 483
Capital expenditure** B AR B 5+ 22,499 21,220 43,719
Non-current assets ¥+ R 456,204 543,978 1,000,182

ok

ok ok

The revenue information above is based on the locations of the
customers, except for a subsidiary within the Japan segment
whose sales to external customers of HK$63,088,000 arising from
Mainland China.

Capital expenditure consists of additions to property, plant and
equipment, excluding right-of-use assets arising from leased
buildings, furniture, fixtures and equipment, and motor vehicles.

The non-current asset information above is based on the locations of
the assets, except for a subsidiary within the Japan segment whose
non-current assets of HK$35,000 are based in Mainland China, and
excludes financial instruments, deferred tax assets and investments
in associates.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET

5. WA - JCABBCA K BedE,

O #1) > 74

An analysis of revenue is as follows: WA
2021 2020
e e
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
YT BT
Revenue from contracts with customers REBEPEHZWA 4,579,837 2,928,037
Revenue from contracts with customers RAZEEGHZHA
(i) Disaggregated revenue information (i) WA HEF
2021 2020
e L
HK$°000 HK$°000
BT BT
Primary geographical markets: LEEH T
Hong Kong e 1,729,182 1,993,865
Mainland China e e K e 863,114 934,172
Japan* H A< 1,987,541 -
4,579,837 2,928,037
Timing of revenue recognition: R W s HE R
At a point in time T B 1y R ey 4,579,837 2,928,037
* Including revenue from contracts with customers of * L FE B AR B B KB E A R A

HK$63,088,000 arising from Mainland China

The amounts of revenue recognised in the current reporting

i A63,088,0003 7

i SR R AN O N =Y e TR SN

period that were included in the contract liabilities at the CERZERSHENT
beginning of the reporting period are as follows:
2021 2020
e et i
HK$°000 HK$°000
%o #IT T
Sale of goods SER N 4,127 4,254

P o g B R 24
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5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (continued)

Revenue from contracts with customers (continued)
(ii) Performance obligations

Information about the Group's performance obligations is

summarised below:

Sale of goods

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the goods and payment is generally due within one to three
months, extending up to four to five months for major
customers, from delivery, except for new customers, where

payment in advance is normally required.

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining

S.

BOA ~ JCABBCA B BedE
O #1) - &80 (5)

KA%PHHZBA (F)
(i) BRI AT
FRAREEEARLZ BRI T ¢

5 7

JB #) BEAT T B b A A R AT o AR — ik
REME—EZ=ANEIN > RERER
MHE> TERENELMA > HHEF—
e i S S Ak o

REA=Z+—H > REE&H I E R i E

performance obligations (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) B (REREHMARER BT :
as at 31 March are as follows:
2021 2020
e et 3 TRTRAE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT
Amounts expected to be TE AR S A
recognised as revenue: Z AR
Within one year —HERN 3,160 4,127

The amounts of transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance obligations are expected to be recognised as

revenue within one year.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #&FE & .

5. REVENUE, OTHER INCOME AND
GAINS/(LOSSES), NET (continued)

An analysis of other income and gains/(losses), net is as follows:

—HEEH=E+ HIRSE

oA ~ JCABBCA K BedE

O #1) - &80 (8)

HABWRA KW 2 (1) » SFHEHWF

2021 2020
e Javte: 3 TERORE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT it
Other income oAb A
Bank interest income BATH B WA 2,005 6,813
Government subsidies* BT #l By = 12,471 5,760
Dividend income BB WA 2,471 5,040
Rental income from investment REMEREWHE
properties operating leases: ZHERA -
Other lease payments, including HoAth 88 %5 £ 3% >
fixed payments L35 8 & ) sk 3,272 1,212
Interest income BB A 5,331
Others HoAfty 9,495 5,984
35,045 24,809
Gains/(losses), net W2k, O > HH
Net fair value losses on investment WEWHRZ A TEEER
properties i (292) -
Net fair value losses on financial assets at A FABHE R AIRZ
fair value through profit or loss S RhEEZ A TE
i RE X ] (7,095) (2,208)
Fair value changes of derivative financial fj4: 4l T. B 2 2 B4
instruments, net SAE) » VAR 660 -
(6,727) (2,208)
28,318 22,601

*

As at the end of the reporting period, there were no unfulfilled

conditions relating to these subsidies.
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

6. OTHER OPERATING EXPENSES

6. FCAfib & B3

An analysis of other operating expenses is as follows: HoAl BB B AT F -
2021 2020
S B
Notes HKS$°000 HK$’000
Kt BT T BT T
Auditors' remuneration A S i T 4 5,915 4,589
Bank charges RiTEMH 2,431 2,615
Loss on disposal of items of property, HEME - BE &
plant and equipment W IE H 2 1B 3,812 483
Impairment of items of property, plant and W BB M HIEE
equipment (excluding right-of-use assets) (355 155 ) RE S )
G RIE 14(a) 3,918 3,459
Impairment of right-of-use assets 55 11 S el 1 14(b) 4,082 3,393
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) JE W B2 5 MR kA,
of trade receivables (4% 1 9k £ ) (762) 10,654
Others Al 56 2,308
19,452 27,501
7. FINANCE COSTS 7. WERAR
An analysis of finance costs is as follows: B AR ST
2021 2020
R B
HK$’000 HK$°000
T T
Interest on bank and trust receipt loans AT B B AR TR SR . 19,307 20,617
Interest on lease liabilities HE A EME 9,690 11,173
28,997 31,790

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX 8. BBt w i A
The Group's profit before tax is arrived at after charging/ ALz ERET A S GEA) ¢
(crediting):
2021 2020
RO _RIRR
Notes HK$’°000 HK$’000
Mt wH T Vi3
Cost of inventories sold BEARZHA 3,693,405 2,071,909
Depreciation of items of property, plant and equipment  #13 - Wi Rk fHE 2
(excluding right-of-use assets) P R B TR ) 14(a) 77,884 61,447
Depreciation of right-of-use assets ARG E I 14(b) 151,325 140,235
Amortisation of other intangible assets KA & & 8 18 5,210 219
Lease payments not included in the T s L £ o A A
measurement of lease liabilities: B
Lease rental for short term leases HEMMEZHE 53,771 57,562
Contingent rent HARM4 846 2,649
Government subsidies# B0 A (50,300) -
COVID-19-related rent concessions from lessors A A ZCOVID-19
FH R AL 4 5 0 (34,546) (7,748)
Auditors' remuneration 1 95 B 4 5,915 4,589
Employee benefit expense (excluding directors' and BB A (FEFEERR
chief executive's remuneration (note 9)): BEITEABMA
(HfiE9)) :
Wages, salaries, allowances and benefits in kind TE %4 Bk
TR 306,253 344,687
Pension scheme contributions* AR Bt 3 15,019 17,029
Defined benefit expenses 5 H R BH S 29 2,157 -
323,429 361,716
Loss on disposal/write-off of items of property, W/ MEmE - KRR
plant and equipment, net** HEEH ZEH > Fe 3,812 483
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use assets, net HILHERGEEEZ
Wit > FH (10) (1,831)
Loss/(gain) on remeasurement of lease liabilities, net ERFEMEAGZ
BHE (i) » F 8 1 (53)
Impairment of items of property, plants and LIERN 3 & 1R R
equipment ** (excluding right-of-use assets) (AR AR E) 14(a) 3,918 3,459
Impairment of right-of-use assets** i R R S O 14(b) 4,082 3,393
Foreign exchange losses/(gains), net ESEE (K2) » 5 5,203 (5,944)
Direct operating expenses (including repairs KRB EREEZ
and maintenance) arising from rental-earning HEREHX
investment properties (BG4 AR 1,234 789
Impairment/(reversal of impairment) JE IR 5 ki
of trade receivables** (BB BT f) 22 (762) 10,654
Write-down of slow-moving inventories*** WO T B Mg 7,928 3,537
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8. PROFIT BEFORE TAX (continued)

#

ok

Hokock

Included in employee benefit expense are the government subsidies
on the grants from the Employee Support Scheme of the Hong
Kong Government totaling HK$50,300,000, which aims to retain
employment and combat COVID-19. There are no unfulfilled
conditions or contingencies relating to these subsidies. During
the current period, government subsidies of HK$32,130,000,
HK$7,776,000 and HK$10,394,000 are included in "Cost of sales",
"Selling and distribution expenses" and "Administrative expenses",
respectively, in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.

At 31 March 2021, the Group had no forfeited contributions
available to reduce its contributions to the pension scheme in future
years (2020: Nil).

The impairment/(reversal of impairment) of trade receivables and
impairment of items of property, plant and equipment are included
in "Other operating expenses" in the consolidated statement of
profit or loss.

The write-down of slow-moving inventories is included in "Cost of

sales" in the consolidated statement of profit or loss.
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35 7€ 0 5 A A BH 3 2 7 v BOR TR 3 St
B R T B B O ARG B 7E IR B 3
HLCOVID-19 » #8 % %550,300,000% JG © #% 5 Hfi
T S 0 AR AR 1 B e 4 T OE o Y AT -
B RF 4 /532,130,000 I8 ~ 7,776,000 76 K&
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MR AEZA =10 A e
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Notes to Financial Statements

9. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF 9.
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION

Directors' and chief executive's remuneration for the year,
disclosed pursuant to the Listing Rules, section 383(1)(a), (b),
(c) and (f) of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance and Part 2
of the Companies (Disclosure of Information about Benefits of
Directors) Regulation, is as follows:

Sy

B A @@w
@D

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

g R w AT BN B4

FENEREREEITEAN BN S LA AR - F
e BB 4E383(1)(a) ~ (b) ~ () B (DI KA
A (B BEEM AR BB RN

2021 2020

—® i St 2

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT

Fees 4 981 720
Other emoluments: At 9 4

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind e~ R EA 9,853 9,877

Discretionary bonus P15 AL AL - 171

Pension scheme contributions RIREFTE Z ek 65 68

9,918 10,116

10,899 10,836

(a) Independent non-executive directors

The fees paid to independent non-executive directors during

the year were as follows:

(a) M FEPfT
FERNCHATEILIERTERZHEESEWT ¢

2021 2020

TR ZRIERH

HKS$°000 HK$’000

T T

Leung Mei Han* PLES R 80 80
Chan Yuk Sang, Peter* 1 A 80 80
Tsunao Kijima** AR 5 B e+ 341 80
501 240

There were no other emoluments payable to the independent

non-executive directors during the year (2020: Nil).

* Effective 1 April 2021, total annual remuneration is
HK$120,000.

#*%  Effective 1 April 2021, total annual remuneration is
HK$458,000.

A N I B A T < MBS T B LR AT
(ZFZFE ) -

o IR EPH—H L > FEFIAE
i % 120,0009 IC ©

sk TR AEDUH — H PR » AT AL
# 55458,0009 7T ©
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

9. DIRECTORS' AND CHIEF
EXECUTIVE'S REMUNERATION
(continued)

(b) Executive directors and the chief executive

9. A Kl v AT BN B4 (B1)

(b) BATH S BRI W AT B R

Salaries,
allowances Pension
and benefits  Discretionary scheme Total
Fees in kind bonus  contributions remuneration
Wid o WK Bk a

A A 2 R R S N P3¢ 3 T A
HK$’000 HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
HHTT T ET T Vit W

2021 . St
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen wEy 80 3,840 - - 3,920
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly [iEYA 80 1,653 - - 1,733
Tai Chun Kit WO 80 2,023 - 27 2,130
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis K 80 - - 2 82
Wu Wing Biu ] A A 80 1,168 - 18 1,266
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [y 80 1,169 - 18 1,267
480 9,853 - 65 10,398

2020 CERCEE
Tai Tak Fung, Stephen W 80 3,840! - - 3,920
Wu Mei Yung, Quinly WER 80 1,653 171 - 1,904
Tai Chun Kit Eigid A 80 2,0472 - 28 2,155
Man Wing Cheung, Ellis Kk 80 - - 4 84
Wu Wing Biu [ipIE 80 1,168 - 18 1,266
Nam Chi Ming, Gibson [ ] 80 1,169 - 18 1,267
480 9,877 171 68 10,596

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is an estimated rental of HK$3,840,000 (2020: HK$3,840,000)
for a director's quarter owned by the Group.

Included in the above salaries, allowances and benefits in kind
is an estimated rental of HK$773,400 (2020: HK$702,000) for
a director's quarter owned by the Group.

There was no arrangement under which a director or the
chief executive waived or agreed to waive any remuneration
during the year (2020: Nil).
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BB B Ry 4 AR A A A
Z A wH L 423,840,0009 00 (& B4
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Notes to Financial Statements

10. FIVE HIGHEST PAID EMPLOYEES

The five highest paid employees during the year included four
(2020: five) directors which included the chief executive, details
of whose remuneration are set out in note 9 above. Details of the
remuneration for the year of the remaining one (2020: nil) highest
paid employee who is neither a director nor chief executive of the
Company are as follows:

10.

Sy

B A @@w
@D

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

o %55 I e v D R

AR s T AL I B R H LA Y fr (B
BREATBANR) (ZFR R - i) » %%
P RE R B ORI RS o JofR—fr (2F
AR ) B R B (S JEA A R R
FATBON ) IRAAE L2 SR F

2021 2020

e i R R

HKS$°000 HK$’000

W T BT

Salaries, allowances and benefits in kind A~ Bk R EY A 25 1,523 -

11. INCOME TAX

Hong Kong profits tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2020: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in Hong
Kong during the year. Taxes on profits assessable elsewhere have
been calculated at the rates of tax prevailing in the countries/
jurisdictions in which the Group operates.

11.

P 7 BE

T U 15 B 5 248 N 75 oS T 28 2k =2 A R HE R
B 1%16.5% (ZF T4 1 16.5%) ZBLEAE
H A o I 1 > ME SR B ViR P = B IE TG AR 8
AREMBEEFZERFAEEERZBTHR
REHH o

2021 2020
TR CRORE
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vedioun
Current — Hong Kong -
Charge for the year A AR JE B IE 19,085 11,741
Current — Elsewhere I — At
Charge for the year AR AR BE Bl IH 9,279 3,449
Overprovision in prior years 100 A B A R A (1,906) (333)
Deferred (note 30) HEAL (M 7E30) (1,961) (254)
Total tax charge for the year AAE B Z BRI 3 24,497 14,603

P o g B R 24
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11. INCOME TAX (continued)

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

A reconciliation of the tax expense applicable to profit before tax

at the statutory rates for the countries/jurisdictions in which the

Company and the majority of its subsidiaries are domiciled to the

tax expense at the effective tax rate, and a reconciliation of the

11. P88 (4)

AR Ao v T I ML A R R AE B W)
VA I 2 3 5 B0 AR G B LI PP B A I ¥ A
Z BLIE S B DL B B R Gt B B IE S
AR > DA R FBE AR (B ks i) BT Rl A

applicable rates (i.e., the statutory tax rate) to the effective tax HHEWT
rate, are as follows:
2021 2020
g =
HK$’000 % HK$°000 %
BT BT

Profit before tax W 5 6 ) 56,145 324
Tax at the applicable tax rates BB AR E L BUE 8,342 14.9 (937) (289.2)
Adjustments in respect of current tax 0 2 BT AE 3 I

of previous periods (1,906) 34) (333) (102.8)
Profits and losses attributable to associates JRE AW T 8% 0 ) e M) e 1R (2,172) (3.9) (1,407) (434.3)
Income not subject to tax WHEBEBRZBA (12,257) (21.8) (2,958) (913.0)
Expenses not deductible for tax AT R BRI Z % 8,740 15.6 3,212 991.4
Effect of withholding tax of 5%-10% HMBIS%-10% (ZF R4

(2020: 5%-10%) on distributable profits of the 5%-10%) BACHEE 2

Group's subsidiaries in Mainland China K B A ) 2 W e A Uk

Mz %% 250 0.4 414 127.8
Tax losses utilised from previous periods B A 2 A R (5,755) (10.3) (4,224) (1,303.7)
Deferred tax assets not recognised RERZIEERIELG E 26,732 47.6 22,525 6,952.2
Others i 2,523 4.5 (1,689) (521.3)
Tax charge at the Group's effective rate WAL B E R
At BUE 24,497 43.6 14,603 4,507.1

The share of tax attributable to associates amounting to
HK$1,552,000 (2020: HK$2,309,000) is included in "Share of
profits and losses of associates" in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 #&FE & .

—_— 7

o %‘J

S 5 i B ik

—HEEH=E+ HIRSE

DIVIDENDS 12. JB B
2021 2020
TR AP ZROR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T BT T
Interim — HK3.0 cents EPHJJ B B 8 B 3. 0% Il
(2020: HK3.0 cents) per ordinary share TR TR - RSB R30Il 11,528 11,528
Proposed final — HK6.5 cents %%ﬂ{,ﬂﬂ RS R 6. S Al
(2020: HK®6.5 cents) per ordinary share (ZRTRA - GRS 5uAl) 24,977 24,977
36,505 36,505

The proposed final dividend for the year is subject to the approval
of the Company's shareholders at the forthcoming annual general

meeting.

The final dividend is based on 384,257,640 ordinary shares
(2020: 384,257,640 ordinary shares), being the total number of
issued shares of the Company at the year end. The final dividend
which was proposed after the end of the reporting period has not

been recognised as liabilities at the end of the reporting period.

EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY

The calculation of the basic earnings/(loss) per share amount is
based on the profit/(loss) for the year attributable to ordinary
equity holders of the Company, and the weighted average number

of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The calculation of basic and diluted earnings/(loss) per share are

13.

AR B 2 s il R0 M S ZE I M i e SRR A K
AR 2 ) B A AR D ATAR o

KB BB DA 2w AR K T B AT B AR
BI384,257,6408 &% M Bt (ZF ZF4F :
384,257,6408 % 4 Bt ) whE o 7 5 W R A%
IR Z A 9] 1B B3 AR A i R R R AL o

7 2% il 3 8 R g P AT A B
#A 7 O)

WA ZA (15 TR AR BEAC A 5]
L RE 2R BT REAG R, (RS 4R) S 4F 8 84T
W 98 e Z T - 3 B A o

IR A KRR Ok 4R) J9AR 4% T 51 Jk o

based on: 5
2021 2020
TR TR
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vet un
Earnings/(loss) BA O )
Profit/(loss) attributable to ordinary equity RERSYE TN T -A
holders of the Company, used in the basic (s 18) i Z A )
and diluted earnings/(loss) per share 5 JE RE 75 B A REAL
calculation A (1) 30,127 (19,808)

Y A AR A m
—E--FFH
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() Year ended 31 March 2021 & FE - . —4E=A=+—H IL4FE
13. EARNINGS/(LOSS) PER SHARE 13. A2y il 3% T A 4t o A7 5 ME A 4 0Bt
ATTRIBUTABLE TO ORDINARY A O #) (4)
EQUITY HOLDERS OF THE COMPANY
(continued)
Number of shares
Betr ¥ H
2021 2020
R4 i
Shares By
Weighted average number of ordinary SRR SR AR R W R
shares in issue during the year used in (G 18) Z 47 B O 88 47 35 48 it
the basic and diluted earnings/(loss) iR S ¥ 8
per share calculation 384,257,640 384,257,640

No adjustment has been made to the basic earnings/(loss) per
share amounts presented for the years ended 31 March 2021 and
2020 in respect of a dilution as the Group had no potentially

dilutive ordinary shares in issue during the years ended 31 March

HRALEARRE R R R FE=
H=+— BRI M AW ) 2 D8R
A M o PRSI S I R AR R
FUFFE=ZHA = HIRE R 29 2 B

2021 and 2020. AREF e H) 1 % o
14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. Y& ~ B Bk i
2021 2020
TR -
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
Mk BT BT
Owned assets HE®E (a) 560,490 373,141
Right-of-use assets 5 O RE 3 2 (b) 466,104 564,825
1,026,594 937,966
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

14. Y93 ~ Wi b5 B e i (41

(continued)
(a) Owned assets a) HE®RE
Land Furniture,
and Leasehold fixtures and Plant and Motor  Construction
buildings  improvements equipment machinery vehicles in progress Total
Ly HEHT fff Kt

&5 kB RERRE R fl IR it
HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HEKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HEK$000
#Tr BT #WTL #WTL #WTL #WFTLC TR

31 March 2021 ZRCEZAEH

At 1 April 2020: REZZRENA-A
Cost A 283,750 266,665 130,002 243,845 44819 - 969,081
Accumulated depreciation and impairment B #H47 # Rk fE (111,088) (169,019) (105,442) (170,989) (39,402) - (595,940)
Net carrying amount R 172,662 97,646 24,560 72,856 5417 - 313,141

At 1 April 2020, net of accumulated REBZRENA-A 5
depreciation and impairment TR RaHTE R fE 172,662 97,646 24,560 72,856 5417 - I3
Additions HE 1,360 26,876 12,618 1,118 29m 12,528 08,477
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) WO I A 70 (' 734) 137,263 1453 28,578 17,785 79 - 185,798
Disposals/write-off e/ # - (827) (1,082) (1,667) (664) - (3,940)
Depreciation provided during the year ERNCREZIE (11,404) (32414) (17,967) (13,573) (2,526) - (77,384)
Impairment Wi - (3918) - - - - (3918)
Exchange realignment B 1823 5,504 (10) 4,864 187 48 18816

At 31 March 2021, net of accumulated ~~ RERZ—EZE4—H 5
depreciation and impairment REIEEEEE Va1 307,704 94,620 46,697 92383 6,110 12976 560,490
At31 March 2021 e S =V oy i K

Cost S 494,760 297,807 207,237 295,206 45,551 12,976 1,353,537
Accumulated depreciation and impairment 2 347 % R {8 (187,036) (203,187) (160,540) (202,823) (39,441 - (193,047)
Net carrying amount TR 307,704 94,620 46,697 92,383 6,110 10,976 560,490
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(a) Owned assets (continued)

14. Y93 ~ Wi b5 B e i (41

(a) HEWEG)

Land Furniture,
and Leasehold  fixtures and Plant and Motor
buildings improvements  equipment  machinery vehicles Total
T HEET fif R 5
T =3 #E RERRE R R A5t
HK$'000  HK$000  HK$'000  HKS$'000  HK$'000  HKS$000
BRI BETL EFTFT EFTT BETL EFTFT
31 March 2020 “ROREZAZTH
At 1 April 2019: BRZZ—NENA—H
Cost JA 401,790 258,724 139,507 250,959 49978 1,100,958
Accumulated depreciation Bl (212,721) (149,930) (112,314) (167,693) (42,966) (685,624)
Net carrying amount W T A 189,069 108,794 27,193 83,266 7,012 415,334
At 1 April 2019, net of BHZZ—NENF—H »
accumulated depreciation TR R 189,069 108,794 27,193 83,266 7,012 415,334
Additions wE 575 24,665 8,689 8,290 1,500 43,719
Disposals/write-off i /s ) (843) (721) (268) (117) (1,953)
Depreciation provided during the year 4 B ffi 2 H7 8 (7,417) (30,031) (9,103) (12,242) (2,654) (61,447)
Impairment W - (497) (993) (1,813) (156) (3,459)
Exchange realignment T 3 (9,563) (4,440) (505) 4377) (168) (19,053)
At 31 March 2020, net of accumulated R _F_FE=H=+—H >
depreciation and impairment T bR R R 172,662 97,646 24,560 72,856 5417 373,141
At 31 March 2020: R_B_REZ[=1—H
Cost JAR 283,750 266,665 130,002 243,845 44819 969,081
Accumulated depreciation and EHE N YT
impairment (111,088)  (169,019)  (105442)  (170,989) (39.402)  (595,940)
Net carrying amount IR 172,662 97,646 24,560 72,856 5417 373,141

As at 31 March 2021, the Group’s management identified
certain restaurants in Hong Kong (2020: certain factories
in Hong Kong and overseas) which were underperformed
during the year and impairment losses of HK$3,918,000
(2020: HK$3,459,000) was made on owned assets. Further
details are disclosed in note 14(b) below.

At 31 March 2021, certain of the Group’s land and buildings
in Japan with a net carrying amount of approximately
HK$109,921,000 were pledged to secure general bank
facilities granted to the Group (note 28(c)).

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

(continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets

&N

o

14. Y93 ~ Wi b5 B e i (41

(b) 14 JiI Al

The Group has lease contracts for various items of
properties used in its operations. Lump sum payments were
made upfront to acquire the leased land from the owners
with lease periods of 10 to 20 years, and no ongoing
payments will be made under the terms of these land
leases. Leases of properties generally have lease terms
between 2 and 7 years. Generally, the Group is restricted
from assigning and subleasing the leased assets outside
the Group. There are several lease contracts that include
extension and termination options and variable lease

payments, which are further discussed below.

The carrying amounts of the Group's right-of-use assets and

A £ [k R G S 0 78 T 2 S TE A T o
FLESA - CHEEM M — AL
FWEALE L3 > AL 10F 2048 > AR
PR LR Z K A A S A
FEAAT R IE o 43 Z B B N P22 T74E ©
— T > AR R4 1 AR 4R [ DA A
BEERSHMERRE - A THESH B
T ] T 4% Il PR RE R T A B A R R T
SCHE— 5w e

AR s A 0 P BE R I T i B B )

the movements during the year are as follows: A TE .
Prepaid Furniture,
land lease ~ Leasehold Leased fixturesand  Plant and Motor
payments land buildings  equipment  machinery vehicles Total
B i -
A AELE AT RERSRHE  RERRS o At
HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
EWTL  BETT ERTL BETT ERTL BFTT EWTL
Asat 1 April 2019 HZF—
WA—H 88,726 79,358 443,739 - - - 611,823
Additions B - - 112,078 - - - 112,078
Depreciation (note 8) W& (Wits) (2,783) (2,076) (135,376) - - - (140,235)
Impairment (note 8) WA (i 2ts) - - (3,393) - - - (3,393)
Lease modification fEBYR - - 7,236 - - - 7,236
Disposal e - - (10,269) - - - (10,269)
Exchange realignment I i (5,638) - (6,777) - - - (12,415)
As at 31 March 2020 and R_F_RE
1 April 2020 ZAZT—HE
CRORE
WA—H 80,305 77,282 407,238 - - - 564,825
Additions upon acquisition W Bk Pk JE 4 w1 4% 34
of a subsidiary (note 34) (Hit34) - - 15,247 1,005 5,025 4,957 26,234
Additions ¥ - - 18,342 550 - 2,165 21,057
Depreciation (note 8) 8 (Hits) (2,840) 2,076)  (142,945) (356) (1,191) (1917)  (151,325)
Impairment (note 8) WAL (M iEs) - - (4,082) - - - (4,082)
Lease modification MEBR - - (96) - - - (96)
Disposal ik - - (1,593) - - - (1,593)
Exchange realignment B 56 3 6,644 - 4,693 (32) (83) (138) 11,084
As at 31 March 2021 RZFZ—E=A
=+—H 84,109 75,206 296,804 1,167 3,751 5,067 466,104
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(continued)

(b) Right-of-use assets (continued)

As at 31 March 2021, the Group's management
identified certain restaurants in Hong Kong which
were underperformed during the year and estimated
the corresponding recoverable amounts based on their
respective cash-generating units. Based on these estimates,
impairment losses of HK$3,918,000, as disclosed in note
14(a) above, and HK$4,082,000 were recognised to write
down the carrying amounts of owned assets and right-of-
use assets, respectively, to their aggregate recoverable
amounts of HK$24,692,000 as at 31 March 2021. The
recoverable amounts of the respective cash-generating units
are determined based on value-in-use calculations using
cash flow projections based on financial budgets covering
a period of the remaining lease terms plus the anticipated
renewal period approved by senior management. The pre-tax

discount rate applied for the cash flow projections was 13.0%.

As at 31 March 2020, the Group's management identified
certain factories in Hong Kong and overseas which
were underperformed during the year and estimated
the corresponding recoverable amounts based on their
respective cash-generating units. Based on these estimates,
impairment losses of HK$3,459,000, as disclosed in note
14(a) above, and HK$3,393,000 were recognised to write
down the carrying amounts of owned assets and right-of-
use assets, respectively, to their aggregate recoverable
amounts of HK$30,832,000 as at 31 March 2020. The Group
assessed the recoverable amounts of these cash-generating
units using value-in-use method based on discounted cash
flow forecasts for each cash-generating unit. The pre-tax
discount rate applied for the cash flow projections was
13.5%.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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(b) 6 J 4 e (70)

MR —EZHA=+—H o ARG
JE R W TR BN RN RBIRAE > I
FR IR % B 2 Bl 4 e A A A SR B AT
Wl 45 o MIZEME > CR_F = —
A= H O E S 13,918,000
ot O b SC K sk 14(a) Bk 88) 54,082,000
W oT DL o Bt B R R R E
2 B I L O A AT M e A S
24,692,000 7T © £ B 4 2 Az B AL 2 W L
I 45 0 AR 8 0 RPN 5t > A S
T HR B 7 v 7 B e T i o o 2 R R AL
390 U0 4 A 300 A TS Bl A
THH o PR Z BRABL AT M BL 2 25 13.0% o

MN_BBE=ZHA=1+—H » REEFH
JiE W R A W B A A TR R AR ) R B
KA > WARE A 55 % B Z Bl 4 2 AR W44
AT B AT Il A o AR RE AN R - TR
ZEIFRE=ZA =1 — B R WA E
3,459,000%5 7 (> b SCHE E14a) B 88) K
3,393,000% ¢ DL 43 Al i B B & A K I RE
B 2 VR T B 0 A = W R
3£30,832,0003 7T o A% 42 AR B2 % B 4
A B 22 TG B B 4 s e D P 9
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

15. LEASES

The Group as a lessee
(a) Lease liabilities

The carrying amounts of the lease liabilities and the

movements during the year are as follows:

15. Al 1%
7 455 1Ay AR RLA

(a) BlEALE
A A R E XA NS -

2021 2020
e Javee 3 R
HK$’000 HK$°000
BT BT
Carrying amount at 1 April WU H—H Z WA 435,137 463,762
New leases B 21,057 112,078
Addition as a result of acquisition WA i R JBS A ) G G (B E34)
of a subsidiary (note 34) 28,709 -
Accretion of interest recognised FENOHERRF BN R (HiE7)
during the year (note 7) 9,690 11,173
COVID-19-related rent concessions H A\ ZCOVID-194H B
from lessors FH 4 0L (34,546) (7,748)
Payments g (121,599) (133,108)
Lease modification B % (95) 7,183
Termination of leases HRILMESL (1,603) (12,100)
Exchange realignment P 58, ) 4 4,861 (6,103)
Carrying amount at 31 March REA=+—HZEHE 341,611 435,137
Analysed into: ST B
Current portion i B A 123,651 133,074
Non-current portion I B A 217,960 302,063

The Group has applied the practical expedient to all eligible
rent concessions granted by the lessors for leases of certain
buildings during the year.

The maturity analysis of lease liabilities is disclosed in note

40 to the financial statements.

BN AR OHEHEARE THTHERT
BB A 6 M AL e T R RE P T AT R 3 o

HLEE AR A 20T H 20 AT O B 5 0k B w40
% o
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15. LEASES (continued)

The Group as a lessee (continued)

(b) The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to

leases are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

15. fLE5 (5)
A 455 B4 2 AR RLA (A0

(b) W # 7 5t Bl 67 #E iB Z & # W T -

2021 2020
TR TRTRA
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vot an
Interest on lease liabilities (note 7) MEABEZNE (BiE7) 9,690 11,173
Depreciation charge of G EZTEEN
right-of-use assets (note 8) (K 7E8) 151,325 140,235
Expense relating to short-term leases 7L 30 AL 5 R B B S
(2020: including those leases with (ZR RS G55 TR
remaining lease terms ended on or R_R_EF=ZA=1+—H
before 31 March 2020) (included in B2 AR Z % EME)
administrative expenses/selling and (REAATBBA 2, 8 5
distribution expenses) KAy 8B N) 53,771 57,562
Impairment of right-of-use assets 15 FH RE & 7 2 WA 4,082 3,393
Gain on derecognition of right-of-use A% 1 e RO D R O 2 WA -
assets, net A (10) (1,831)
Loss/(gain) on remeasurement of lease B EHMEAGZER
liabilities, net (k) > HH 1 (53)
COVID-19-related rent concessions A A Z COVID-19#H B fl 4
from lessors (included in cost of sales/ BN (FE B8 A8 B R
selling and distribution expenses/ SrEHPR X AT BB X )
administrative expenses) (34,546) (7,748)
Variable lease payments not included AEFERFEHAEAEZ
in the measurement of lease liabilities ] 5 LB ATk
(included in cost of sales/selling and GUN L% e
distribution expenses) BN 846 2,649
Total amount recognised in profit or loss 18 % ffE i 48 4K 185,159 205,380

(c) The total cash outflow for leases and future cash outflows

relating to leases that have not yet commenced are disclosed

in notes 35(c) and 36(b), respectively, to the financial

statements.

The Group as a lessor

The Group leases its investment properties (note 16) consisting of

one industrial property located in Mainland Chin
property and one residential property located
operating lease arrangements. The terms of the

a, one industrial
in Japan under
leases generally

require the tenants to pay security deposits and provide for
periodic rent adjustments according to the then prevailing market

conditions. Rental income recognised by the G
year was HK$3,272,000 (2020: HK$1,212,000),
are included in note 5 to the financial statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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roup during the
details of which

(c) MEZB &AW ARG ZHEH
[P N R o Tl s | B el
35(c) M 36(b) P & -

A 5 AR 2y I RLA

AREEMMBEREHERHHEHLBEYE M
FE16) > BEEPLR B KRN —IH T M ¥ -
HA K — T T34 36 e — AR B 3 - LIk
M RAL P S A R R 4 > SRR R
DL BT B 4 o AR AMAE N O Z Rl 4
WA #43,272,000% 76 (ZF Z 4 : 1,212,000
WEIT) o I O B R IS o
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15. LEASES (continued) 15. fLEE ()
The Group as a lessor (continued) BB BN ()
At 31 March 2021, the undiscounted lease payments receivable MNoRB ==+ —H > AEEREIEEIEL
by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable operating R/ & Tty i N =i VAP NI - A=
leases with its associate and third-party tenants are as follows: T B R 2 409 i) Wi =z o 1 B R 6 AF kR A
T
2021 2020
TR e o
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT Vodiowan
Within one year —4ER 2,659 675
After one year but within two years — AR H W AE N 1,224 -
After two years but within three years WA =N 216 -
4,099 675
16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES 16. e & W E
2021 2020
e St 3 TROFE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT ediol un
Carrying amount at 1 April AW H—H Z MR 19,037 20,346
Additions (from acquisition) (note 34) e (3 B W) (M at34) 22,699 -
Net loss from a fair value adjustment (note 5) A F{H 32 F & 1H (M 75) (292) -
Exchange realignment iEE 5, 34 1,025 (1,309)
Carrying amount at 31 March REA=Z+—HZRHEE 42,469 19,037

P Y 4 A A E m
—E--EFER
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B &P % (4)

The Group's investment properties consist of one residential
property in Japan and two industrial properties in Mainland
China and Japan, respectively. The directors of the Group have
determined that the investment properties consist of two classes
of asset, i.e., residential and industrial, based on the nature,
characteristics and risks of each property. The Group's investment
properties were revalued on 31 March 2021 based on valuations
performed by Cushman & Wakefield Limited and Colliers
International Japan KK, independent professionally qualified
valuers, at HK$42,469,000 (2020: HK$19,037,000). Each year,
the Group's finance team decides to appoint which external
valuers to be responsible for the external valuations of the
Group's properties. Selection criteria include market knowledge,
reputation, independence and whether professional standards are
maintained. The Group's finance team has discussions with the
valuers on the valuation assumptions and valuation results when

the valuations are performed for annual financial reporting.

The investment property in Mainland China is leased to
an associate of the Group under an operating lease and the
investment properties in Japan are leased to third parties under
operating leases, further summary details of which are included

in notes 15 and 37(a)(iv) to the financial statements.

At 31 March 2021, the Group's investment properties in
Japan with an aggregate carrying value of approximately
HK$21,832,000 were pledged to secure the banking facilities
granted to the Group as detailed in note 28 (c) to the financial
statements.

Further particulars of the Group's investment properties are
included on page 228 of the annual report.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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AR 2 B E Y B AR B AR Z T
T 7 JEL 43 T S 7 o B K B e HARR Z T3 3 -
A AR T SR A SR R R R R R R B
HEEREWEAEWEEE > WEB RT3 -
AREMZBEDER_F_—H=A=1+—
FIAR 45 Fl 28 7 S M A L S SR AT S
Colliers International Japan KK#E4T Z 4% {8 i T
fili %542,469,000% 76 (Z%F ZF 4 : 19,037,000
WIL) o BEAE > ACHR ) 2 0B I B Y E AN I Al
AL i 2 A4 [ W S AR L AN A M o R B A
BLHG T Ak~ BB WS DL R A MR
SEOKHE o Al 1F I R A % T 4 U 5 i T
T3 A AV L IR > A 2 iy B 5 0 ko L L
PRI AT ) A L AR e I A SR AT e o

W KR B EW AR EMAEXME T A
SR 2 B AR s T HARZ G LR E
XA E T 58 =07 > R SO 0 Ak M
155%37(a)(iv) °

R AEEZHA=T—H o AREER H AR
Thi 48 18 49 521,832,000 70 1Y £ & 4 % B8 9
A Ty A 4 T 452 SR AT R Z W5 O I R B
5 A B 28 (c) ©

AR 43 5 3 2 LA U 4R R 5228 F o
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE &=

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued) 16. B &P % (4)

Fair value hierarchy AR Y
The following table illustrates the fair value measurement TEH AL G EZ A PETELH

hierarchy of the Group's investment properties:

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2021 using
RO AAEEAE T HZA PG REE

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

5 HARWBE ERAWBLE

i 55 3 i Vs i A AL P i AL
GGBE—FR) (58 —=M) GGE=M) H5t
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
DA R BCH i 58 PE A AR i BT BT BT T BT
Residential property ViR IES - - 11,372 11,372
Industrial properties TEWE - - 31,097 31,097

_ - 42,469 42,469

Fair value measurement
as at 31 March 2020 using
MR-BZEF=ZHA=Z+—HZXAHERERA

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

15 HE HARWBE FHRATEE

T 55 R A 4 i A A 1 s A\ B
(58—d) (58 =) (BB=M) HEt
Recurring fair value measurement for: HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
VAR H 580 P A P AT i BT BT T BT T BT
Industrial property T¥Y% - - 19,037 19,037
During the year, there were no transfers of fair value EN s B S g 2z I S R AN SR A
measurements between Level 1 and Level 2 and no transfers into EoMBEZBEEEARBEHZBR(CE

or out of Level 3 (2020: Nil). AR i) o

Y A AR A m
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

Reconciliation of fair value measurements categorised within

Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy:

16. Be& ¥ (&)
A TE 2R (5)

Vi EUAR R T AR R ¢ )

Residential Industrial

property properties

IRt/ S TEME

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT W T

Carrying amount at 1 April 2019 P_F—NENHA —HZRHEE - 20,346

Exchange realignment FEE 56, 38 2% - (1,309)
Carrying amount at 31 March 2020 R_R_REFE=A=1T—HK

and 1 April 2020 ZERZFFMA—HZ R - 19,037
Additions (from acquisition) o (5 W) 11,746 10,953
Net loss from a fair value adjustment i N ONTE A Fi2))

recognised in other income and gains/ Tt 58 2 O 1L R o s 1R R A -

(losses), net in profit or loss izl | (73) (219)
Exchange realignment [ 50, 74 2% (301) 1,326
Carrying amount at 31 March 2021 Ro-F_—#£=H=+—H

Z MR A 11,372 31,097

Below is a summary of the valuation techniques used and the key

inputs to the valuation of the investment properties:

Valuation technique

Significant unobservable inputs

B T 45 W A T A A B0l B B
A PR

Weighted average

Al fEL 4 4l KA v B Wyl A AL THE 125 ¥
2021 2020
B e A =
Residential property Cost method Building unit cost HK$18,463 -
in Japan RS B (per square metre) 18,463% o
H A Z B 3% M B JROA (557 05 k)
Industrial property Cost method Building unit cost HK$7,020
in Japan SR AR (per square metre) 7,020 50 -
HARZ T34 3% M B RO (557 05 k)
Industrial property Direct capitalisation Market rental value
in Mainland China method (per square metre and per month) HK$28 HK$25
W RREZ TEME HEEALS WAL (P ITR R BEA) 28%# L 25T
Term yield (per annum)
A 912 R (FE4E) 5.75% 5.75%
Reversionary yield (per annum)
T8 B Wi 2 K (RE4F) 6.25% 6.25%

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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16. BeE W ¥ (H)

16. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

The Group has determined that the current use of the industrial

properties is the highest and best use at the measurement date.

Under the cost method, a property's fair value is estimated based
on the amount that would be required currently to replace the

service capacity of an asset.

A significant increase (decrease) in the building unit cost would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the

investment properties.

Under the direct capitalisation method, a property's fair value
is estimated based on the normalised net operating income
generated by the property, which is divided by the capitalisation

rate.

A significant increase (decrease) in the market rental value would
result in a significant increase (decrease) in the fair value of the
investment property. A significant increase (decrease) in the term
yield rate and reversionary yield rate in isolation would result in a

significant decrease (increase) in the fair value of the investment

property.

B THARE (4]

A AR ) U A % T TR 36 H T2 & T
H )z foe i B2 &

MR A > W A FE TR B A
7 IR 5 68 3 P % 1A 4 LA T o

A B A KR 389 0 (A ) 7 S 3
B 2 P-4 K 1 5 (A4

MR B E A » YA P TIOR3
Jife 8 20 2 B — A 3 A8 WO Bk DA AR b ST
filiwt o

TG AL KR () & BB B S
AR RS (A ) o 18 47 T W R % i
1 R Z KRB (D) & E BB E Y S AT
fE R A (3m) -

17. GOODWILL 17. &

2021 2020
R4 e e <2
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT I
Net carrying amount at beginning of year AR ) 2 R THEHE 42,858 44,699
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) WAL B JB8 A ) (M 34) 82,415 -
Exchange realignment E 58, 3 % 123 (1,841)
Net carrying amount at end of year AR 2 W T 125,396 42,858

At end of the year: AR .
Cost A 128,688 46,150
Accumulated impairment B EH A (3,292) (3,292)
125,396 42,858

P o g B R 24
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

17. GOODWILL (continued)

The carrying amount of goodwill allocated to the cash-generating

units is as follows:

17. % (51)

43 T 2 B 4 3 A B 2 v B 2 MR T AR B
T

2021 2020

R e

HKS$°000 HK$°000

BT BT I

Trading business IEOE 3 16,896 15,587
Lunch box and tuck shop services operation it & J /NET & IR 75 £ %

(the "Catering business") (TRHKEKD 14,090 14,090
Mainland restaurant operation A A B 3 12,141 11,200
Snack food and confectionery distribution in % H 223 &4 2= & K b SR

Japan (the "Miyata group business") (T HEMEEE]D 80,288 -
Others Aty 1,981 1,981

125,396 42,858

Impairment testing of goodwill

Mainland restaurant operation, trading business, Catering
business and Miyata group business cash-generating units

The recoverable amounts of the Mainland restaurant operation
cash-generating unit, the trading business cash-generating unit,
the Catering business cash-generating unit and the Miyata group
business cash-generating unit have been determined based on
a value-in-use calculation using cash flow projections based
on financial budgets covering a five-year period approved by
senior management. The discount rate applied to the cash flow
projections is between 12.1% and 13.6% (2020: 13.5%). The
growth rate used to extrapolate the cash flows of the cash-
generating units beyond the five-year period is between 0% and
3% (2020: 0% and 3%).

Assumptions were used in the value-in-use calculation of the
Mainland restaurant operation cash-generating unit, the trading
business cash-generating unit and the Catering business cash-
generating unit for the years ended 31 March 2021 and 2020 and
the Miyata group business cash-generating unit for the year ended
31 March 2021. The following describes each key assumption
on which management has based its cash flow projections to

undertake impairment testing of goodwill:

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

T 2 A

CER-) EX AN -CEZ AR -7 X V¥ 9 E]
1 S 5 B <2 g 2 A

Wi BEEG B e NN - B EHREE
A HLAL S BEBE SR A R A
T B 4 A LA 2 T WA Il R I G R A A A
FEERT o 5 T 3 R v A B o A 4 3o 25 T
AR 2 WA BT S T B A R W 5 - Bl A
PRTAE 2 M B R A 12.1%E13.6% (ZF &
M 13.5%) o BT MZ B &EE L Z
BT RAREH A T0%23% (ZF R4 :
N P0%E3I%) °

MAHRE R ER_F_RFE=ZN
ET—HIEFEZ N EEEED & AR
fr ~ B 5 ST B A e A WA R R B R A
R REE R EEH = HIRE
B AR R B A A WAL A I
B TR o DATF 1 200 4 8RR i A Hh B i
T I PR A 2 2% 2 AR R DA AT 7 R Ul A
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17. GOODWILL (continued) 17. 2 (4)
Impairment testing of goodwill (continued) T 2 WA (&)
Budgeted gross margins — The basis used to determine the value HEEME -FADEEHEEBN R EEZ R
assigned to the budgeted gross margins is the average gross Wb REFHBEERN —E NG B E
margins achieved in the year immediately before the budget year, S & PR R T 1R 2R B o

increased for expected efficiency improvements.

Discount rates — The discount rates used are before tax and A B R — iR 2 BB R A R AL AT > H e
reflect specific risks relating to the relevant units. HH BR SR B = A ) B o

Purchase price inflation — The basis used to determine the value RIS L — 1R M LRz e S v T 3%
assigned to inventory price inflation is the forecast price indices TH B4R PE N AF B 20 IR M 2 T A AR TR A o

during the budget year from where inventories are sourced.

The values assigned to the key assumptions on expected B E RS O HE ~ BB R IR E A LR 3
efficiency improvements, discount rates and purchase price AR B 2 B A B AR G R AR A AT — B o

inflation are consistent with external information sources.

Y A AR A m
—E--FFH
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@ Year ended 31 March 2021 & FE - . —4E=A=+—H IL4FE
18. OTHER INTANGIBLE ASSETS 8. I fib 406 %
Backlog Customer
contracts Licences relationships Total
HESH 234 v9al 16 Bt
HKS$°000 HK$°000 HK$’000 HKS$°000
BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2019: RZB-NENA—H :
Cost BA 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation SR 3] (5,464) (280) (467) (6,211)
Net carrying amount R T £ - 128 412 540
Cost at 1 April 2019, net of REZF—NENH—HZ A
accumulated amortisation IR 25T B - 128 412 540
Amortisation provided during PR ES (W 7ES)
the year (note §) - (82) (137) (219)
At 31 March 2020 RE-EZFE=ZH=1+—H - 46 275 321
At 31 March 2020: RIFZFHE=A=Z+—H:
Cost B 5,464 408 879 6,751
Accumulated amortisation B (5,464) (362) (604) (6,430)
Net carrying amount R T 5 - 46 275 321
Cost at 1 April 2020, net of RZFZBENA—HZRA
accumulated amortisation Mk Bty - 46 275 321
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) WM A (HfiE34) - - 81,068 81,068
Amortisation provided PR ES (W7ES)
during the year (note 8) - (46) (5,164) (5,210)
Exchange realignment EE 30 i 2 - - (1,894) (1,894)
At 31 March 2021 RE-FZ—-#=H=1+—H - - 74,285 74,285
At 31 March 2021: RZFZ—H=A=+—H:
Cost BA 5,464 408 79,854 85,726
Accumulated amortisation B (5,464) (408) (5,569) (11,441)
Net carrying amount R T 5 - - 74,285 74,285

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

19. A B A vl 2 B H

&N

2021 2020

B o

HKS$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Share of net assets FEAL & Bl 172,463 155,107

The Group's trade payable balances with the associates are

A 4F% ) BRI % A W) 2 B A B2 B R K A R B

disclosed in note 26 to the financial statements. B 75 i o B 26 o
Particulars of the principal associates are as follows: FEBEBAFGEHWT ¢
Percentage
Place of of ownership
Particulars incorporation/ interest
of issued registration attributable to Principal
Name shares held and business the Group activities
A O GRSV 7 45 A
E2] B By w4 il kB RN AR TLEEH
Calbee Four Seas Company Limited Ordinary shares Hong Kong 50.0 Manufacturing
R ZEB YW AT BR A H] W s of snack foods
/N L
VY YR A (U EE) A B2 ] Paid-up capital PRC/ Mainland 50.0 Manufacturing
B B AR China of snack foods
LTl PN NERE
Want Want Four Seas Company Limited @ Ordinary shares Hong Kong 30.0 Trading in
W IEE PO 9 A PR 7] W R snack foods
MNEH 5
Note: M it

(i) The financial years of these associates are not coterminous with

that of the Group and have financial year ending 31 December.

These associates use 31 December as their financial year end date

to conform with their holding companies' reporting date or statutory

requirements.

() W% ST A R BB R B AR B AR A
HMBAFEREGHEH /R T ZA=Z+—H o %D
TEAZt BRI BE R H 2B A
R B B A ) 2 BRI R R A o

oY A AR A

S
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19. INVESTMENTS IN ASSOCIATES

Notes to Financial Statements

LI R

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

(continued)

The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors, principally affected the results for the
year or formed a substantial portion of the net assets of the
Group. To give details of other associates would, in the opinion

of the directors, result in particulars of excessive length.

The financial years of the above associates are coterminous with
that of the Group, except for associates as mentioned in note
(i) above, for which the consolidated financial statements are
adjusted for the material transactions between their financial year

end date and the Group's year end date.

During the year ended 31 March 2021, Lotte Four Seas Limited,
one of the Group's associates with 30% ownership interest,
had reduced its capital by US$1,331,810 by way of special
resolutions passed in December 2020.

The following table illustrates the aggregate financial information

of the Group's associates that are not individually material:

19. BB A v 2 B ()

T Ay DA BT A A B R 2 SR AR
R B A 4 V) 2 T G A L
BT > EHER SIS ER T B A R E
i3 ot

e g A ) 2 A R B A AR A S A
0t — o M SRR G RO At 2 W 2 ) B
B o fk B s S RN S S A 4R T B B4 B
R HZMZEARLZ 5 -

BECF-HF=HA=+—HIEEHH > &
4 [ BEAT 30% 7 A RERE 25 1 30 b — KB 8 2 W)
LRMMAERAFRBBRR T _RET 1@
A R ) e e R M L B AR 1,331,810 8 ©

T S T 2 T K0 0 A )
£ 7l BB YR <

2021 2020
SRR TRORE
HK$°000 HK$’000
BT W oo
Share of the associates' profit for the year R A B 25 2 ) 48 1A i ) 11,664 8,748
Share of the associates' other R A T 8 2 ) G At 4 i
comprehensive income/(l1oss) ek (UBER) 3,433 (2,476)
Share of the associates' total comprehensive — JE A I %5 4y =] 44 4> i
income/(loss) Wzt (EHE) 15,097 6,272
Aggregate carrying amount of the AREERTE AR ZHREM
Group's investments in associates A8 1 T 172,463 155,107

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

20. 3523 V-0 728 388 LA 2 i Mo 2 A\ iR
Z 4k ¥

2021 2020

R S L

HKS$°000 HK$’000

T T

Listed equity investments at fair value iR E » A TFE 20,009 -

Unlisted equity investment, at fair value I iR E - KA PE

Miyata Holding B R

The above equity investment was irrevocably designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group

considers this investment to be strategic in nature.

F P A AR B R b R B A H SRR >
Db BB O TR 4 R A 3 AP
N TR & YN

INVENTORIES 21. 1%
2021 2020
TR AR CRIRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT T
Raw materials 5 R} 147,147 139,697
Work in progress 2 1% 21,078 10,846
Finished goods B 249,617 194,968
417,842 345,511

P o g B R 24
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

22, BE W B M Ak

2021 2020

TR AR TRIRE

HKS$°000 HK$°000

W T o

Trade receivables JRE W B 5 MR Ak 783,094 542,430
Impairment WhAE (1,650) (14,048)

781,444 528,382

The Group's trading terms with its customers are mainly on
credit, except for new customers, where payment in advance is
normally required. The credit period is generally for a period
of one to three months, extending up to four to five months for
major customers. Each customer has a maximum credit limit.
The Group seeks to maintain strict control over its outstanding
receivables to minimise credit risk. Overdue balances are
reviewed regularly by senior management. In view of the
aforementioned and the fact that the Group's trade receivables
relate to a large number of diversified customers, there is no
significant concentration of credit risk. The Group does not
hold any collateral or other credit enhancements over its trade
receivables. Trade receivables are non-interest-bearing.

An ageing analysis of the trade receivables as at the end of the

AEMEE P Z W BRI VAR &R 3 W&
P et A K o 5B R 2=
HoBMELEEPME > TERENERMHA -
AR R 53 A 5 SRR o ACHR I Jy SR B
1 L 1o AR MO 2 M ACR I o Ot A R B
IR o o A PR R rE AR Y A R o BB
T LR > DA B AR 5 T 2 M WA B S Rk SRR
ZZ e L% P AR > NI A OO AR
JE B o AR 55 TSI S8 B % 56 A B R A AT T HR A
A RRT - BB ERTIRE -

T HE IR > AR PR 5 H YT B B B A 2

reporting period, based on the invoice date and net of losses WS GERZEB ST :
allowance, is as follows:

2021 2020
TR TR CRIRE
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
Within 1 month IKEDERE] 411,019 180,692
1 to 2 months 12218 A 150,757 98,978
2 to 3 months 2231 A 80,759 84,474
Over 3 months 3ME AL 138,909 164,238
781,444 528,382

Included in the trade receivables are amounts from subsidiaries
of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited, a substantial
shareholder of the Company, of HK$276,000 (2020: Nil), which
is repayable on credit terms similar to those offered to the major

customers of the Group.
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued) 22. MWL 5 Mk (48)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade

receivables are as follows:

S 5 i B ik

JRE W B R A A =2 s 4R 8 R = 5 ) A L
T

2021 2020

TR RO

HKS$°000 HK$’000

T T

At beginning of year AR 14,048 6,066

Impairment losses/(reversal WA e 18, (488 [ a4 s 1)

of impairment losses), net (note 8) R (B AEs) (762) 10,654
Amount written off as uncollectable FE 7 7 T 5 T 8 =2 4 (11,636) (2,672)
At end of year Tt AR 2% 1,650 14,048

As at 31 March 2021, the decrease in the loss allowance of
HK$12,398,000 was primarily due to the write-off of certain
trade receivables.

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses. The
provision rates are based on days past due for groupings of
various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographic region and customer type). The calculation reflects
the probability-weighted outcome, reasonable and supportable
information that is available at the reporting date about past
events, current conditions and forecasts of future economic

conditions.

MR-FZZ—4E=A=1+—H > BEBHRD
12,398,000% 76 » EEH AWM A THRKE 5
HR 2K o

TP A5 i A0 4 R P 485 4 O £ A 23 A
V0wt B RO A5 BE AR K o S804 R 5 B B B
Ol TR B2 S AY 22 8 % 5 23 B0 A7 23 AL (P 4% 3
PRALE J % P B BE Y B BGHAE - R
J W B A% R o A A R B s T A A B
A ~ B TR B R AR R 1 B B
B EL SR R o
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22. TRADE RECEIVABLES (continued)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on

the Group's trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31 March 2021

22. MEWCH B WAk (4)
e R A 4 M 255 W A D 5 4

P i B L I Y R

RoR ==+ —H

Past due
i8]
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
it —%& k]
39 —fH =MA =MA A5t
Expected credit loss rate TS B R 0.06% 0.41% 2.64% 2.27% 0.21%
Gross carrying amount (HK$°000) ST (B ToC) 685,624 55,460 18,850 23,160 783,094
Expected credit losses (HK$°000) FEfE &R E
(T o) 398 228 498 526 1,650
As at 31 March 2020 N R _RE=ZH=+—H
Past due
78139
Less than 1to3 Over
Current 1 month months 3 months Total
S — % kil
Hp 3 — il A =1 A =M A HE
Expected credit loss rate HMfERBRAR 0.02% 0.31% 1.93% 48.44% 2.59%
Gross carrying amount (HK$’000) BRI (PEWT o) 416,207 88,485 9,852 27,886 542,430
Expected credit losses (HK$’000) T EER
(W T o) 74 276 190 13,508 14,048

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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23. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND 23. TAT K ~ w) 4 B 30 i HE ek
OTHER RECEIVABLES

2021 2020
e St 2 ZRIRE
HKS$°000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Prepayments FEAT K 58,891 49,977
Deposits and other receivables HE9 &N E e 171,358 100,891
Loan receivables JRE Wik - 122,053
230,249 272,921
Less: Deposits classified as non-current assets  Ji : @ B IERMBE EZ 7] & (31,111) (28,426)
Current portion R s 199,138 244,495
At 31 March 2020, the loan receivables represented amounts R_EEEZH=Z+—H » BB R A EIR
due from MYC, and were unsecured, interest-free and repayable MYCZ fEHEH ~ 48 B K 78 AR 08 B ok 1 o B 2
based on terms stipulated in the loan agreements. MYC became a ZHHAERZEFEFH R _F_—F=H
subsidiary of the Company as at 31 March 2021. Z+—H > MYCEEAARAE ZWEAF -
Impairment of deposits, other receivables and loan receivables AT~ A JE N 30T T HE W B 2 A
The financial assets included in the above balances relate to FEA Ll S fif 2 4 Rl AS B g 0 I 20 5 A R Bk
deposits and receivable for which there was no recent history of T 0 40 380 3] 4 0 2 5T 4 S JE R IE A B o A
default and past due amounts. As at 31 March 2021 and 2020, the RO ERZROFEZA=Z1—H 0 HEE

loss allowance was assessed to be minimal. Y A =Y T )

Y A AR A m
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24. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE

THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS

24§&¥ﬁ§ﬁﬁﬁl%m$ﬁ§
=

2021 2020
TR ZRIORY
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T Vo o T
Listed equity investments iR 39,332 41,491
Other unlisted investments HAbdE Ed#E
Equity investment REZE & 24,906 27,353
School debenture =Y - E 4,650 4,650
Club debentures o BT 1,200 1,200
Insurance premium B 377 -
Fund wraps ReEHG 356 -
70,821 74,694
Less: Classified as non-current assets W A AEREEE (31,635) (33,340)
Current portion 7 B 4y 39,186 41,354

The above equity investments included in non-current assets were
designated by the Group as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss as the Group has not elected to recognise the fair

value gain or loss through other comprehensive income.

The above equity investments included in current assets were
designated by the Group as financial assets at fair value through

profit or loss as they were held for trading.

The above unlisted investments were equity investment in
Mainland China, insurance premium and fund wraps in Japan,
a school debenture in Hong Kong, and club debentures in Hong
Kong. They were mandatorily classified as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss as their contractual cash flows are not

solely payments of principal and interest.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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25. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS 25. e KB E&SMHMEH

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

2021 2020

e = — i

HKS$°000 HK$’000

T BT T

Cash and bank balances Be R RATHR 434,375 353,091
Time deposits with original maturity of less B A FIH HAR=ZMA =

than three months when acquired 7 B A7 K 142,852 153,890

Cash and cash equivalents B& B &%EEH 577,227 506,981

At the end of the reporting period, the cash and bank balances
of the Group denominated in Renminbi ("RMB") amounted
to HK$152,140,000 (2020: HK$130,425,000). RMB is not
freely convertible into other currencies, however, under
Mainland China's Foreign Exchange Control Regulations and
Administration of Settlement, Sale and Payment of Foreign
Exchange Regulations, the Group is permitted to exchange RMB
for other currencies through banks authorised to conduct foreign

exchange business.

Cash at banks earns interest at floating rates based on daily bank
deposit rates. Short term time deposits are made for varying
periods of between one day and three months (2020: one day and
three months) depending on the immediate cash requirements
of the Group, and earn interest at the respective short term time
deposit rates. The bank balances are deposited with creditworthy

banks with no recent history of default.

EREBIAR > AREEI AR (AR 5IE
Z Bl T SRAT B 47 $5152,140,000% 76 (=& —
FAE 1 130,425,000% 78) o A REAA A 5
Pt 2 At B > AELRR 4% b B OKC e A7 B A B R 45
A R~ B M A A BB > A [ v
3 TR AT A AT A/ R B e S 2 BRAT I N R B

S0 B0 ¢ 5 1 017 1 4K 3¢ DL 0 Ll
OB K S0 AR 3T 3 B =4
SRR — H RS 2R M
th BT A 2 BB R - e
2 N A ROR R - ST 447 T34
I 0 0 4 4 T LT B 15 2 AT -
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26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 26. MEAT BU B MR AR ~ i A R 0 K%
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS Wt &
2021 2020
TR AR TRIRE
Notes HK$’000 HK$°000
Mt ik BT BT T
Trade payables FEAT & 5 W 3k (a) 394,296 178,219
Other payables Al JRE A 35K I 97,342 57,538
Accruals ME ST A A 109,529 90,507
Contract liabilities R (b) 3,160 4,127
604,327 330,391
Less: Non-current portion of P+ Al R A R T % HE
other payables and accruals £ 5 2 I I By 8 (4,524) -
599,803 330,391
Notes: M EE -
(a) An ageing analysis of the trade payables as at the end of the (a) REEHR > HEBEBEEHHZEMNEZRKZ
reporting period, based on the invoice date, is as follows: BT :
2021 2020
It Stk 3 ROR
HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT BT T
Within 1 month A A 294,577 146,416
1 to 2 months 12218 H 68,513 16,873
2 to 3 months 2&3Mi H 13,249 7,919
Over 3 months 3fE AL 17,957 7,011
394,296 178,219
Included in trade payables are amounts due to the Group's WEAT B 5 W ok AL G 45 R AL B % A vl Z 3k I8
associates of HK$44,154,000 (2020: HK$45,616,000) and 44,154,000% 70 (ZF Z R4 1 45,616,000%57C)
subsidiaries of Hong Kong Food Investment Holdings Limited, a T BER AT — 44 BT a3 )
substantial shareholder of the Company, of HK$165,000 (2020: A R A B B R A B Z 3K I8 165,0008 58 (—F
HK$91,000), which are normally settled on 30-day to 60-day terms. TR 91,000%773) > M — IR 30 E 60 H H
I‘Eun
The trade payables are non-interest-bearing and are normally settled JE AT B 5 MR ok s %0 B T — iR 330360 H 11 PR 4%
on 30-day to 60-day terms. Other payables are non-interest-bearing £ o HALBEATZKIE T3 B > B FH A=
and have an average term of three months. H o

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE &=
26. TRADE PAYABLES, OTHER 26. MEAT B 5 Mk ~ Uil M A 3k B
PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS (continued) HE w645 (4
Notes: (continued) Mat : (%)
(b) Details of contract liabilities are as follows: b)) AHABZIFHEBEIWMT
31 March 2021 31 March 2020 1 April 2019
R ZRRE ZE2 U
ZA=Z+—H =H=+—H WH—H
HK$’000 HK$’000 HKS$’000
BT Vel N Vil en

Short-term advances received from Vb i€ I=F 0 8

customers
Sale of goods S 3,160 4,127 4,254
Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to deliver BRI RS R A AT R T 2 I EOK
products to customers. The decrease in contract liabilities in 2021 HeoRZRDER R DREZ AN AW
and 2020 was mainly due to the decrease in short-term advances A 32 B2 H AR 5 B A R Bl 2 L Bk R
received from customers in relation to the sale of goods at the end I ©
of the year.
27.DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL 27. A5 2 i TR
INSTRUMENTS
2021 2020
R S
Assets Assets
¥ ¥ e
HK$’000 HK$°000
BY T BT T
Derivatives ik TR
Foreign currency options A1 s S0 741 -
Foreign currency swaps A s J5 1 87 -
828 -
The Group enters into foreign currency options and swaps with A S ) BELBRLAT 5T A A e D) A LA
banks to manage its exchange rate exposures which do not meet JEUBE > DN ASAF A B 0wt s B A o JR
the criteria for hedge accounting. Change in fair value of non- B AT A TR 2 A P {E 5 B A 660,000 G
hedging currency derivatives amounting to HK$660,000 was O ENFIAZGHREE -

credited to the consolidated statement of profit or loss during the
year.

Y A AR A m
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27. DERIVATIVE FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

At 31 March 2021, the major terms of the outstanding foreign

currency options and foreign currency swap contracts to which

27. fi e A L ()

REFZAAEZH=E1H o RERARHEIR
2] 51 41 s 90 4 T S W B A 0 0 32 AR

the Group are committed are as follows: T
Foreign currency Notional Notional
options amount amount Maturity Knock-out rate Exchange rate
o185 390 i i i 51 H W% W
Long call US$ Short put US$
BN o Dol 300 i ¥ ) 52 0 200
T e
As at 31 March 2021 50,000 100,000 1/4/2021 US$1: JPY130.50  US$1: JPY99.95
)/ e S | 1B B8
=+—H 130.50 H & 99.95 H A
100,000 200,000 22/3/2022 USS$1:JPY120.00 US$1:JPY101.19
IES e
120.00 H &l 101.19H &
Notional Notional
Foreign currency swaps amount amount Maturity Swaps
b s 5 30 i i i W H #0
JPY’ million US$’000
H I ¥ # o FxTx
As at 31 March 2021 939 8,000 31/7/2021 6.66% for 7.50%
216.66%
BRI FEEZH=EAH B #7.50%

The fair value of foreign currency option contracts as at 31
March 2021 is based on the Black-scholes option pricing
model using the applicable yield curve for the duration of the

corresponding contracts.

The fair value of foreign currency swap contracts as at 31 March
2021 is based on the discounted cash flow method using the
applicable yield curve for the duration of the corresponding

contracts.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE G
28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK 28. ZE AT M B Z S AT £
BORROWINGS
2021 2020
e St 2
Effective Effective
interest rate Maturity HK$°000 interest rate Maturity HK$°000
RS W H BT Iy YIRS EZIp e BT
Current
LU
Trust receipt loans — unsecured 0.01%-1.7% Within 75,511 1.8%-4.4% Within 81,898
AR 7 RE OB B 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
120 M 12fHA W
B 2Ok BEER
Bank loans — unsecured 0.05%-1.28 % Within 744,508 1.1%-5.4% Within 617,526
JHEHR AR SR AT B 12 months 12 months
or on or on
demand demand
12 H M 120 A
Bk B R AR E R
Bank loans — secured 1.28 % Within 143,033 - - -
B G SR AT B 12 months
12 AW
963,052 699,424
Non-current
Fh 5 By
Bank loans — unsecured 0.99%-1.28 % 2 to 3 years 102,181 0.8%-2.43% 2 to 3 years 60,000
G BT R AR PERES kLD
Bank loans — secured 1.28% 2 to 3 years 92,203 - - -
AR SRAT B pE KL
194,384 60.000
1,157,436 759,424

Y A AR A m
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28. INTEREST-BEARING BANK

S 785 it o B

BORROWINGS (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE _-F

Notes to Financial Statements

—HEZAZt HIREE

28. ZH AT B 2 ST Bk ()

2021 2020
N SRRk
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Analysed into: v
Bank loans: SRATH K ¢
Within one year or on demand RN IRE R 963,052 699,424
In the second year I N 56,297 60,000
In the third year e N 138,087 -
1,157,436 759,424
Notes: MEE -
(a)  All the bank and trust receipt loans bear interest at floating interest (a)  JrA SRAT B AR OB Sk 3 D B R R 5 R
rates.
(b) The bank loans were denominated in Hong Kong dollar, Japanese (b)  HEREHIR > BATREFRDEIC - HIE A RK

yen and Renminbi at the end of the reporting period.

(c) Certain of the Group's bank loans are secured by the pledge of (c)
certain of the Group's land and building, which had an aggregate
carrying value of approximately HK$109,921,000 and certain of
the Group's investment properties, which had an aggregate carrying
value of HK$21,832,000 at the end of the reporting period as

Ty B o

Ff 5k 14 8216 ©

detailed in notes 14 and 16 to the financial statements.

As at 31 March 2021, there were no term loans repayable over -
one year containing a repayment on demand clause (2020: Nil).

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE =
29. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 29. J5& # F) 7R I
The Group has unfunded defined benefit retirement plans which REHEmEHARZ A AEBMYCHE B XATH
cover all its qualifying MYC's employees and executives in A B #R A It 3k 5 w5 AR AR T3 > A B A A
Japan, depending on their length of service, salary in the final THIR A & 2 IR AE R BRI R B AEE 2 H
years leading up to retirement and the retirement factor. 2 VA BB AR R K W S o
The plan is exposed to a number of risks, the most significant of RS ZIHEERE > HPREREZFEHEET

which are detailed below:

Risks Descriptions

e B ik

Change in bond yields A decrease in corporate bond yields will increase plan liabilities, although this will be
partially offset by an increase in the value of the plans' bond holdings.

5095 W 2 R 52 ) A SRR 2R WA B W I w8 £ o MR 0 e ) £ 2 6 9 T IR -

Inflation risk The majority of the plans' benefit obligations are linked to inflation, and higher inflation
will lead to higher liabilities.

788 i JL B KR 43wl S 48 A ST B AR A B o A R R TR 8 o LA

Life expectancy The majority of the plans' obligations are to provide benefits for the life of the member,
so increases in life expectancy will result in an increase in the plan liabilities.

i KL WEH B AR TR R B A Z AR SRR A > RS i R N A BE  EAEH m
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

29. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS 29. R mA RS (8)

(continued)

The most recent actuarial valuation of the present value of the
defined benefit obligations was carried out on 31 March 2021
by IIC Partners Co., Ltd., an independent qualified professional
valuer using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the

reporting period are as follows:

B 58 1 ) R I BUAE 2 d5 4T 00 RG S L v 8 o
B G HE NG ERIIC Partners Co., Ltd & =&
TEE A=A B Y AL R R A
fH B HEAT -

TSR PR Z BER R

2021

R T

Discount rate (%) W B R (%) 0.66%
Expected weighted average rate of salary increases (%) AR 4 IRE - 3 B4 = 2 (%) 2.0%

Assumptions regarding future mortality are set based on actuarial
advice in accordance with published statistics and experience.
These assumptions translate into an average life expectancy in
years for a regular employee and an executive of MYC retiring at

ages 60 and 65, respectively.

A quantitative sensitivity analysis for significant assumptions as

at the end of the reporting period is shown below:

H BRI R Z AR5 T7 3 AR O A s s
B T AR RS SR R A o % AR AT ST
HMYC— & IERE B X — A ITH A B 4371260
% T 65 5% 3B Pk = FH 1 3 By o

FHE AR > TR AR % R AU 43 B R
mE

Increase/ Increase/
(decrease) (decrease)
in defined in defined
Increase benefit Decrease benefit
in rate obligations in rate obligations
Vg HERA
R, RYER I,
& k7t (W) H & T R (W A)
% HK$'000 % HKS$'000
BT BT
2021 TR T AR
Discount rate 5 B R 0.5 (500) 0.5 500
Expected weighted average rate of AR 2K 7 4 i HE 7 3 3 | &
salary increases 0.5 700 0.5 (700)

The above sensitivity analysis is based on a change in an
assumption while holding all other assumptions constant.
In practice, this is unlikely to occur. When calculating the
sensitivity of the defined benefit obligations to the significant
actuarial assumption, the same method (present value of the
defined benefit obligations calculated with the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method at the end of the reporting
period) has been applied when calculating the pension liability
recognised within the consolidated statements of financial
position.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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29. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS
(continued)

The Group finances the funding requirements of the pension plan
by internal resources and does not have any funding arrangements

and funding policy that will affect future contributions.

The total expenses recognised in the consolidated statement of

profit or loss in respect of the plan are as follows:

29. 5 M &I (A7)

A 55 [ DL 5 HE AR OB AR 42 S 2 B B
R o BLIRE I S T 7 AT AT 6 5 BOR AR BR Z B
L R EBOR -

TP B 4R B8 A B R e 2 AR B SR

2021

TR A

HK$’000

BT

Current service cost 1 RO B AR 765
Interest cost F & A 41
Past service cost 208 A Il S AR 1,351
Net benefit expenses 1 F) B 32 A 2,157
Recognised in administrative expenses CL A AT B B 52 1 8 2,157

The amount recognised in the consolidated statement of

comprehensive income in respect of the plan is as follows:

TP A 2 T WA B 28 R s B e R RN

2021
R
HK$°000
BT

Actuarial gains recognised

O e 58 A % 1,847

P o g B R 24
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29. DEFINED BENEFIT OBLIGATIONS

(continued)

The movements in the present value of the defined benefit

obligations are as follows:

29. 5 M &I (A7)

WM ARBEBRMEZ EBHWT ¢

2021
HK$’000
BT
At 1 April 2020 BREFZRENA—H -
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) W S Y JB A W) (B iE34) 8,261
Current service cost ] M s B AR 765
Interest cost A B B AR 41
Benefit paid E AT 15 (1,107)
Past service cost 28 A Il 5 AR 1,351
Actuarial loss arising from changes P foc AR i 56 Y g 2 A B B s 18
in demographic assumptions 3
Actuarial gain arising from changes PR Vot 75 At it 5 o 2 A RS B 2R
in financial assumptions (587)
Actuarial gain arising from experience adjustments P 468 B R 2 i A RS ST 2R (1,793)
Exchange realignment [ 50, i 2% (180)
At 31 March 2021 REFZHZA=+—H 7,284

The average duration of the defined benefit obligations at the end

of the reporting period is 13.1 years.
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30. DEFERRED TAX

The movements in deferred tax liabilities and assets during the

year are as follows:

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

30. % %t B

o
@

(&)

AR E BUH R R BT

2021 TR AR
Deferred tax liabilities W %t Bl I 1 05
Fair value Financial assets
adjustment at fair value
Accelerated  arising from through other
tax  acquisition of  Revaluation ~ Withholding comprehensive
depreciation  subsidiaries  of properties taxes income Others Total
WA THER
T A i Jetb 2k g
MERE A N >4
il ZAVERE  BEER R aWEE b st
HE$'000 HEK$'000 HEK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HEKS$'000
#HTe  #WTL #WTC #WTL #FTL #FTL TR
At 1 April 2020 REEZREN-H 4451 8,227 1,109 2,29 - - 16,083
Deferred tax credited to the statement KEERBRER
of profit or loss during the year (note 11) A ERERE (Hit11) (509) (3,936) = (1,030) = (31) (5,346)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of KEERREURENRZ
comprehensive income for the year i = - - - 3353 - 3353
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) Wkl A ) (A E34) 2,687 38,529 - - 1,268 1,080 43,564
Exchange realignment B 200 (54) U 40 (163) (17 n
Gross deferred tax liabilities at REBZ-EZRE4-H
31 March 2021 ZIRREREA AR 6,829 42,766 1,130 1,306 4458 692 57,181
Deferred tax assets W& %t B X %
Losses
available for
Impairment Decelerated offsetting Retirement
of financial tax  against future benefit
assets  depreciation  taxable profits obligations Others Total
WA S A
2B¥E VLT Bk
Wil it WEZENR piRtE ] it
HKS$'000 HKS'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$'000
Wi Wi Wi W W Wi
At 1 April 2020 REZZZRERH—H 39 2,199 5,368 - 100 7,996
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the statement REE RGN A/
of profit or loss during the year (note 11) (%) Z BEAEBLR (Wiat11) @1 3 (1,232) 3% (3,44) (3,885)
Deferred tax charged to the statement of REER2ERERTAZ
comprehensive income for the year EERR = = = (632) = (632)
Acquisition of a subsidiary (note 34) WIS A ] (it 3e) - - 14,199 2,852 7,558 24,609
Exchange realignment S % 6) - (318) (64) (169) (557)
Gross deferred tax assets at REBZ-EZR=F—0
31 March 2021 LEEREEELR pi) 203 18,017 2,545 4445 7531
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30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. %8 #E BLIH (7H)
2020 “RIR
Deferred tax liabilities R 9 B T £ A
Fair value
adjustment
Accelerated arising from
tax  acquisition of Revaluation Withholding
depreciation subsidiaries of properties taxes Total
FR1 W B
WEBE A EEE
e ZATHERE VES Kl Wt
HKS$'000 HK$’000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HKS$’000
BT b BT BT BT
At 1 April 2019 RZF—NAENA—H 5,849 9,644 1,126 1,907 18,526
Deferred tax charged/(credited) to the AR RBR RN
statement of profit or loss during (7t A) Z B
the year (note 11) (k1) (1,004) (749) - 414 (1,429)
Exchange realignment T 51, 3 4% (304) (668) (17) (25) (1,014)
Gross deferred tax liabilities at RZZZZHEZA=Z+—H
31 March 2020 ZERRIEABAR 4,451 8,227 1,109 2,296 16,083
Deferred tax assets 9% B 5 JE A
Losses
available for
Impairment Decelerated offsetting
of financial tax  against future
assets depreciation  taxable profits Others Total
) AL
SHWEEZ WRBE AR
W il KBz EHR H Ay At
HKS$’000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2019 REZZF-UENA—H 441 2,892 5,249 589 9,171
Deferred tax credited/(charged) to the AEFERBRENFA
statement of profit or loss during the year  (#11F%) Z ERE AL
(note 11) (k1) (112) (693) 119 (489) (1,175)
Gross deferred tax assets at REZZZZHEEAZ+—H
31 March 2020 ZREHIEE 329 2,199 5,368 100 7,996
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. EHEBEE (58)

For presentation purpose, certain deferred tax assets and
liabilities have been offset in the statement of financial position.
The following is an analysis of the deferred tax balances of the
Group for financial reporting purposes:

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

BB > 2 T IERE A A & B TR
BEAR DL TR o T 1R B 2 8 H Al T A 4R
VB 2 98 0 5 A B A AT E

2021 2020
TR RO
HK$’000 HK$’000
W T BT
Net deferred tax assets recognised in the T B B B 5 AR 0 T 58 2

consolidated statement of financial position R G B IE B A 20,841 7,996

Net deferred tax liabilities recognised in the &AM B RN ER R Z
consolidated statement of financial position B TE A (50,491) (16,083)
(29,650) (8,087)

The Group has unrecognised tax losses arising in Hong Kong of
approximately HK$176,230,000 (2020: HK$151,657,000) that
are available indefinitely for offsetting against future taxable
profits of the companies in which the losses arose. The Group
also has unrecognised tax losses arising in Mainland China of
approximately HK$210,990,000 (2020: HK$255,693,000) and
Japan of approximately HK$1,526,000 that will expire in one
to five years and one to ten years, respectively, for offsetting
against future taxable profit. Deferred tax assets have not been
recognised in respect of these losses as, in the opinion of the
directors, it is uncertain whether sufficient future taxable profits

will be available against which the tax losses can be utilised.

AEMAEAFBEEZ REZHIEBBELD
176,230,000% 7 (=% 4 : 151,657,000
JC) W] AR AR S BB R 2 AR 2
R AR ME B A o AL AR B K P A A
A — 2 AR B K EH AR AR — 4R
B 1 2 o e w2 B IE s 48 43 7l £9210,990,0009 7T
TRITEM 1 255,693,0008 50) K& #11,526,000
Wt > AT AR B AR RE B A o %R
TE e 18I e s IR A R IR R > IR RS
R BEHEE B 75 A R A0 AR 2R SR 9 AR T 36 I B
B o
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

30. DEFERRED TAX (continued) 30. EHEBEE (548)

Pursuant to the PRC Corporate Income Tax Law, a 10%
withholding tax is levied on dividends declared to foreign
investors from the foreign investment enterprises established in
Mainland China. The requirement is effective from 1 January
2008 and applies to earnings after 31 December 2007. A lower
withholding tax rate may be applied if there is a tax treaty
between Mainland China and jurisdiction of the foreign investors.
For the Group, the applicable rates for the year ended 31 March
2021 are 5%-10% (2020: 5%-10%). The Group is therefore
liable for withholding taxes on dividends distributed by those
subsidiaries established in Mainland China in respect of earnings
generated from 1 January 2008.

At 31 March 2021, except for the deferred tax recognised for
certain PRC subsidiaries that will distribute dividends, no other
deferred tax has been recognised for withholding taxes that would
be payable on the unremitted earnings of the Group's subsidiaries
established in Mainland China that are subject to withholding
taxes. In the opinion of the directors, it is not probable that
these subsidiaries will distribute such earnings in the foreseeable
future. The aggregate amount of temporary differences
associated with investments in subsidiaries in Mainland China
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised
totalled approximately HK$99,672,000 at 31 March 2021 (2020:
HK$76,159,000).

There are no income tax consequences attaching to the payment
of dividends by the Company to its shareholders.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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HE 98 H B A 3 T B o R B K B R 2 A
T A 3 1 R AP B IR Z B R R
10%FHIFL - R EH -FF)E—H—H#
AR WHEAR _FELETA=Z1T—H
BZBR o FH LA E L GRS
B e g K o BT R BE S AR A0 LR ) AR R AT
Tk - MALEAN S > ME_F_—F=H
=t —HIEEZBERABRE5%-10% (ZF 2
FAE 1 5%-10%) © B > A [H 50 B Ok e
oLz B AR M _FF)NE—H—Hilbad
Z BRI 40 Ik 2 B B BT FEFIBL o

MN-FZ—4E=ZH=1+—H > BG#RETHT
43 IR B 8 22 v B R RS 4 ) e R AR A R I A
7 S8 g A AR [ B K e R O 2 B A ]
i 2 oA RE Y 20 BT e A 2 TR 0 B0 e R L
HEBLIE o TRy > 5% S A R R T S AR
ARSI AEBAER - R T _—4E=H
Z+—H > BRI REZEAFZBRER
B 2 A T A S B T B AR 2 W IR AR A
%599,672,000% 7C (—F R4 : 76,159,000%
JL) °

A0y VIR B MR T MR = Ak I 5 A A B A
BisE B o
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31. SHARE CAPITAL 31, BeAs
Shares BBy
2021 2020
SRR TRORE
HK$°000 HKS$°000
T BT T
Authorised: BE
1,000,000,000 ordinary shares of 1,000,000,000/8 4 fi% T fi
HK$0.10 each 0.10% 70 = 3% 48 Bt 100,000 100,000
Issued and fully paid: CBITARHR -
384,257,640 ordinary shares of 384,257,640/8 3 i i 1
HK$0.10 each 0.10% 76 = ¥ 48 it 38,425 38,425

oY A AR A
—E--FFHR
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME 32. Jik JBe B it il

The Company operates a share option scheme for the purpose
of providing incentives and rewards to eligible participants who
contribute to the success of the Group's operations. Eligible
participants of the scheme include the Company's directors,
including independent non-executive directors, other employees
of the Company, and any director or employee of the Company's
subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds any equity

interest.

On 28 August 2012, the Company adopted a share option scheme
(the "Scheme"). The Scheme is valid and effective for a period
of 10 years up to 27 August 2022, after which no further share
options will be granted but the provisions of the Scheme shall
remain in full force and effect in all other respects. Share options
complying with the provisions of the Listing Rules which are
granted during the duration of the Scheme and those remain
unexercised immediately prior to the end of the 10-year period
shall continue to be exercisable in accordance with their terms
of grant as within the share option period for which such share
options are granted, notwithstanding the expiry of the Scheme.

The maximum number of unexercised share options currently
permitted to be granted under the Scheme is an amount
equivalent, upon their exercise, to 38,831,364 ordinary shares,
being 10.0% of the shares of the Company in issue on 28 August
2012. As at the date of this report, the total number of shares
available for issue under the Scheme is 38,831,364 ordinary
shares, representing 10.1% of the existing issued share capital
of the Company. The maximum number of shares issuable
under share options to each eligible participant in the Scheme
within any 12-month period is limited to 1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time. Any further grant of share options
in excess of this limit is subject to shareholders' approval in a

general meeting.

Share options granted to a director, chief executive or substantial
shareholder of the Company, or to any of their associates, are
subject to approval in advance by the independent non-executive
directors of the Company (excluding any independent non-
executive director who is a grantee of the share options). In
addition, any share options granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company, or to
any of their associates, in excess of 0.1% of the shares of the
Company in issue at any time and with an aggregate value (based
on the closing price of the Company's shares at the date of each
grant) in excess of HK$5 million, within any 12-month period,
are subject to shareholders' approval in advance in a general

meeting.
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A 5 [ B A B i 8 A T o R
fEH o

PoF-ZAENH N RARRMA—IH
S SRR it ) (Tt 1) o w3 2 A 200 25 104
EFDCHE)NAZ P EE R HEEAE
T4 A ] S J AR > LT ) < R A T A A
75 T ATS 8 A2 B B A 3K o B AR AT b i AL
BIF > R BI04 RO Rz i > AR R
SO0 Jee i A3 A AT B 2 M B o 7% T 4%
BESR N R Z R AEATBE > S SZ 5t BT S 2 -

H i AR B8 ST B 2 FE 42 R AT 0 R
B T ¥ H %538,831,3645 5 M Bt > AH & A A
RAEF-HFNAZ+HNHOBITREZ
10.0% © A S H W > MEFH# g7
JBE Ay 48 9 %5 38,831,364 % 5 B Mt > FH R A A
B O BT RAZ10.1%  FEAE T+ 8 A 3
AN MBS HEFEHNZEEAEK 2R
HBAT Z B By B E R A58 AR 4y W] R AT A
W 2 BB AT RAR Z 1% o AL — 5 3% 8
DO PR Z IR RE > R ZEAE B R R | bR B R
oo o

BYAANFESR - BT BN BB
S A5 2 A T g N 2 IR > IR
A 2 T 3 IR AT e (FF ) 2 4% 7 i
JBHE Z B SL IR AT E B AT HAEN) o Buhb
TEALAT+ A8 A R P A A W 2 BB
KB IERATE R > R F AR AL
A J o 8 2 A 2 W) A ] I ) 2 AT MR
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32. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (continued) 32. Jifk BEBE M (48)

The offer of a grant of share options may be accepted within 28
days from the date of offer, upon receipt of the duplicate offer
letter comprising acceptance of the offer duly signed by the
grantee with the number of shares in respect of which the offer
is accepted clearly stated therein, together with payment of a
nominal consideration of HK$1 by the grantee to the Company
provided that no offer shall be open for acceptance after the
expiry of the Scheme or after the Scheme has been terminated.

The terms and conditions of the share options granted are
determinable by the directors on a case-by-case basis. Such
terms and conditions may include, but are not limited to (i) the
subscription price; (ii) the period within which the Company's
shares must be taken up under the share option, which must not
be more than 10 years from the offer date; (iii) the minimum
period, if any, for which a share option must be held before it can
be exercised; and (iv) the performance target, if any, that must be

achieved before the share option can be exercised.

The exercise price of the share options is determinable by the
directors in their absolute discretion at the time of the making of
the offer which shall be stated in the letter containing the offer,
but may not be less than the highest of (i) the closing price of
the Company's shares as stated in the Stock Exchange's daily
quotation sheet on the offer date which must be a trading day;
(ii) the average of the closing prices of the Company's shares as
stated in the Stock Exchange's daily quotation sheets for the five
trading days immediately preceding the offer date; and (iii) the
nominal value of the Company's shares.

Share options do not confer rights on the holders to dividends or

to vote at shareholders' meetings.

During the year, no share option was granted to directors and
other employees of the Company or any director or employees of
the Company's subsidiaries and entities in which the Group holds

any equity interests (2020: Nil).

At the end of the reporting period, the Company had no share
option outstanding under the Scheme (2020: Nil).

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

52 Hh G e M -z s e R 2 T R s
REF28 H N HEHR AN > AR N\ R B 38 T3
B B2 1 T e T A AR > JC i RE W %
A TR e 2 B H o 2 ) S A 1 o T E AR T
D) o M JBERE 2 S o O A BT A R T
i T A Ik AR A

it 4% H 2 D Je Ml 2 A0k sk e Ak 1 b 2 3 831 195
DUPRAE > A7 Bl Ik B Aok 1 4 935 (EAS RO ) e
o 5 i) TR BE 2 AT (0 I BROAS R 88 R M
JBCRE 452 t H 9IRS B 1 4E 5 (i) B JBE R J 6 2 4
HEAA WA (WA) 5 R(v)RBHE » 28
AT B B RE AT B RBLA R (W) -

IEBREZ AT EE LW EE - AN
A0 1 2 7 452 O PR MRE s o 2 o P R >
AP DA T 88 5 3 () AR 2 ) B4y i e s 42 1
WEBRER H (HAR S H) BRI H iRiER
Fr it 22 W T A 5 i) AR 2 ) e A R B o
RE -8 H 0 AR A2 55 H AL TG &2 g H 3R 6
FIt i i) - 2 W AR 5 B Gii) AR 2 W) B Z T4
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33. RESERVES

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

The amounts of the Group's reserves and the movements therein
for the current and prior years are presented in the consolidated
statement of changes in equity on pages 81 to 82 of the financial

statements.

The Group's share premium account includes (i) the credit of
HK$19,900,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and the
aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the subsidiaries
acquired pursuant to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii)
the debit of HK$40,889,000 arising from the repurchase of shares
during the years ended 31 March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010.

Pursuant to the relevant laws and regulations for Foreign
Investment Enterprises, a portion of the profits of the Group's
subsidiaries and the Group's associates operating as Foreign
Investment Enterprises in Mainland China has been transferred
to the reserve funds. The reserve funds are non-distributable in

nature and can be utilised to offset the losses incurred.

The capital reserve represents the Group's share of capitalisation

of retained profits by an associate.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of

the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company's shares.
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BRI H M2H Z AR A B RN 251 o

A £E T B i 1 MR B 6 < (i) %% #419,900,000%
JCZ MR > TIA A W) CBEAT I A Vi L BELAR 4
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION 34. 2B A BE

On 16 April 2020, Four Seas (Japan) Holdings Company Limited
("Four Seas Japan"), an indirect wholly-owned subsidiary of the
Group, acquired the option shares under the terms of the Share
Sale Agreement dated 15 November 2019 (as supplemented by
the Supplemental Agreement dated 31 March 2021), representing
an additional 55% of the then issued share capital of Miyata
Holding at a cash consideration of approximately HK$71. Upon
completion of the acquisition of the option shares, the equity
interest of Four Seas Japan in Miyata Holding increased from
15% to 70%, and Miyata Holding became a subsidiary of Four
Seas Japan. MYC, is a renowned snack food and confectionery
distributor in Japan specialised in the wholesaling and
distribution of confectionery, is a wholly-owned subsidiary of
Miyata Holding. The acquisition was made as part of the Group's
strategy to expand its confectionery distribution and product
development business in Japan and create synergetic effects with

the other businesses of the Group.

The Group measures the non-controlling interest in Miyata at
the non-controlling interest's proportionate share of Miyata's
identifiable net assets.

o
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AR RAENAFANH » AREE M ST
A B 2w P (H AR PR BR A A (T g
HARDBRBHH A -Z—ILET—HTHHEZ
BRi#E (R A R —F=HA=1T—H
Z 0 70 e T A T ) 2 ARk R i B A
FH RS B ¥ B R OB AT R AR B AMS5%
Bl &R A0 B 713 00 o 7 58 B WG I TS Bt RE
P45 > PO H A B R e 2 e B 15938 =
70% » T E 5 B OB A YU H AR Z B R A
A o MYCR:E H ¥t 2 G HEA I R A v » &
H AR 2 W% Bl ARG v > S48 bl R
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 4. BB S ()
The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of Miyata W B R A B R RN B Kk BB A
as at the date of acquisition were as follows: R
Fair value
recognised
on acquisition
W H 2 A
Notes HK$’000
Mt it BT T
Property, plant and equipment LIE & 14 212,032
Investment properties ERGg//ES 22,699
Investments in associates R E AT ZRE 3,509
Financial assets at fair value through F5 A -8 75 48 F At 2 i e as AR Y
other comprehensive income 4 i A 10,293
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss A B 7 3 1E 7 AR I 45 Rl & A 368
Derivative financial assets A S RlAE & 800
Prepayments, deposits and other receivables TS AR ~ AT 4 B At Wk I 39,827
Deferred tax assets R A B IE K 19,574
Other intangible assets Al T B 18 81,068
Inventories ey 82,133
Trade receivables JE W B 2 R Ak 337,151
Pledged bank deposits TG SR AT 7 K 54,939
Cash and cash equivalents Bl&e kB A&SEEH 195,235
Trade payables, other payables and accruals AT BT 5 MRk ~ At JE A sk o S
e st FAR (320,282)
Interest-bearing bank borrowings SR BT R B Z SRAT B K (655,755)
Lease liabilities L AR 15 (28,709)
Loans from shareholder B HAB 3K (122,502)
Derivative financial liabilities A1 A 45 i A (601)
Tax payable JRE A o T (2,724)
Defined benefit obligations 8 R R AR 29 (8,261)
Deferred tax liabilities A 7iE Bl JH R (38,529)
Total identifiable net liabilities at fair value A ) AR 2 4 PR AR (117,735)
Non-controlling interests I ¥ R HE 2% 35,321
(82,414)
Goodwill on acquisition Wi i A ) 17 82,415
Satisfied by cash D)3 4 5 55 00 i i AR A 1
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34. BUSINESS COMBINATION (continued) 34. BB O ()

The Group incurred transaction costs of HK$29,617,000 for this
acquisition. These transaction costs have been expensed and
are included in "Administrative expenses" in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss.

A goodwill of HK$82,415,000 arising from the acquisition is
attributable mainly to the benefit of the integration of the MYC's
products with those of the Group and the synergies arising
thereof. None of the goodwill recognised is expected to be

deductible for income tax purposes.

The Group measured the acquired lease liabilities using the
present value of the remaining lease payments at the date of
acquisition. The right-of-use assets (including those included in
investment properties) were initially measured at an amount equal

to the lease liabilities.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of a

subsidiary is as follows:

o
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B A B (L J

2 A [ R T G A A A2 B AR 29,617,000H8
TG HER GHAC LI AGAHEEZ
[P XIA -

PR W B 7 A Ay 7 2£82.,415,000% o6 AR H
MY CH 2 i B2 A 45 [ /il & 7 81 435 15 IR 2 2% it
W2 B ) 25 o HEE J0E T T 0 R L B T MK B A
ﬁé o

SR 7 W LS P S L Rk i B R
O BOW AL AR o MR R (B AR
B ) B TR AR
R -

AL WA S R i A W] 2 Bl R A AT T

HK$'000

BT T

Cash consideration B 4 Y (1)

Cash and cash equivalents acquired JT WA e B 4 T B4 S JE H 250,174
Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents included BRERASFEEERAFHE GEAR

in cash flows from investing activities BEHZzHERER) 250,173
Transaction costs of the acquisition included in WU 2 38 5 AR (FE AR B I B Z B4

cash flows from operating activities WEN) (29,617)

220,556

On 24 November, 2020, Miyata Holding was merged to MYC
(the "Merger"). MYC, being the surviving company after the
Merger, succeeded all the assets, liabilities, rights and obligations
of Miyata Holding which ceased to exist after the Merger
becoming effective.

Since the acquisition, Miyata contributed HK$1,987,541,000
to the Group's revenue and loss of HK$5,199,000 attributable
to equity holders of the Company for the year ended 31 March
2021.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the year, the
revenue and the profit of the Group for the year would have been
HK$4,795,430,000 and HK$29,904,000, respectively.

PEFZREL A HMH > R R
MYCH PF ([ G HF]) o MYCIA & B 42 5 2 47
AT MR HEER TR B E - AU
A e 05 > B R IBOR & OF R AR A B AR AE o

B » BEHAFAREIRE -4
ZH=Z4—H R4 1,987,541,000% ot Y
25 M £95,199,000%5 G s 1 55 g 7 A< 2 7] BE 25 BT
HE o

WA DF RS AR BEA) 58 R » A4 [ 4R 9 IR 25 B ik
) 55 43 B #54,795,430,0003 7T 229,904,000k
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35.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

(a)

(b)

Notes to Financial Statements
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Year ended 31 March 2021 BE B~ —4E=A=1—HI4EE

Major non-cash transactions

35. 34 Bl 4 G 5 Mk ik
(@) EBEHRBEXS

During the year, the Group had (i) additions to right-
of-use assets and lease liabilities of HK$21,057,000
(2020 : HK$112,078,000) and HK$21,057,000 (2020:
HK$112,078,000), respectively, in respect of lease

arrangements for property, plant and equipment; and
(ii) capitalisation of approximately HK$10,052,000 of

shareholders’ advances to a subsidiary as paid-up capital

of which approximately HK$4,988,000 related to advances

made by a non-controlling shareholder of the subsidiary.

AN AR L EG)R Y R KR
Z ME & HE 4 B A K £ T RE & B K
& £ 521,057,000% 08 (ZF =4 ¢
112,078,000% J6) $%21,057,000% J& (=%
TR 1 112,078,0009 76) 5 K (i)l — [
Ff g 2 ] £710,052,0009 76 I 38 5 & A<
Ak 2 SR AR > v £94,988,0009 7T 4% it
J&§ 2> H 2 e B e R 2 B K o

Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities (b) HMREEE T EA ALK ZES)
2021 i
Lease Interest-bearing
liabilities  bank borrowings
AUNNRLZ
LiiNERER T BT
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT T
At 1 April 2020 W_R_FEFMA—H 435,137 759,424
Increase arising from acquisition WAL i B JB3 2 ) T 34
of a subsidiary 28,709 655,755
Changes from financing cash flows A B SR EEE) (111,909) (271,352)
New leases M E 21,057 -
Termination of leases HILMESR (1,603) -
Reassessment and revision of lease terms BT AT Al B AE WY AL K (95) =
Foreign exchange movement [ 56 5 ) 4,861 13,609
Interest expense (note 7) BB (M ik7) 9,690 -
Interest paid classified as B RREHH B SR
operating cash flows e F e (9,690) -
COVID-19-related rent H A ZCOVID-19
concessions from lessors H R L 48 R Wk (34,546) -
At 31 March 2021 PN_E2_—HF=ZH=Z+—H 341,611 1,157,436

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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35.NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED

Notes to Financial Statements

Year ended 31 March 2021

3s.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS

S 5 i B ik

ME =R = IR
B4 BLAT U R WL (A

T

(continued)
(b) Changes in liabilities arising from financing activities b) MEGHELAE2EE) (4)
(continued)
2020 ECERE
Lease Interest-bearing
liabilities bank borrowings
HBAFEZ
AR AT R
HKS$’000 HKS$’000
Ve BT
At 1 April 2019 WZF—NNFEMA—H 463,762 705,883
Changes from financing cash flows BB 4 ) (121,935) 36,488
New leases oiiNE 112,078 -
Termination of leases HILMEAA (12,100) -
Reassessment and revision of lease terms RN R s T L ek 7,183 -
Foreign exchange movement i 50, 5% ) (6,103) 17,053
Interest expense (note 7) S B & (M #E7) 11,173 -
Interest paid classified as SRELBEGRHHERZ
operating cash flows oA FE (11,173) -
COVID-19-related rent concessions from A A ZCOVID-19#1 B f 4
lessors T (7,748) -
At 31 March 2020 W_RZRFE=ZA=Z+—H 435,137 759,424

(c)

Total cash outflow for leases

The total cash outflow for leases included in the

() REEZBILU M AE

HREBERBEROMZEEZB SR A

consolidated statement of cash flows is as follows: AT :
2021 2020
it e “RORE
HK$°000 HKS$’000
BT BT
Within operating activities REGH N 64,307 71,384
Within financing activities BhE I BN 111,909 121,935
176,216 193,319

P o g B R 24
S
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Notes to Financial Statements

36. COMMITMENTS

(a) The Group had capital commitments in respect of property,

plant and equipment at the end of the reporting period:

36. &I

(a)

ACEE T s A A 3 - B R s 2
AR

2021 2020

TR SRR

HK$’000 HK$’000

BT BT T

Contracted, but not provided for [BHEOREE 30 921 2,056

(b) The Group has a lease contract that has not yet commenced
as at 31 March 2021. The future lease payments for these
non-cancellable lease contracts are HK$363,000 (2020:
HK$1,580,000) due within one year, and HK$363,000
(2020: HK$3,288,000) due in the second to fifth years,

inclusive.

37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

(b)

AREFMFG-HR_-F_—HF=A=1—H
W AR IR R A A o BN AT R B AL
BRI Z R A E A #£363,0008 70 (=&
FA4E ¢ 1,580,000% 70) H A — 44 N A K
363,000 70 (& R4 ¢ 3,288,000 )
NGB BT (B RW4E) AT o

V. BEALRS

(a) In addition to the transactions and balances detailed (a) BRULSE %R HAb My rafali 2 22 5 K
elsewhere in these financial statements, the Group had FEERA > AR A ) UL N TSR
the following material transactions with its related parties PERR G :
during the year:

2021 2020
it Stk 2 . e 222
Notes HK$’000 HK$’000
M ik BT BT T
Associates: R/
Purchases of goods PRI (i) 370,669 373,902
Sales of goods MER N (ii) 2,115 1,833
Promotion expenses reimbursed by k4% A W) R 12
associates BB X (iii) 37,678 33,651
Rental income FEWA (iv) 1,237 1,212
Subsidiaries of a substantial AR EER R
shareholder of the Group: P} Jeg 2 ] -
Sales of goods HER M v) 1,529 1,644
Purchase of goods PRI & S (vi) 339 687
Marketing service expense = 8 e 7 B <2 (vii) 1,297 497

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

Notes:

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

The cost of purchases from associates was made at pre-determined
prices agreed between the parties.

The selling prices of the goods sold to associates were determined
by reference to prices and conditions similar to those offered to

other major customers.

The promotion expenses reimbursed by associates were determined
by reference to the costs incurred by the Group.

The rental income from an associate was determined between the
Group and the associate.

The selling prices of the goods sold to subsidiaries of a substantial
shareholder of the Group were determined by reference to prices
and conditions similar to those offered to the major customers.

The cost of purchases from subsidiaries of a substantial shareholder
of the Group was made at pre-determined prices agreed between the

parties.

The marketing service expense was determined between the Group
and the subsidiary of the substantial shareholder of the Group on

normal commercial terms.

&N

—_—

37. A LR 5 (%)

M it :

()

(ii)

(iii)

(iv)

)

(vi)

(vii)

1 D A ) PR 2 AR 7 ML BT 4 5 B e
Z G TR AE o

1 g B A £ 2 A5 AR5 2 TR M b 32 3
& PPN UL R R S

g v ) I 0 4 B S T AR B A 4R T 2 T R AR
5 RAESE

2R U O W) 2 R 4 O T o A 4R B O
R RHEAE -

T A 45 T 2 S M R 2 A g A ) 8 o 2 1R
T327% 0 E 2% P A 2 B RARAEROE -

2R A 4 I 2 B R g 4 R 2 BR M AR T
MR AT 4075 TS o2 Z (B ) JEEAE o

% 5 A 3 T v A A I A O R BRI R 2
Wof e 2 7 4 — I 7 SRR S

P o g B R 24
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37. RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS
(continued)

(b) Outstanding balances with related parties:

Details of the Group's trade balances with its associates at
the end of the reporting period are disclosed in note 26 to

the financial statements.

(¢) Commitments with related parties:

On 1 September 2020, a subsidiary of the Group entered
into a one-year agreement with an associate, to lease the
Group's investment property in Mainland China to that
associate. Details of the undiscounted lease payment
receivable are disclosed in note 15 to the financial

statements.

(d) Compensation of key management personnel of the

37. A LR 5 (%)

(b) B BN 22 0 R R A B

T R AKHE ] 2 I A T 5 A B
FE B A R M 26 bk 2R -

(c) BLBHEA L2 :

REFZREIA —H > AR TE
O3 ) B — [ g 2 W T SE AR ) bk > DA
HhRELAS 5 0 v O B 2 4 3 T % T
Byl o A7 B HEOR B B B Ak AN
O B 2 o7 B R 159 o

(@) AEM AR Z B

Group:
2021 2020
S o
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT T
Short term employee benefits 9108 B 1 A 18,560 24,465
Pension scheme contributions B AR A o ) A K 318 309
18,878 24,774

Further details of directors' and the chief executive's
emoluments are included in note 9 to the financial

statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 B E _F _—#F=H=1+—HIL4)E T
38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. @ THZ M
CATEGORY
The carrying amounts of each of the categories of financial PHRAEBIAR > FFEM T RAZIEmMEN T ¢

instruments as at the end of the reporting period are as follows:

2021 TR AR
Financial assets s
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
Financial assets at fair value income

through profit or loss HATHES
A FHE R R Jofl 2 i e 28
N2 & ¥ i N2 2 ¥

Designated Financial

assuch  Mandatorily assets at

upon initial designated Equity amortised
recognition as such investment cost Total

HRANA

R [} ©4
HeB vy 5 4 T334 EM¥E Ht
HK$’000 HK$000 HK$°000 HKS$000 HK$’000

BT #W T BT BT #H T

Trade receivables T 2 5 Mk - - - 781,444 781,444

Financial assets included in prepayments, AHERFEMHE - T2 R
deposits and other receivables FEqH B W5k 2 4 - - - 171,358 171,358
Derivative financial assets MhemEE - 828 - - 828

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss EATFHERBESEARZ
EMEE 24,906 45915 - - 70,821

Financial assets at fair value through HATHERA L2

other comprehensive income ANEZ SR E - = 20,009 = 20,009
Cash and cash equivalents & RBASMEEH - - - 571,221 371,221
24,906 46,743 20,009 1,530,029 1,621,687

Y A AR A m
—E--FFRH
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38. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS BY 38. At T H 2 7 3 ()
CATEGORY (continued)
2020 TR ORE
Financial assets S E A
Financial
assets at
fair value
through other
comprehensive
income
HAFHER
Financial assets at fair value through s 4 Tij it 3%
profit or loss N ¥4
BATHERES AR SHEE  SMEE
Designated Financial
as such Mandatorily assets at
upon initial designated Equity amortised
recognition as such investment cost Total
4 3L
TR0 18 G C&A
e wHE [ 81371 g it
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$°000 HK$'000
BT EW T BN T BT BN T
Trade receivables JE W 5k - - - 528,382 528,382
Financial assets included in prepayments, AHEREMHE - TR R
deposits and other receivables FEqt B W5 OE 2 4 - - - 222,906 222,906
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss BATHBERBES AR
SHMEE 21353 47,341 - - 74,694
Financial asset at fair value through BATHBERL M 2T RS
other comprehensive income ARZ&MEE - - 1 - I
Cash and cash equivalents R RBASHIA - - - 506,981 506,981
21353 47,341 1 1,258,269 1,332,964
Financial liabilities A
2021 2020
R4 e e 22
Financial Financial

liabilities at

liabilities at
amortised cost

amortised cost

WHRB A AME R G AR AR
1Y 45 T £ 0 F1 42 i £ £
HK$’000 HK$’000
BT v 3o
Financial liabilities included in trade G REAT H 5 Rk~ oAt
payables, other payables and accruals JRE A Ak I I AL 2
4 b £ 1A 600,948 325,821
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH SR B Z R AT Bk 1,157,436 759,424
Lease liabilities AR 341,611 435,137
2,099,995 1,520,382

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021




Notes to Financial Statements
Year ended 31 March 2021 BE _ZF _-—#=H=+—HIL&EE

39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39, 4k T H 2 AV %A R

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS

The Group's financial assets at fair value through profit or loss,
derivative financial assets, listed and unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

were carried at fair value.

Management has assessed that the fair values of cash and cash
equivalents, trade receivables, financial assets included in
prepayments, deposits and other receivables, financial liabilities
included in trade payables, other payables and accruals, bank
borrowings and lease liabilities approximate to their carrying
amounts largely due to the short term maturities of these
instruments or with floating interest rates.

The Group's finance team is responsible for determining the
policies and procedures for the fair value measurement of
financial instruments. The finance team reports directly to the
executive directors and the audit committee. At each reporting
date, the finance team analyses the movements in the values of
financial instruments and determines the major inputs applied
in the valuation. The valuation is reviewed and approved by
the executive directors. The valuation process and results are
discussed with the audit committee twice a year for interim and

annual financial reporting.

The fair values of the financial assets and liabilities are included
at the amount at which the instrument could be exchanged in a
current transaction between willing parties, other than in a forced
or liquidation sale.

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

ACER [ Z A P I AR 2 AR Z R A
T2 4 T DA B A R R 1 A PR R S A A
T Wi AR 2 BTl e O v A A B LA P
HIK -

EBLIE CASREAG > B B TR A S 2000
HHFHARGE > BB ESFHEHH -
JE W B2 5 Mk~ A T TR AR~ AT S Al
FE WK IH < A b - LR R A B S MR
FoAth A K0 M RE SRR Z R E R - SRATEE
AR ER A PR S B SR A A o

2SR [ ¥ B 2 R IO B A i L PR
HIEOR R o B MK B RITES K
WAL T H o M o R e HO > T T B
3 AT 4 il T EL R A S Y o SIS HE PR A
Y B AL o Al R AT 3 S B it o
Al (6008 8 % 5 SR 4 T U P 0 e 2 4 5
B A% & Bt o

il A M BRI A PR DA TR B B RS 5
Ji (i JE a8 sl B th ) Bt 5 TR 2 5
AL -

P o g B R 24
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39.FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

The fair values of listed equity investments are based on quoted
market prices.

The fair values of school and club debentures are based on
market observable transactions.

The fair value of the insurance premium classified as financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss is categorised within
Level 3 of the fair value hierarchy which is measured based on
significant unobservable inputs and has been estimated based
on the surrender value of the insurance. The fair value of the
insurance premium is mainly affected by its surrender value
as the directors expected the other unobservable inputs such
as insurance risk would not have significant impact on the fair
value of the insurance premium. The surrender value of the
insurance premium was obtained from the insurance company
without any adjustment. The directors believe that the estimated
fair value and the related changes in fair values are reasonable,
and that they were the most appropriate values at the end of
the reporting period. In the opinion of the directors, since the
quantitative unobservable inputs are not developed by the Group
when measuring fair value of the insurance premium and the
quantitative unobservable inputs that are significant to the fair
value measurement are not reasonably available to the Group,
the Group is not required to create quantitative information to
disclose the significant unobservable inputs used in the fair value
measurement under HKFRS 13.93(d).

The fair value of the fund wraps are based on the price quoted by
brokers.

The fair value of foreign currency swaps is estimated using
discounted cash flow valuation model while the fair value of
foreign currency options is estimated using Black-scholes option
pricing model based on key factors applicable to the valuations.

The fair values of listed and unlisted equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income are
based on recent market transaction values.

The fair value of unlisted equity investment at fair value through
profit or loss has been estimated using a discounted cash flow
valuation model based key qualitative factors applicable to the
valuation, including the historical performance, outlook for the
industry, and discussions about the projections prepared by the
management. Terminal value was estimated based on the Gordon
Growth Model with an annual growth of 3%. The directors
believe that the estimated fair values resulting from the valuation
technique, which are recorded in the consolidated statement of
financial position, and the related changes in fair values, which
are recorded in the consolidated statement of profit or loss, are
reasonable, and that they were the most appropriate values at the
end of the reporting period.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

For the year ended 31 March 2020, unlisted equity investment
at fair value through profit or loss was reclassified from Level
2 to Level 3 as the management considered that this should
better reflect the underlying investment. The Group's policy is to
recognise transfer between Level 2 and Level 3 as of the date of
event or change in circumstances that caused the transfer.

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the
valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 March:

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

s

BREZZCZE=ZA=Z1T—HILEE > AP
EZEME S AR I LR R R g
Wi B SR = > T3 R A B R Ay e E T
£ SRR B 45 o AC AR M 2 R T S B RS
ZH R B DA B R A TR AR R R AR =
J& Z T Z W75 o

UTHRZA=+—HE ST AMEZER
R 9B 5 i A\ AL ) R R R A i Z B

Valuation Significant Sensitivity of fair value
technique unobservable input Value to the input
fhifise s EAAWBEWAL B BT M2 808 B
Unlisted equity Discounted cash Discount rate 2021: 16% 5% increase in discount rate will result in
investment flow model (2020: 15%) decrease in fair value by approximately
HKS$1,376,000 and 5% decrease in discount
rate will result in increase in fair value by
approximately HK$2,253,000
e ke 4 BB B i FIE RS SR 16% N B IS %ol S BA P #)

Derivatives — Foreign

Discounted cash

Discount for lack

of marketability

2 TG B

Forward exchange rate

currency swaps flow model
i TR-SMEEE WBB W SR %
Risk-free rate of JPY
F B2 08 B ) 2

(:g:gﬁi H 15%)

2021: 30%
(2020: 30%)

TR 30%

(ZRZRE 1 30%)

2021: USSI to JPY110.57
(2020: Nil)

SRR
EH#110.57HH
(ZRZFH 1)

2021: (0.10%) - (0.12%)
(2020: Nil)

TR
(0.10%) - (0.12%)
(ZRIRF )

1,376,00038 7 » 1 B B R WA 5D A
- 36 #12,253,0008 78

5% increase in discount for lack of
marketability will result in decrease in fair
value by approximately HK$217,000 and 5%
decrease in discount for lack of marketability
will result in increase in fair value by
approximately HK$864,000

I 2 7 B O B8 5 9 s B BT
#1217,0009 78 » Tk 2Z 708 84 B 5 %
A0 (R4 T £1864,0003 78

5% increase/(decrease) in forward exchange
rate will result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value by approximately HK$78,000
EHERR M (WD) 5% BB T
(W) /8 m#178,000% 7

5% increase/(decrease) in risk-free rate of
JPY will result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value less than HK$1,000

H 1B SR B R R K (D) 5% % B 8L
AP B /B 1,000 58

Y A AR A m
—E--FFH
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Below is a summary of significant unobservable inputs to the

valuation of financial instruments together with a quantitative

sensitivity analysis as at 31 March: (continued)

Valuation
technique

fhifiBess

Significant
unobservable input

TRA W B

—HEZAZt HIREE

3&&%1%2&?@&&¥ﬁ%ﬁ

s

TR =

H=1—H8 & T AR

A ] 1B 5% s A\ AL T ) R ik AR BE O3 M 2 B

(%)

Value

fifi

Sensitivity of fair value
to the input
B PR MA 2 BB

Derivatives — Foreign

Black-scholes option

Volatility of the exchange

currency options pricing rate as at valuation date
itk TR-SMEHIME 45— R A TG R F 0 2 2 35 )
91 UK
Risk-free rate of JPY
I JH] 2 4 o 3¢

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Risk-free rate of US$

FIEZ R KA %

2021: 5.61% - 5.72%
(2020: Nil)

TR 561%-5.72%
(ZRZZRE )

2021: (0.0039%) -

(0.13%)
(2020: Nil)

I et
(0.0039%) - (0.13%)
(ZRZFE R

2021: 0.0001% - 0.06%
(2020: Nil)

it St ¥
0.0001% - 0.06%
(ZRZRE )

5% increase/(decrease) in volatility rate will
result in (decrease)/increase in fair value by
approximately options HK$17,000

BB R, (WD) 5%H5 88

AP (W) /8 493 B 17,0009 76

5% increase/(decrease) in risk-free rate of
JPY will result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value less than HK$1,000

H B 2 i R B 5, (4) 5%
BT (D) /3 11,0008 70

5% increase/(decrease) in risk-free rate of
US$ will result in (decrease)/increase in fair
value less than HK$1,000

FIEZ MR A E R,/ (WD) 5%
WEEA T (D) /B4R 1,0008 78
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39. S T H 2 2P B 2 P2 0%
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL (%)
INSTRUMENTS (continued)
Fair value hierarchy AR Y
The following tables illustrate the fair value measurement T 2 i A 4 [ 4 i T HL A S EL SRR -

hierarchy of the Group's financial instruments:

Assets measured at fair value: &AL P A 0 B E -
As at 31 March 2021 RZFZ—FE=H=+—H

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2021 using

R EEZAE A HZ A PG REN

Quoted

prices in Significant Significant

active observable  unobservable

markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total

LN BRAW

i e Bl Bl

LR L L PN L PN
(3B—JH) (38 —JH) (B=M) Bt
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$’000

BT BT BT BT

Financial assets at fair value through 3%/ {8 75 4 & fib 2 i

other comprehensive income: Wi ABRZ & HE E

Listed equity investments bR E 20,009 - - 20,009
Derivative financial assets e & = = 828 828
Financial assets at fair value through  #% /2 FH & #H 5 AR

profit or loss: MR

Listed equity investments bR RE 39,332 - - 39,332

Unlisted equity investments I LR = = 24,906 24,906

School debenture B 5 - 4,650 - 4,650

Club debentures o E 5 - 1,200 - 1,200

Insurance premium P B 2 - - 377 377

Fund wraps Refa - 356 - 356

59,341 6,206 26,111 91,658

Y A AR A m
TE--FER
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE
HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

As at 31 March 2020

39.
(

=

. SN
)

BPERE ()
ROFDFEFEZH=A—H

OB A V- R

Fair value measurement as at 31 March 2020 using

RERDZREZAZ - HZAFEG REA

Quoted
prices in Significant Significant
active observable unobservable
markets inputs inputs
(Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total
HRAW
W KB B
T 355 A i A iy A
(58—J&) (55— )%) (=) HEt
HK$’000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT T BT T BT T BT T
Financial assets at fair value through $4 2 - {f %5 2% i 4 i Y
other comprehensive income: e AR Z & RlE E ¢
Unlisted equity investment I BT R E - 1 - 1
Financial assets at fair value WA HZERE S ARZ
through profit or loss: ARG R
Listed equity investments LR R E 41,491 - - 41,491
Unlisted equity investments I BT R E - - 27,353 27,353
School debenture BIRE S - 4,650 - 4,650
Club debentures oI E R - 1,200 - 1,200
41,491 5,851 27,353 74,695

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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39. FAIR VALUE AND FAIR VALUE 39, 4k T H 2 AV %A R

HIERARCHY OF FINANCIAL
INSTRUMENTS (continued)

Fair value hierarchy (continued)

s

BPERE ()

The Group did not have any financial liabilities measured at fair ROBTAEZHAZ4 o A E I AT A

value as at 31 March 2021 (2020: Nil).

TR R SR AR (SRR ) o

Reconciliation for financial assets carried at fair value based on MR RAEEMAMN (EZE) HigABE
significant unobservable inputs (Level 3) is as follows: AR Z 4 ih g e 2 BWIRE A T -
HK$’000
Vo o T

At 1 April 2019
Transfer from Level 2
Remeasurement of unlisted equity investment

at fair value through profit or loss

At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020
Additions as a result of acquisition of

a subsidiary

Derivative financial assets

Derivative financial liabilities

Insurance premium
Remeasurement of derivative financial instruments
Remeasurement of insurance premium
Remeasurement of unlisted equity investment

at fair value through profit or loss

Exchange realignment

At 31 March 2021

AZE-NENA—H -

B AR 25,257
AR REA TP EBREBRARZ

I LR R E 2,096
MR RE=ZA=Z1T—H AR ZFENH—H 27,353
W i O Jo 22 ) G 344

A e RlE & 800
5 A 4 il 208 (601)
PR B & 1 368
i EI R SR TR 660
AR A ER R 9
R G RIE A TEB BB AR

ZIk LR E (2,447)
e e, 3 % (31
R-FZZ—FE=H=+—H 26,111

Y A AR A m
—E--FFH
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

40. Y 85 Jo g 4% B H B B IR

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES

The Group's principal financial instruments comprise interest-
bearing bank borrowings and cash and short term deposits.
The main purpose of these financial instruments is to raise
finance for the Group's operations. The Group has various other
financial assets and liabilities such as financial assets at fair
value through profit or loss, financial assets at fair value through
other comprehensive income, trade receivables, deposits and
other receivables, derivative financial assets, trade payables and
other payables, and lease liabilities which arise directly from its
operations.

The main risks arising from the Group's financial instruments
are interest rate risk, foreign currency risk, credit risk, liquidity
risk and equity price risk. The board of directors reviews and
agrees policies for managing each of these risks and they are
summarised below.

Interest rate risk

The Group's exposure to the risk of changes in market interest
rates relates primarily to the Group's short and long term debt
obligations with floating interest rates.

The Group's policy is to manage its interest cost using variable
rate debts, which is regularly reviewed by senior management.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity to a reasonably
possible change in interest rates, with all other variables held
constant, of the Group's profit before tax (through the impact on
floating rate borrowings) and the Group's equity.

A 2 B TR AR A R B Z SR AT
B KB & REHEHAER - ZEEMTRZ
FHEMBTI AL Z BHERE - AL A
BAPEEBES AR Z SRR - A PE
2 A 2 T W R AR 2 S E - W 5
MR AR~ 2 4 T Aty B WK H ~ AT A A R E
JRE A B0 5 Wk D B A B A i I B AL B £ R4 4%
TR L b 70 B > TG AR R A A o

PR A 2 ] 2 4 i L i 2 A 2 T B R R
JE B~ A K~ R BB B B
R M A% L I o o A A M IR R B A S
S B BRI T

RS N

A SR [ R I T 5 R A AL e B B B AR
P A B A R R 2 ) R R R AR A B

24 S5 [0 B0 SRR 0 D 5 ) 3 A 2 B R
A S o R AR B A AR A

TR A G Z W B G A (8 B K
1 5 ) T A4 [ B 2 3 ) R 2 5 B M) BB A )
(P A R A T 228 DR 3 Al 1 N ) Z UK -

Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
£ 31 B BE i it A el
Bom,/ (R4 Bm/ (WA Bm (RA)
HK$’000 HK$°000
W T T BT T
2021 SRR
Hong Kong dollar It 25 (1,730) -
Japanese yen H &l 25 (591) -
RMB ANRHE 25 (75) -
Hong Kong dollar It (25) 1,730 -
Japanese yen H &l (25) 591 -
RMB N (25) 75 -

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Year ended 31 March 2021 B E _F _—#F=H=1+—HIL4)E o=
40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. 3 45 o e 4 B RS B BOR ()
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Interest rate risk (continued) % B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in basis points before tax in equity*
B Wi At i i 1 2
B, CGRA) 8GR ¥ ()
HK$’000 HK$’000
T T
2020 ZRIORE
Hong Kong dollar e 25 (1,556) -
Japanese yen H &l 25 (181) -
RMB N 25 (100) -
Hong Kong dollar e (25) 1,556 -
Japanese yen H &l (25) 181 -
RMB N (25) 100 -
* Excluding retained profits NG R R
Foreign currency risk Kb BIE i, B
The Group has transactional currency exposures. Such exposures 2 A B AR B R R B o 3% 4 E\ B TG R s
arise from sales or purchases by operating units in currencies A8 YA DL YA 2 T RE B W LA 2 B W AT
other than the units' functional currency. The Group's monetary BMEL AREHEZEWEE HERRXSE
assets, financing and transactions are principally denominated in W HERARKESHE -

Hong Kong dollar, Japanese yen and RMB.

The following table demonstrates the sensitivity at the end TEERERA M TSR ZH AR EZHEN
of the reporting period to a reasonably possible change in the T oo REFEGRATERN ARERS (HREEERE
Japanese yen and RMB exchange rates, with all other variables T A5 0 A ARG 5 B BT B RN RS I R % H E
held constant, of the Group's profit before tax and equity (due to To N B b R A R R A B 2 R EE o

changes in the fair value of monetary assets and liabilities).

Y A AR A m
—E--FFH
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. S %5 B B 4 B H B B BOSRE (A)
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Foreign currency risk (continued) A B JRl B ()
Increase/
Increase/ (decrease) Increase/
(decrease) in profit (decrease)
in rate before tax in equity*
[ 3 B BE i 6t A B g
Bim/ (W4) Hm/ (E4) ¥n/ (85)
% HK$’000 HKS$’000
T BT
2021 .
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens ¥ o0 i H JE 55 3
against Japanese yen 1 (3,405) -
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens V8 0 5 N\ R 59 3
against RMB 1 2,112 -
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens st b H B 5 3
against Japanese yen (D 3,405 -
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens EER T N L
against RMB (h (2,112) -
2020 TERIRE
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens U0 5 H [H 59 3
against Japanese yen 1 1,398 -
If the Hong Kong dollar weakens # W0 SE N\ R 59 34
against RMB 1 2,343 -
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens o0 i H EIR B
against Japanese yen (1) (1,398) —
If the Hong Kong dollar strengthens 0 S A R iR 3
against RMB (D (2,343) -
* Excluding retained profits N RO B A

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk

The Group trades only with recognised and creditworthy
customers. It is the Group's policy that all customers who wish to
trade on credit terms are subject to credit verification procedures.
In addition, receivable balances are monitored on an ongoing
basis and the Group's exposure to bad debts is not significant.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging

The tables below show the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group's credit policy, which
is mainly based on past due information unless other information
is available without undue cost or effort, and year-end staging
classification as at 31 March. The amounts presented are gross

carrying amounts for financial assets.

As at 31 March 2021

S 5 i B ik

—HEEH=E+ HIRSE

40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B Be BOR ()

1 £ e B

G B A R ORE RS LR PR
By o IR M Z B » A B BE AT
RAHWEF > bASBBEEGERET - It
Bb > ACH I 2 B R A R 2 L > T AR
) . BRI L B e S ELOK

B B B 4 7 W BE

T RMBIE R ALE W ERBORNERERE R
Ek’ﬁ“ﬁﬂﬁfz ) i%%ﬁ"iﬁﬁﬂ%*ﬂr (I‘?;‘Fﬁﬂﬂ

3%?%) ’Zﬁﬁ" H=+— Hﬂﬁﬁ,\n%&%ﬁ
Fiv 22 3 PR A R 4 A 4 Tl O 19 A MR T -

RoR ==+ —H

12-month Lifetime ECLs
ECLs
12f H
B
fr B R 200 O 45 SR R
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3  approach Total
MR BB BERB ik ¥ sk
HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT #WTL ®B¥FTL B¥FTrT BY¥FTIL
Trade receivables* JE W B2 5 B ke - - - 783,094 783,094
Financial assets included in AT KA - TE& K
prepayments, deposits and other Lt JE Wt 55 JH = 4> i
receivables B E
— Normal*#* — IE e 171,358 - - - 171,358
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBRE&FHEH
— Not yet past due — W AR A 577,227 = = - 577227
748,585 - - 783,094 1,531,679

U P AR A
TE--FER

o %‘J
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. 9 5 bl B 4% PR H OB B R (4)

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Credit risk (continued)

As at 31 March 2020

17 £ g (40)
RERZREZH=ZA—H

12-month
ECLs Lifetime ECLs
124 A
T
& SR 2 EYAE S H R
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
HEPEB R RBR EERR flifb A
HK$’000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$ 000
B B B B BT
Trade receivables* JE W B 5 B ke - - — 542,430 542,430
Financial assets included in FPATHATKIE S 5T &K
prepayments, deposits and other - fill JE W 35 JH Z 4> i
receivables B E
— Normal*#* — IE e 222,799 - - - 222,799
Cash and cash equivalents RERBRE&FMHIEEH
— Not yet past due — I R 2 4 506,981 - - - 506,981
729,780 - - 542,430 1,272,210
* For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified * T A 52 VB S Yk £ A 3 v I K B B MR kT

approach for impairment, information based on the provision matrix
is disclosed in note 22 to the financial statements.

*#*%  The credit quality of the financial assets included in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables is considered to be "normal" when
they are not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since initial
recognition. Otherwise, the credit quality of the financial assets is
considered to be "doubtful".

Further quantitative data in respect of the Group's exposure to
credit risk arising from trade receivables are disclosed in note 22

to the financial statements.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk

The Group monitors its risk to a shortage of funds using a
recurring liquidity planning tool. This tool considers the maturity
of both its financial instruments and financial assets (e.g., trade
receivables) and projected cash flows from operations. The
Group's objective is to maintain a balance between continuity of
funding and flexibility through the use of interest-bearing bank
borrowings and lease liabilities.

The maturity profile of the Group's financial liabilities as
at the end of the reporting period, based on the contractual

undiscounted payments, is as follows:

Year ended 31 March 2021

Sy

B 5 i @@w
GED

Year ended 31 March 2021 BE - - —4E£=A=+—HILEE

40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B Be BOR ()

i B 2 4 MR B

ARG HE BRI E E St E TR > B
B A R B o b LB 8 L TR R
Bl A (B 5 k) BT H o | A
BB MY B R A o ALEMHELRE
8 R S RS Z SR AT B e L B R o R
F5 5 G 5 AR RGN 1 Y P A o

L4 L AT A0 AR I B AR > DA T OB A 42 T
H IR Z 4 5 BRI L
REZR_ A= —HILFRE

On demand
or less than

12 months 1 to S years Over 5 years Total
R K
At 124 A 18548 W S4E B

HK$000  HK$°000  HK$’000  HK$’000
BT EWTIX  EWTI  BWFTI

Financial liabilities included in trade % & & £ B 5 B 3% ~
payables, other payables and accruals il JE £} 3k JH S

i =R e S = K
Lease liabilities A
Interest-bearing bank borrowings JH AR B Z SRAT B

600,948 - - 600,948
129,897 219,080 6,550 355,527
965,403 194,390 - 1,159,793
1,696,248 413,470 6,550 2,116,268

P o g B R 24
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Liquidity risk (continued)

Year ended 31 March 2020

40. Y 85 e B 45 BE H B Be BOR ()

L 0 e 4 B ()
BECFRCRFEZHA=Z+THIREE

On demand

or less than
12 months  1to 5 years Over 5 years Total
HE R K

A28 A 18545 i A SAR R

HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000 HK$°000
BT EWTH  #FTL EBWTI

Financial liabilities included in trade AL HE A B 5 HR 2k ~ Hifth

payables, other payables and JE A RO & B R AL 2
accruals 4 RS

Lease liabilities LS £ A

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JE AT R B Z SR AT R

As at 31 March 2021, there were no term loans repayable over

one year containing a repayment on demand clause (2020: Nil).

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
ANNUAL REPORT 2021

325,821 - - 325,821
148,235 287,434 34,563 470,232
699,503 60,572 - 760,075
1,173,559 348,006 34,563 1,556,128
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. SV 75 Wl Bs 4% PI H B R 80O (7))

OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair values of equity
securities decrease as a result of changes in the levels of equity
indices and the value of individual securities. The Group is
exposed to equity price risk arising from individual equity
investments classified as financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss (note 24) and financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income (note 20) as at 31 March 2021.

If the prices of the respective listed equity investments had
been 3% higher/lower, with all other variables held constant,
the Group's profit after tax for the year would have increased/
decreased by approximately HK$985,000 (2020: HK$1,039,000),
while the Group's equity at the end of the year would have
increased/decreased by approximately HK$395,000 (2020: Nil) as
a result of the changes in the fair value of the Group's financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss and the changes in the
fair value of the Group's financial assets at fair value through

other comprehensive income, respectively.

Capital management

The primary objectives of the Group's capital management are to
safeguard the Group's ability to continue as a going concern and
to maintain healthy capital ratios in order to support its business

and maximise shareholders' value.

The Group manages its capital structure and makes adjustments
to it in light of changes in economic conditions. To maintain or
adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the dividend
payment to shareholders, issue new shares or repurchase shares.
No changes were made in the objectives, policies or processes for
managing capital during the years ended 31 March 2021 and 31
March 2020.

o

—_— 2
B A B (L J

JBe 55 A A e Bt

I 55% f A% R e A 4 X1 P i K ~F B M ) i
Z A AP 5 ) T A5 BORE 25 R 2R 4 oF B R AR 2
e RFBZAE=ZA=1—H o AEEARZ
P B 1 3 o PR B AR 25 AR 2 il i (M
AE24) B 1 VAR 72 0 A 2 i 85 AR 2 4
RS (M iE20) 1R T RE 25 45 i 5 | 2B S H
A% JE B

i 45 bl R A B A WA 3% 0
7Y 535 R 2K A R RS AR SR ) 2 AR B R B AR
e S N R S SR /N (R Lk = B
AR 4 & B 2 A V158 B K4k A P
208 At 2 T W S AR P A Rl A 2 A P S
B0 389 WA £1985,000% 7T (T R4 ¢
1,039,000% 76 ) B 7 45 [ i 4F- Jis < HE 25 34 Jm/
WA #1395,000% 0 (ZF T4« i) o

AR

ACER [ 2 S B B R e DR A AR A
3 ¥ AR A RS S5 DR ) O I A A AR
Vo 3 DA 32 S0 5 3 e RAL R SRR A -

A5 A A0 P 2 58 S 6 3
DA o 7 4 5 S VA S A3 T
HEB AL IR B ST B R o
EoRTESASHRCECREEA
Sb o HARSE R > AR B - B
R 6 S -

P o g B R 24
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40. FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT 40. S 5 e g 4 2L H B B BOR (A
OBJECTIVES AND POLICIES
(continued)
Capital management (continued) VAP ()
The Group monitors capital using a gearing ratio, which is AREEMSEHAEEARLERDL EREAR > FHER
interest-bearing bank borrowings divided by equity attributable to HBMNA B ZMITERGUARA GRS TR &
the equity holders of the Company. The gearing ratio is regularly FEAERES RS L R - AEEARILERH HREM
reviewed by senior management. The gearing ratios as at the end JEEBIME o REEIIR > AEERILENT :

of the reporting periods were as follows:

2021 2020

gt o

HK$’000 HK$°000

BT T BT

Interest-bearing bank borrowings JHBAT R B Z SRAT R K 1,157,436 759,424
Equity attributable to equity holders RN AR A R RERS T H M RERS

of the Company 1,377,323 1,307,329

Gearing ratio BB A LR 84% 58%

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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41. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL 41. 7R A vl 2 W B R DL %

POSITION OF THE COMPANY

Information about the statement of financial position of the

TP AR A B AR 2 ] B R L A < RS

Company at the end of the reporting period is as follows: W :
2021 2020
e SRRk
HKS$°000 HK$’000
T BT T
NON-CURRENT ASSETS Ik 8 B) ¥t it
Investments in subsidiaries W A w2 B 143,098 143,098
Financial assets at fair value through TR FAEZE B 25 A MR
profit or loss A E E 147 135
Deferred tax assets BV 1,105 1,105
Total non-current assets IR B E AR 144,350 144,338
CURRENT ASSETS S g
Due from subsidiaries JRE Wi B} JiEg 2 ) 705,847 702,558
Prepayments AT IE 201 198
Cash and bank balances B4 R SRAT 4517 665 425
Total current assets i W B AR 706,713 703,181
CURRENT LIABILITIES it B £ 4%
Due to subsidiaries JRE A} R ) A ] 543,088 512,919
Accruals HE S A R 5,105 3,089
Total current liabilities i B £ i AR 548,193 516,008
NET CURRENT ASSETS R ) % U 158,520 187,173
Net assets BEEH 302,870 331,511
EQUITY HE 23
Issued capital BT A 38,425 38,425
Reserves (note) Tl s (B 5) 264,445 293,086
Total equity HE 2 B8 AH 302,870 331,511

P o g B R 24
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POSITION OF THE COMPANY

41. AR A" Z MBS ()

(continued)
Note: M EE -
A summary of the Company's reserves is as follows: ARAFZ DT -
Share Capital
premium redemption Retained
account reserve profits Total
A
Bty BEEGES RN At
HKS$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000 HK$’000
BT BT BT BT
At 1 April 2019 W_F—NENH—H
233,120 1,531 58,191 292,842
Total comprehensive income A P 48 2 I A
for the year - - 36,749 36,749
Final 2019 dividend TR JUERIRE - - (24,977) (24,977)
Interim 2020 dividend TR RETHIRE - - (11,528) (11,528)
At 31 March 2020 and 1 April 2020 R-FRZFE=ZH=+—HK
ZERIFFENUH—H 233,120 1,531 58,435 293,086
Total comprehensive income AR P A 2T A
for the year - - 7,864 7,864
Final 2020 dividend SR RAERBIBS - - (24,977) (24,977)
Interim 2021 dividend TR - - (11,528) (11,528)
At 31 March 2021 RoZ2 - —#E=H=+—H 233,120 1,531 29,794 264,445

The Company's share premium account includes (i) the credit
of HK$53,719,000 which represents the difference between the
nominal value of the share capital issued by the Company and
the combined net assets of the subsidiaries acquired pursuant
to the group reorganisation in 1993; and (ii) the debit of
HK$40,889,000 arising from the repurchase of shares during the
years ended 31 March 2015, 2013, 2011 and 2010. Under the
Company Law (Revised) of the Cayman Islands, a distribution
may be made from the share premium account in certain

circumstances.

The difference between the share premium account of the
Company and that of the Group represents the difference
between the aggregate nominal value of the share capital of the
subsidiaries and their combined net assets acquired, pursuant to

the group reorganisation in 1993, as detailed above.

The capital redemption reserve represents the nominal value of

the shares cancelled upon repurchase of the Company's shares.

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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A2 ] JBe Ay i A R A 5 i) 2% 853,719,000 95 7T 2 2 H
B JIA A OB AT AR 2 BAR IR — UL =4
5 18 A P A =2 O DB A ) =2 0 Y A T A T
Z R s }(11)40,889,0003 6 Z MR A » JINERE
R R R R B R R R
EZH = H kAR By BT A A o MR PR
WEAFE (BIERT) » 425 T 15 D0 F W A& B4 % 18
W p AT IR B4R o
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42. APPROVAL OF THE FINANCIAL 42, Y B it o 2
STATEMENTS
The financial statements were approved and authorised for issue RBHERECR T —FENH ZHILH#EE
by the board of directors on 29 June 2021. 2y 41 e N 2 R ) o
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Particulars of Properties

S —
L\Q%‘I@ Yy HE

31 March 2021 & _=—4F=H=1+—H

INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Location

i B

Bk

Use

JiiR:

Tenure

A0

Percentage of
attributable
interest of
the Group

7 4R 1 A
L EYipidia

Levels 1 and 2 (west portion)
of Four Seas Group Guangdong
Headquarter Building Complex,
Yuepu South Industrial Zone,
Shantou, Guangdong Province,
The People's Republic of China
G IN BT
J R A il BT H S R T [
7O Y 45 I B R A AR
Ao KM — g e M (PG )

Miyata No.2 Building,
1-31-11 Kinshi, Sumida-ku,
Tokyo, Japan
A RE
H A SO #6235 I XCB R 1T H 31-11

Nagoya Center,
1-197 Hira, Nishi-ku,
Nagoya City, Aichi, Japan
Al B
A 5 0 0 B T P X BB R 1-197

FOUR SEAS MERCANTILE HOLDINGS LIMITED
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Industrial

T%

Residential

Industrial

T3

Medium term lease

HIRLA

Medium term lease

HIRLA

Freehold land

IRASENE -3

100

100

70

70

70

70
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